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ACTUARIAL SOUNDNESS OF THE FEDERAL
HOUSING ADMINISTRATION'S MUTUAL

MORTGAGE INSURANCE FUND

THURSDAY, JUNE 30, 1994

House of Representatives,
Subcommittee on Housing
AND Community Development,

Committee on Banking, Finance and Urban Affairs,
Washington, DC.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 10 a.m., in room
2128, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Henry B. Gonzalez
[chairman of the subcommittee] presiding.

Present: Chairman Gonzalez, Representatives Vento, Watt, Rou-
kema, Baker, and Knollenberg.
Chairman Gonzalez. The subcommittee will please come to

order.

Well, the good news is that we are not likely to be interrupted
by any votes on the House floor. The bad news is that most of the
members have probably taken off, except I will announce that Mrs.
Roukema, the ranking minority Member, is here, but is attending
a Republican conference and will be here as soon as she finishes
that.

This hearing was called because we are in the process of perfect-
ing the legislation for full House consideration, and some of the is-

sues we have reserved for the full House involved the question of
FHA single-family mortgage insurance fund, and reflective of the
two reports we have gotten from Price Waterhouse for the Depart-
ment of HUD.
So for that reason we feel it is imperative that we have this hear-

ing. Sort of a
preliminary report or review, in my case, of a neces-

sity, not in-depth. It is clear that the reports recognize substantial
improvement in the solvency aspect of the single-family fund.

According to the report, as we said in the last markup, the fiscal

year 1993 capital ratio reached 1.44, projected capital ratio is 3.40.
So what we were talking about in the 1992 act was 1.25. And so
the anticipated projection, which I think in today's world has to be
tentative, is still very optimistic.
So I realize that the status of the fund is improving, but we are

in the need of passing legislation that will increase the authority
of the FHA as it applies to this particular program and its impact
on the fund.
And I was hopeful that today's testimony will address the antici-

pated effect of those initiatives on the future solvency of the fund.
On a different note, I hope that the testimony will address my con-

(1)



cem as to whether the FHA has the capacity to administer the ini-

tiatives as proposed in the Housing Reauthorization bill.

The report on the financial statement recognizes four material
weaknesses in the FHA. These weaknesses have been revealed in

years past, and of course, I, for one, have known the magnitude of

the problem, given the vicissitudes find—like we in the House, un-

predictability, and the failure in the past years to come to grips,
even though we had the inspector general's report telling us, and
we were reporting.
That is over in the area where we in the Congress of a necessity

and I personally do not want to mix. It has always been a clear

line of demarcation in my mind, in my legislative career, between
the clear policy or political functions and tne administrative. Never
have I ever interfered, whether it was on the local basis, State

basis, national basis, in my 32V2 years.
I am also aware of the budget constraints and both the inanity

and the insanity of what has crept into the so-called budgetary
process, which, as I have said and pointed out time after time, goes
back to the 1974 both legislative as well as the Budgetary Reform
Act.

The idea, even as late as 22 years ago, 21 years ago, that we
would be actually progressing on the basis of month to month, al-

most, so-called appropriation committees—rather, resolutions, of a

temporary nature. Then more insidiously, in the last Congress and
a half or two, the so-called dire emergency supplemental.
That would have been unthought of by those old misters that the

Reform Act was supposed to constrain from their arbitrary and au-
thoritative nature. The fact is in the nature of reform we have en-

tered what I consider to be, as in the case of the greater danger,
which now is beginning to get some public attention, on the value
of our currency, which has reached almost a point of being devalu-

ated, as we have been saying for 20 years.
I just feel constrained to say that in this case also it is impossible

to expect from the administrative branch a very efficient and stable

type of administrative behavior if the budgetary nature is of such
a kind that there is no way that a manager can predict what he
will have in 3 months' time, for instance.
So I must point that out. That is with a great deal of sympathy

with this administration and the one immediately preceding in

HUD. I have a great deal of sympathy and empathy. This is some-

thing that is right flat square on the door steps of the Congress.
And we have to face that.

I hope that the Congress receives a commitment that in the

meanwhile, in spite of the budgetary restraints and the weaknesses
in administrative functions, as pointed out by successive inspectors
general, will be addressed.

[The prepared statement of Chairman Gonzalez can be found in

the appendix.]
Mr. Vento.
Mr. Vento. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you for convening

the hearing, and especially Mr. Retsinas and the folks from Price
Waterhouse.
These events in the past have forced us, in the last few years,

to learn more and more about the working of the models and stress



tests and a variety of other things that add up to looking at the

FHA book of value for the MMI Fund and for other programs more
th£in I guess we thought about. For a long time FHA was probably
taken for granted as being a workable benchmark program to ac-

commodate homeownership, one of the most successful programs
ever to do so.

And today, happily, because the numbers are coming back, we
perhaps don't look as much at the black box model that adds up
to the numbers that we want to see at the bottom of the line. I

think we need to explore to some extent the volatility of that, and
I might note that in the executive summary of Price Waterhouse,
which I have had a chance to look at, I am pleased to note that

you do talk about the uncertainties and the variables that are not

possible to measure, the lack of appraisals, and the assumptions
that you make.

I think this is very helpful for us to realize, not just when we
were doubtful about the results for a model, but also when we are

utilizing them. Perhaps more importantly, we are utilizing them
to—in fact, as the base for moving forward to resume the role of

FHA. We need to look very closely at this.

The truth is, of course, that because of the nature of events, the

last years, we were always waiting for the next report to come out
in terms of giving us a signal, the other shoe to drop, so to speak.
And I know, Mr. Chairman, in your materials that you provided
the members of the subcommittee, that you are pointing out the

GAO is now coming out with a report in September.
I am wondering when we are sitting in conference—hopefully, we

will be all done by then, but human nature being what it is, we
don't get things done without a deadline, and the deadline is Octo-

ber 1, and we are sitting in conference and out comes GAO with
a report that casts a shadow over Price Waterhouse or the FHA.
It is the nature of the legislative bodies, and the fact is that most
of us are not experts on these topics.
Mo Udall used to say there are two types of people in Washing-

ton: Those that don't know and those that don't know they don't

know. I think most of us are well-advised to recognize that we don't

know all the answers. And I think it also serves as a guide to those

that are working in the process with us, to recognize and assist in

the way they best can to facilitate this process.
But I am pleased to see the administration, based on the

progress and the change in numbers, willing to move forward ag-

gressively. I think we need to know exactly, as we legislate, what
it means to have a broader book of business, to eliminate and sim-

plify the process.

And, Mr. Chairman, I want to say that all of us are pleased to

see the numbers, the bottom line look better. I also feel some con-

cern about the types of premiums that we have placed in the pro-

gram and what that means to those constituents that are pajdng
those premiums year in and vear out in terms of their ability to

own a home and to have affordable housing in this country.
We can keep the insurance, we can put in penalty payments, a

variety of issues with FHA that make the fund look better, but the

question of equity is one that obviously concerns us.



I think it is a good day, and hopefully, we will be, while not cyn-
ics, hopefully skeptical to some extent of the information that is

brought to us. I think it helps greatly
when the administration and

those that are working in terms of developing the information, are
free to share the limitations so that we know where the short-

comings are in that information.
But I am generally pleased. I am pleased that FHA has pursued

the model of demonstration and is aggressively pursuing a broader
role in the marketplace. And I hope that this report will continue
to sustain that type of change in policy.
Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Gonzalez. Thank you, Mr. Vento.
This morning we want to express our gratitude to the Assistant

Secretary, Mr. Retsinas, Mr. Chris Greer, and with him, Mr. Tom
Craren, and Mr. Barry L. Dennis, and of course, Ms. Jacquelyn
Williams-Bridgers, for responding to our invitation with notice.

So without any further ado, we will recognize you and proceed
with the Secretary, and thank you once again for your help.

STATEMENT OF NICOLAS P. RETSINAS, ASSISTANT SEC-
RETARY FOR HOUSING, FEDERAL HOUSING ADMINISTRA-
TION COMMISSIONER, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND
URBAN DEVELOPMENT
Mr. Retsinas. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Congressman Vento. It

is indeed a pleasure to be here this morning.
If I could, Mr. Chairman, I will dispense with reading my pre-

pared remarks and submit them for the record, and give you, if I

could, an overview of my perception of the status and solvency of
the fund and address some of the issues you raise.

Chairman GONZALEZ. If you yield to me, I will at this point an-
nounce that each one of the witnesses' written and prepared testi-

mony will appear in the record as you gave them to us, and then

you may proceed as you deem fit.

Mr. Retsinas. Thank you again, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Chairman, thank you for conducting and holding this hear-

ing. This is the kind of hearing and the kind of information that
often does not get the attention of those who need to have it

brought to their attention. I am pleased that you have taken the
time once again to listen to this information and, as Congressman
Vento has indicated, to be skeptical and give us a chance to dem-
onstrate the value, utility, and honesty of this information.

Second, I appreciate on both your behalfs the insights that both
of you have. Certainly, both of you understand almost better than
anyone the history, context, and status of the Federal Housing Ad-
ministration and its purposes.
Mr. Chairman, having now been on the job for about a year, I

particularly appreciate your acknowledgment of the constraints
that we face, the constraints that are borne of past trends, past cir-

cumstances, but exist today and are indeed inhibiting. And I would
hope some of the actions we have taken over the past year have
begun to look forward rather than backward as it relates to the fu-
ture of the fund.

My first opening comment is, this is an interesting and symbolic
time to conduct this hearing. As you know, earlier this week, June



27 marked the 60th anniversary of the Federal Housing Adminis-
tration. It began in 1934. Before there was a Federal Housing Ad-

ministration, if you wanted to buy a home in these United States.

you would have needed a downpayment of about 50 percent and

you would have been lucky to get a 5-year interest-only note. With
those kind of barriers, there was not widespread homeownership.
The Federal Housing Administration was a pioneer, showed that

in fact it was possible to lend long term to hard-working American
families, and as both of you have pointed out, the proof is in its

record.

In its 60 years, over 21 million families have been assisted, many
of whom are first-time home buyers. It has made a significant con-

tribution, not just to those families but I think to the country.
Thank you for your past support and the opportunity to give you
an update on its status.

It was last July, and I had been on the job less than 2 months
when I testified before this subcommittee on the status of the fund.
As I reported on the reports for the fiscal year ending September
30, 1992, my comment in that testimony was that the Mutual
Mortgage Insurance Fund remains solid and its financial condition
is improving.

I am here to report to you again this morning that the fund re-

mains solvent, and indeed its condition continues to improve. I

then point out in my testimony some of the reasons for that

improvement.
As background for the fund, it is important to note, because it

is often confused, that there are a number of FHA insurance funds.
The testimony this morning will focus on the Mutual Mortgage In-

surance Fund, the largest of our insurance funds. It is that fund
which provides basic single-family mortgage insurance and is a mu-
tual insurance fund. In this regard, we pay back to the mortgagors
their share of surplus premiums paid into the fund that are not re-

quired for expenses or losses or to build equity. There are other
funds that are separate from the Mutual Mortgage Insurance
Fund: The general insurance fund, cooperative insurance fund, and
the special risk insurance fund.

Later on I will talk about some of our legislative initiatives

which really relate to those funds and do not impact on the Mutual
Mortgage Insurance Fund, which is the subject of our discussion
and testimony this morning.

I think it is very easy to get confused when we talk about actuar-

ial analysis and audits and other kinds of financial reports. So if

I could, Mr, Chairman, and members of the subcommittee, review
the difference between the audit and the actuarial analysis, I think
it is important.
The audit is a statement of the financial condition of the fund at

a point in time and a summary of its operations over a period in

time. And in this particular case, our audit covered the period for

the fiscal year ending September 30, 1993, and it examined the
fund's condition as of September 30, 1993. That audit had been

previously submitted to this subcommittee. The audit also includes
a report on internal management controls.

The actuarial analysis has another function. The actuarial analy-
sis is not only to take into account the historical operations and fi-



6

nancial conditions of the fund, it is to project future revenues and
expenses, and discounting those revenues and expenses to the

present, to assess the fund's present economic value and its capital

ratio; that is, the economic value of the fund divided by the insur-

ance in force.

As you recall, it was this subcommittee and this Congress that

authorized and required such an actuarial analysis in legislation
which I believe passed in 1990. Congress mandated a 2 percent
capital ratio in the year 2000. Because of that target, the actuarial

review focuses not only on the current year's capital ratio but

projects the fund's behavior through the year 2000.

Because it is a projection, it is, of course, sensitive to the as-

sumptions used. All projections are sensitive to the assumptions
used. The Congress in its wisdom required that this actuarial anal-

ysis be independently conducted, that is to say, not conducted by
the staff of the Department but conducted by a third party. In this

particular case Price Waterhouse conducted the study, and they
will be reviewing the results of this study this morning.
The independent actuaries. Price Waterhouse in this case, use

economic assumptions; it is my understanding, and Mr. Craren and
his colleague will report further that they use the assumptions of

DRI, a nationally recognized forecasting firm.

Again, there are a variety of assumptions about interest rates,
about our economy, that are taken into account. They are a nec-

essary part of any projection.
Because the DRI assumptions are viewed as an industry stand-

ard. Price Waterhouse used them in the 1992 actuarial review,
which provides consistency and comparability from year to year.

In addition, the General Accounting Office, which you will hear
from later, which recently developed their own MMI economic

model, also uses the DRI economic assumptions.
With that as preface, let me give you a brief overview of the

study findings. This analysis, as required by statute, did two

things. It estimated the economic value of the Mutual Mortgage In-

surance Fund, defined as the sum of existing capital plus the net

present value of current books of business, and it determined the
current capital ratio, defined as the economic value divided by the
total insurance in force. And it projected this ratio to the year
2000.
The National Affordable Housing Act of 1990 mandated that the

Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund achieve a capital ratio of at least

1.25 percent by the end of fiscal year 1992, and at least 2.0 percent
by the end of fiscal year 2000.
On June 6, less than 3 weeks ago, Price Waterhouse transmitted

its fiscal year 1993 analysis to me. That analysis indicates a dra-
matic improvement in the capital ratio of the fund, from 0.43 per-
cent at the end of fiscal year 1992, as I reported to you last year,
to 1.44 percent at the end of fiscal year 1993.

In addition, according to their analysis, the fund is projected to

reach a 3.40 percent capital ratio by the year 2000, which, as you
can understand, significantly exceeds the 2 percent requirement
mandated by the act.



According to the study, the current economic value of the fund
is $4,554 bilhon. This represents an increase of $3,149 bilHon be-

tween the end of fiscal year 1992 and the end of fiscal year 1993.

According to the projections, by the end of fiscal year 2000, the

economic value of the fund is projected to be $15,254 billion. Again,
to repeat and reiterate my conclusion from last year, FHA's Mutual

Mortgage Insurance Funa is sound, and by maintaining responsible

management, which we pledge to do, it will continue to be sound.

When we analyze what accounts for this increase from fiscal year
1992 to fiscal year 1993, we have identified six reasons.

Number one, there has been a favorable interest rate environ-

ment. Over the course of the last year, the FHA achieved its second

highest level of endorsements in its history.
Number two, there has been a positive economic environment

which is related, of course, to the positive interest rate environ-

ment. And because of that, the number of claims paid declined due
to more favorable economic conditions.

Three, we have made modifications in our management policies,

modifications relating to our assignment program, to our lender

monitoring, and to our claims procedures, all of which we think

make a positive contribution to the fund.

Four, there have been changes in the past year with our refund

policy. That refund policy and the calculation of that refund policy
and its valuation is a component of the increase in the value of the

fund.

Five, there has been an increase in the level of prepayments.
Prepayments, specifically those repaying out of the fund, had the

largest effect on the fund's improved status, increasing the esti-

mated fiscal year 1993 economic value by $1.2 billion.

And last, the sixth reason is a positive economic forecast. Not

only is the current economic environment positive, but according to

the projections used by Price Waterhouse, there is a positive eco-

nomic forecast which also impacts positively on the fund.

We know, as you pointed out in your opening remarks, Mr.

Chairman, that our work is not over, and this is no time to rest

on what has been an increase in the solvency and value of the

fund. If anything, it is a time to reinvigorate our efforts to ensure
the sound management of the fund.

Our agenda includes the continued aggressive monitoring of our

portfolio and the mortgagees who participate in the Direct Endorse-
ment Program, more effective default monitoring mechanisms and

improvements in the management of the portfolios, increased use

of technological enhancements to make sure that we are as efficient

as we possibly can be in the managing of that portfolio, and a vari-

ety of other administrative and program improvements that we be-

lieve make the program user-friendly and more susceptible to posi-

tive use by our mortgagees.
There are several legislative initiatives which impact on the

mortgage insurance funds. Most of the initiatives relate to the gen-
eral insurance fund. There are a couple, however, that relate to the

Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund.
One is an increase in loan limits for both the floor and the ceil-

ing. And let me thank, if I could, the subcommittee for the action

to date in honestly considering those recommendations.
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We believe that the increase in loan limits will have a positive
effect on the fund. FHA experience indicates that historically the

higher value loans have a lower claims rate than the lower balance
loans. We believe that this will allow us to continue to increase the

solvency of the fund, and perhaps, more significantly, to use the
added value to allow us to reach out and spread the use of the pro-

gram to those most in need.
In addition, we have proposed authority for streamlined refinanc-

ing of certain assigned mortgages as well as for nonjudicial fore-

closure procedures. We believe in both cases they can add signifi-
cant value to the fund by saving us money.

In addition to legislative changes that have a direct impact on
the fund, we believe there are a number of other technical changes
that can have a positive impact. For example, in considering our

legislative initiatives, we recommended that under certain condi-

tions, for certain lenders, with appropriate recourse, we expand our
direct endorsement processing to allow lenders to issue the mort-

gage insurance certificates. We believe that that will minimize the

backlog that now exists because of the staffing and resource con-

straints the Department faces.

We have also considered a simplification of the calculation of the
maximum insurable mortgage amounts. Right now, parts of our
calculations are just too complex, and we would hope you would

give us the authority to simplify those calculations.
In addition, we believe the expansion of the Home Equity Con-

version Mortgage Program could be of significant value to elderly
homeowners.
The FHA has served as the cornerstone of America's housing

market for over 60 years. There have been setbacks, such as the
financial challenges of the 1980's, and that indeed is a valuable les-

son to us all.

Today, I am pleased to report that FHA's Basic Single-family
Program is financially sound and is projected to continue to be
sound. With this as a base, we can turn our attention and refocus
our energies to making sure we can address the needs of home buy-
ers, to make sure that we maximize and increase homeownership,
particularly among hard-working American families.

I see FHA's greatest potential being its ability to leverage other

capital for public purposes, primarily through partnerships. With
this in mind, I have been asked by Secretary Cisneros to conduct
a study of the appropriate structure of the Federal Housing Admin-
istration, and ask the question whether today's structure, in light
of the constraints that you pointed out, Mr. Chairman, is the ap-
propriate structure to deal with the issues, the problems, and the

opportunities facing this country.
This study will include a series of six forums around the country

to discuss the future of FHA. These forums will bring together
HUD and its employees, with residents, housing advocates, housing
providers, builders, realtors, mortgage bankers, the secondary mar-
ket, as well as State and local governments, to talk about our

organizational structure and how it either helps or hinders

partnerships.
These forums will begin this summer and will conclude at the

end of this calendar year. I believe that these discussions have the



promise of helping us remove the bureaucratic barriers that limit

the effectiveness of FHA.
Ultimately, we want to transform FHA to a vehicle that can meet

America's housing needs in the 1990's and beyond, while ensuring
that the MMI Fund remains adequately capitalized.
Our goal is to ensure that when the transformation is complete,

FHA will be a first-class institution, with the same tools used by
the best-managed businesses and other comparable organizations,
FHA will then be in a position to fulfill its mission, to expand hous-

ing choice and support communities by helping create partnerships
that develop and preserve affordable housing.
FHA will once again become a positive force for increasing home-

ownership and affordable housing opportimities for all Americans.
I believe the actuarial review we are reporting on this morning

^ves us the foundation to embark upon this exercise, which is too

important to be put aside.

Mr. Chairman, that concludes my remarks. I am, of course, avail-

able to answer any questions that you or other members of the sub-
committee may have.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Retsinas can be found in the

appendix.]
Chairman Gonzalez. Thank you.
Mr. Greer.

STATEMENT OF CHRIS GREER, ASSISTANT INSPECTOR GEN-
ERAL FOR AUDIT, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND
URBAN DEVELOPMENT
Mr. Greer. Good morning, Mr. Chairman, members of the sub-

committee. We are pleased to be here this morning to discuss the
financial condition of the Federal Housing Administration [FHA],
and more specifically its Single-family Programs.
Our office issued the most recent financial statement audit of

FHA on June 8, 1994. The audit covered FHA activities during fis-

cal year 1993.

Accompanying me toda^ is Tom Craren, a partner in the certified

public accounting firm of Price Waterhouse. Tom has been person-
ally involved in the financial audits of FHA since 1988.

The three most recent FHA audits were conducted under con-
tract with our office, the Office of Inspector General, and in accord-
ance with the Chief Financial Officers Act of 1990. Our staff works

very closely with Tom and his staff in monitoring the completion
of the audit and in providing input based on OIG audits of FHA
Programs and related issues.

Tom has prepared a written statement concerning his work and
will share that with you in a few moments. I would like to point
out a few things that were contained in our most recent semi-
annual report to the Congress.

In that report, we assess HUD's progress in addressing its 10
most significant problem areas. We have been reporting on these

problem areas to Congress since 1992. Three of these areas are sys-
temic in nature and affect almost everything that HUD does.

These systemic issues include HUD's management control envi-

ronment, resource management, and data systems. These weak-
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nesses have a direct impact on seven programmatic areas, one of
which is the single-family housing asset management.

In chapter 1 of our semiannual report, we point out that controls
over HUD's multi-billion-dollar single-family note servicing and
property management are inadequate, and we comment on Nic
Retsinas' plans and actions to correct the problems.

In short, we conclude that while there has been extensive analy-
sis and strategic planning devoted to solving the problems, it is

really too soon to tell if the planned activities will in fact material-
ize and make a significant difference.

Key efforts include changing staffing patterns and skills, finding
alternative methods such as mortgage sales to reduce workloads,
and modifying or reengineering current processes such as assign-
ments and property disposition.
We believe that if the Office of Housing sustains its current mo-

mentum and focus, many of the past management practices will in

fact be alleviated over time.

The other point I wanted to make is that our semiannual report
contains some information about the HUD-OIG's Office of Inves-

tigation. They continue to encounter significant numbers of crimi-
nal matters associated with single-family programs.
During the 6-month period ended March 31, 1994, 49 cases were

opened involving single-family fraud. Actual results from prior
cases include 54 persons indicted and 59 persons convicted. Cash
recoveries amounted to about $3.5 million.

Our Office of Investigation is currently pursuing either alone or
in cooperation with the FBI or other Federal inspectors general,
about 317 potential criminal cases involving single-family
programs.
For the most part, we find that the criminal cases tend to be iso-

lated instances of malfeasance by mortgage personnel or brokers in

the origination of loans and by speculators or investors in

strawbuying schemes.
Mr. Chairman, my statement is very brief this morning because

I think you really want to hear from Mr. Craren and Mr. Dennis
about the FHA audit and the actuarial study.
Thank you, and I will be happy to answer any questions you

might have.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Chris Greer can be found in the

appendix.]
Chairman Gonzalez. Thank you very much.
Mr. Craren.

STATEMENT OF THOMAS J. CRAREN, CPA, PARTNER, PRICE
WATERHOUSE; ACCOMPANIED BY BARRY L. DENNIS, PRIN-
CIPAL, PRICE WATERHOUSE
Mr. Craren. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
It is easier to abbreviate my statement because a lot of it has

been covered by Mr. Retsinas and Mr. Greer. We are pleased to be
here today.
This is the second time you have held hearings, which we think

are an important part of both the audit, the financial audit process,
and the actuarial review. As was mentioned, the audit was per-
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formed under the CFO Act and it covers all the FHA's major activi-

ties, including its big Multi-family Programs.
It is important, I think, to state that you can't speak about

HUD's programs individually. Although they are financed by sepa-
rate pots of money, they are managed by one group of people. To
the extent there are constraints on staff resources or workloads in

multifamily, it can affect the single-family area.

The MMI actuarial study is done under National Affordable

Housing Act, and as Chris mentioned, Barry Dennis who is with
me today, headed that study, and will also help answer any ques-
tions you might have, Mr. Chairman.
The financial statement audit and the actuarial report present a

number of relevant pieces of information about FHA's financial in-

formation, its soundness, and its internal control structure. For ex-

ample, the financial statements will present FHA's net equity or

deficiency position in accordance with generally accepted account-

ing principles, which is analogous to a private company's net
worth. With respect to the actuarial study, the MMI Fund's eco-

nomic value is presented as well. This is somewhat analogous to

equity determined on a mark-to-market or fair-value basis, which

many private financial institutions are beginning to present. Both
are distinct and relevant measures about the MMI Fund's financial

condition. And I think when you are considering the status of the

fund, you have to look at both. You can't look at one individually
at the exclusion of the other.

I think the purpose of our actuarial study, turning to that, is well

known. We are charged to independently calculate the MMI Fund's
economic value and the capital ratio. And to reiterate, the current
and projected capital ratio is a measure of the extent to which the

MMI Fund has or will develop resources in excess of what is re-

quired to cover any expected future claims.

As Mr. Vento pointed out, insurance is a risky business, and eco-

nomic factors can fluctuate. That is why we have capital standards
for the MMI Fund. Capital was meant to be a cushion against the

uncertainty inherent in this type of business.

As a result of this year's review, we estimated the FHA Fund
had an economic value of $4.5 billion, and when divided by
unamortized insurance in force of $316 billion, it leaves you with
a capital ratio of 1.44 percent, which exceeds the 1.25 percent that

was required in 1992.

We also project that the fund will exceed the fiscal year 2000 tar-

get of 2 percent, but again, as mentioned ealier, there is a great
deal of uncertainty about this projection. We don't know what the

economy is going to do over the next 7 or 8 years, but we have re-

lied, as Mr. Retsinas pointed out, on the economic forecast by DRI/
McGraw Hill.

The current position of the fund is a $3.2 billion improvement
over 1992. We think this has, for the most part, resulted from im-

proved economics, lower interest rates, as Mr. Retsinas pointed out,
and we think changes the FHA premium refund policy also contrib-

uted roughly $474 million.

In our testimony we have some graphics which highlight the dy-
namic impact of accelerating prepayment rates, which we simply
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couldn't predict last year—no one else could either—but which had
quite a favorable impact on the fund.

The economic value of the fund and its pattern of capital accu-
mulation to fiscal year 2000 depends on several factors, like the
Nation's future economy during the lifetime of FHA's books of busi-

ness. Interest rates affect initial and ongoing payment burdens on
household cash-flows, and hence default risks. Interest rates also

affect the potential for prepayments due to refinancing, as prevail-

ing interest rates change during the lifetime of each book.
Paster average house price growth facilitates the growth of home

equity, which tends to reduce the likelihood of borrower default. It

also contributes to greater mobility and household asset portfolio

rebalancing, leading to a greater turnover of housing and refi-

nancings, thus increasing prepayment rates. Faster income growth
reduces the burden of mortgage payments on household cash-fiows
over time, reducing the risk of default and claims as mortgages
mature.
The base case results in this report are based on DRI's baseline

forecasts as of May 1994 for interest rates, constant house quality
prices, and inflation rates. We did some sensitivity testing, and we
considered the DRI's pessimistic forecast, which projects lower real
GDP growth and higher interest rates. We refer to this in our writ-

ten statement as the high inflation scenario.

We also considered DRI's optimistic forecast, which projects
lower inflation and interest rates, referred to in our written state-

ment as the low inflation scenario.

The results are presented in exhibit 3 of our statement. As you
can see, while the estimated economic value and the capital ratios

do vary with macroeconomic scenarios, they change only mod-
erately. In each case, the estimated capital ratio at the end of fiscal

year 1993 exceeds 1.25 percent and the projected capital ratio at
the end of fiscal year 2000 exceeds the mandated 2 percent.
We also did some tests on adverse selection. Adverse selection oc-

curs when the conditions of insurance result in underwriting of

higher risk loans while lower risks loans select lower premiums
elsewhere. Because of the dramatic interest rate decline in fiscal

years 1992 and 1993, FHA experienced an unusual number of pre-
payments, many of which left the fund.
The MMI premium structures are generally more competitive

with private mortgage insurers for higher LTV loans and less com-
petitive at the lower LTV level, providing a strong incentive for ad-
verse selection. However, sufficient information is not yet available
to either prove or disprove the existence of adverse selection with

regard to the 1992 and 1993 prepayments.
We have examined the sensitivity of the 1993 actuarial results

to two potential effects of the large prepayments. First, we assess
the possibility that the unusually large prepaym.ents left a higher
mix of riskier loans in the existing books of business.

Second, we assessed the possibility that the large refinancings
experienced in 1992 and 1993 substantially lowered the risk profile
of the refinanced loans.
The lower risk profile is likely since refinancing lowers the

monthly payment burden, while leaving other characteristics unaf-
fected. In assessing the sensitivity of the results of the 1993 actuar-
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ial review to these effects, we have adjusted the projected condi-

tional claim rates by selected amounts. We have little factual basis

on which to select the magnitude of the adjustments. While we
have selected adjustments we believe to be plausible, they are

meant to be primarily illustrative.

The results of our analysis show that under all but the most ex-

treme scenarios, the effect on economic value and capital ratio is

moderate. Under all scenarios, we project the fund will still com-

fortably exceed the fiscal year 2000 NAHA-mandated capital ratio

requirement. In the extreme negative scenarios, the fund would
reach the 1.25 percent capital ratio, but later, in 1995 or 1996.

Now, let me turn to the financial statement audit, Mr. Chair-

man, which again covered both the single and multifamily areas.

And the most significant observation from that audit is the fact

that we were able to express an opinion on all of FHA's statements
for the first time. Prior to that, we had to disclaim, because of prob-
lems with the data and the reliability of the financial information.

The prior problems we had were complicated by a weak internal

control structure and a staff increasingly burdened by a growing
number of problem loans and assets. FHA has continued to address
these problems, and especially in considering how far it had to go
4 or 5 years ago, it has made credible progress.
We were particularly pleased that FHA was able to quantify

multifamily credit risk, link the risk assessments to its asset man-
agement strategy, and calculate a loss reserve for the financial

statements.
We also believe FHA's action plan to address remaining problems

is a comprehensive and serious effort which merits support and ag-

gressive followthrough. To reiterate a point Mr. Greer made, how-

ever, we are concerned about the followthrough. I think the plan
is good, but FHA has not had a good track record of implementing
its action plans.

Having said all this, a couple of cautionary notes are in order.

First, a large portion of the expected improvement to the MMI
Fund's capital ratio depends on the ultimate performance of insur-

ance written in 1992 and 1993. Even though the current economic
environment is quite favorable, the performance of these books of

business will become more certain only as actual default experience
emerges.
The financial statements, as opposed to the actuarial review, will

not reflect the positive performance of these books for some time,
even though their economic value is projected to be strongly

positive.

Second, FHA's internal control problems are not solved and will

still require attention. A tight budgetary environment doesn't make
it very easy for FHA to invest resources in people and automated

systems to help correct these problems. We have always found this

phenomenom unusual for FHA, because despite having very good
cost-benefit justification for making an investment in watching its

loans more closely, it has been unable to make such an investment.

By any measure, FHA is a huge financial institution that often

enters into complex credit transactions involving many different

types of loans. Because there is so much at stake particularly with

respect to a large, complex loan, private financial institutions typi-
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cally pay a lot more attention to them than FHA does. This is done

by frequently monitoring the underlying financial strengths and
weaknesses of the loans and the condition of the property securing
them. Private institutions are especially careful to closely watcn
those loans that begin to show problems.
The reason it is so important to identify a loan weakness as soon

as it begins to manifest itself is that experience has shown if loan

problems go unattended or underattended, solutions become much
more difficult and oflen more costly.

Potential losses that are quickly identified and addressed are

those most likely to be prevented. There is clearly a cost-benefit

tradeoff between resources dedicated to the credit management
process and portfolio performance.
For a large and complex credit operation like FHA, this normally

implies a fair degree of resource investment in terms of the experi-
ence and number of people involved in the credit process, the

means to train them, and modem tools for them to use.

We have a chart in our written testimony which illustrates our
concern with respect to the multifamily area, an area where FHA
is quite squeezed in staffing. Certainly, its staff numbers do not

compare favorably to either private institutions or State finance

agencies.
Another area that has been mentioned is early warning and loss

prevention. And one of the ways of addressing FHA's workload

problem and improve FHA's financial condition is to institute a

comprehensive, flexible program to identify potentially troublesome
loans quickly enough to allow for effective corrective measures.
This has the effect of curtailing foreclosures and reducing the num-
ber of loans that potentially would be assigned to FHA, thus free-

ing up people to do other needed tasks.

FHA has recently dedicated much effort to identifying problem
loans in its insured multifamily portfolio. This is a significant
achievement because these are the loans for which preventive
measures may yield

immediate benefits in terms of potentially

avoiding large claim payments. But this process is still very staff

intensive and often entails cumbersome manual data gathering in

order to develop a basis for making a proper decision.

Lack of a complete and accurate data base regarding the per-
formance of insured multifamily loans and the lack of a system to

assess and summarize this data continues to slow FHA's progress.
The single-family areas experience some of the same problems

but to a much lesser degree. Unlike multifamily, single family has
a quality control mechanism, its mortgagee monitoring division,
which has been able to expand and enhance its activities. Even
though improvements have been made, we still believe it is nec-

essary for FHA to develop more flexibility in its single-family loss-

prevention efforts. For example, a program that would make it

easier to modify delinquent loans that have a good chance of hav-

ing positive results, including reducing foreclosures and providing
a less costly alternative to the Assignment Program. We under-
stand FHA is currently in the process of addressing delinquent
loans.

Finally, on the issue of Secretary-held mortgages, Mr. Chairman,
these are the mortgages that have been assigned to FHA when a
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claim was paid in both the multifamily and single-family areas. For
the last 4 or 5 years, they have been increasing rather dramati-

cally, and virtually all of them were assigned to FHA as a result

of defaults or other problems with the loans.

We have recently become more concerned about this issue. Given
FHA's budgetary constraints, thev need to dedicate more resources

to asset management because the doubling of the portfolio may
weaken FHA's overall control structure.

And again, we have a graphic in our written statement which
shows the really dramatic growth in these notes over the last 5

years. FHA does have a strategy to address this issue, including

selling loans, especially those under the 221(g)(4) Program, setting

goals for returning nonperforming mortgages to a current status

and streamlining the FHA's loan servicing efforts.

I think in the future one of the things I would recommend for

the subcommittee is to have the audits monitor how well they are

actually doing with this strategy to see if it is effective, and per-

haps suggest other alternatives if it is not.

Another way FHA could become more efficient and improve its

staff utilization would be to quickly implement and upgrade its

automated systems. While efforts have been made in the past, es-

pecially with respect to improving property management systems,
a greater push to upgrade other critical systems might yield addi-

tional benefits through, for example, more comprehensive and

timely information about loan performance.
We strongly encourage any support that would expedite imple-

mentation of new systems and improve the quality of FHA's finan-

cial information and its ability to provide service to its customers.
Mr. Chairman, we believe FHA is making progress to shore up

its financial condition and address in a serious and constructive

way the problems and challenges we and other auditors have re-

ported for a long time. But for this progress to continue, it is im-

portant that it continue to receive the attention of senior HUD
management and the subcommittee.
To the extent legislative and budgetary support can accelerate

FHA's improvement and ultimately save money, it should be

strongly encouraged.
This concludes my statement. We would be happy to answer any

questions.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Craren can be found in the

appendix.]
Chairman Gonzalez. Thank you.
Mr. Dennis.
Mr. Dennis. My comments were included in Mr. Craren's

statement.
Chairman Gonzalez. I see. You have no prepared statement.
Ms. Bridgers.

STATEMENT OF JACQUELYN L. WILLIAMS-BRroGERS, ASSOCI-
ATE DIRECTOR FOR HOUSING AND COMMUNITY DEVELOP-
MENT ISSUES, U.S. GENERAL ACCOUNTING OFFICE

Ms. WiLLiAMS-BRrocERS. Mr. Chairman, members of the sub-

committee, thank you for the opportunity to present the results of
our assessment of the actuarial soundness of the Mutual Mortgage
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Insurance Fund. We hope that our testimony today will allow for

the more timely consideration of our review results during the
course of your reauthorization discussions.

My testimony will focus on our estimate of the economic net
worth of the fund as of the end of fiscal year 1993, our assessment
of the progress made by the fund in achieving the legislative cap-
ital ratios, and a comparison of our estimate with the estimate pre-

pared for FHA by Price Waterhouse.
In summary, although there is uncertainty associated with any

forecast, the economic value of FHA's fund clearly has improved
significantly in recent years, and the fund is on its way to accumu-

lating sufficient capital reserves to be considered actuarially sound
under the law.

We estimate that the fund had an economic net worth of about
$4.9 billion at the end of fiscal year 1993, compared to an economic
net worth of a negative $2.7 billion in 1990.
We estimate that the economic net worth of the fund increased

by about $4.3 billion during fiscal year 1993. We attribute this fi-

nancial improvement to several legislative and programmatic re-

forms, but this improvement can be more significantly attributed
to favorable economic factors that worked in conjunction with the

legislative reforms to not only increase the estimated economic net
worth of loans endorsed by FHA in fiscal year 1992 and earlier, but
also to result in a positive contribution to economic value made by
loans endorsed by FHA in fiscal year 1993.
Of the $4.3 billion increase in economic value during fiscal year

1993, we estimate that about $2.8 billion is due to the improve-
ment in the loans endorsed by FHA in fiscal year 1992 and earlier.

This increase was due primarily to more favorable house price ap-
preciation rates, lower unemployment rates, lower than forecasted
loan foreclosures and prepayments for fiscal year 1994 and beyond,
and reduced premium refunds for borrowers prepaying their

mortgages.
In addition to the $2.8 billion contribution, another $1.5 billion

in value was added by the fund by fiscal year 1993 loans. Fiscal

year 1993 activity represents the second consecutive year in which
the fund's new loans made a substantial contribution to the fund's
economic value.
The positive considerations of loans endorsed by FHA in 1993 is

also indicative of changes made by both Congress and HUD. For
example, as of July 1991, FHA borrowers were subject to the legis-

latively mandated higher premium payments.
We estimate that if FHA borrowers in fiscal year 1993 did not

have to pay the higher premiums, the economic value of the fund
at the end of fiscal year 1993 would have been about $4.1 billion,
or about 16 percent less than our estimate of $4.9 billion.

Similarly, we estimate if FHA had not revised its premium re-

fund schedule, the economic net worth of the fund at the end of fis-

cal year 1993 would have been about $4.3 billion, or 10 percent less
than the $4.9 billion estimate.
While the fund has made substantial financial improvement re-

cently, we estimate it fell short, about $3 billion short, of achieving
the legislative mandate for capital reserves of 1.25 percent of its
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amortized insurance in force by the November 1992 deadline. How-
ever, it exceeded this ratio by the end of fiscal year 1993.

Whether the fund can sustain this progress and attain the legis-
lative 2 percent target for reserves in the year 2000, and thereby
achieve actuarial soundness under the law, will depend on many
economic and program factors that will affect the financial healtn
of the fund this year and over the next 6 years.
We did not attempt to project the economic net worth and capital

ratio of the fund to the year 2000, because these factors are likely
to change. Our estimates of the fund's capital reserves are particu-

larly sensitive to economic factors, such as house price appreciation

rates, which have a significant influence on the net worth of the

fiind and its capital ratio. Under economic scenarios where you
have generally favorable economic conditions but lower rates of

house price appreciation, FHA's fund would likely experience
higher claims, and as a result, the economic value would decline.

Similarly, we estimate that had FHA reduced borrowers' up-front

premium payments from 3 percent to 2.25 percent for fiscal year
1993 rather than in April of this year, and assume that the de-

mand for FHA mortgages remains unchanged, the economic value
of the fund would have declined by about $460 million or 9 percent
from our economic net worth estimate of $4.9 billion.

A decline in home buyers' demand for FHA-insured loans could

also adversely effect the economic value of the fund and attainment
of the year 2000 capital ratio. Home buyers' demand for FHA in-

sured loans depends in part on alternatives available to them. For

example, higher loan-to-value ratios result in reducing the cash
needed by borrowers to purchase a home.
Some private mortgage insurers, as you may well be aware, re-

cently announced a plan to offer mortgage insurance coverage on
conventional 97 percent loan-to-value ratio mortgages, which

brings their terms closer to FHA's 97.75 percent loan-to-value ratio

on loans for properties exceeding $50,000 in appraised value.

While potential home buyers must consider many other factors

when refinancing their mortgages, such as the fact that FHA will

finance the up-front premium as part of the mortgage loan, this ac-

tion by private mortgage insurers could reduce the demand for

FHA insured mortgage loans.

In a report earlier this month, as Mr. Craren of Price
Waterhouse has just mentioned, they estimated the MMI Fund had
an economic net worth of about $4.6 billion and a resulting capital
ratio of 1.44 percent of the unamortized insurance in force as of the
end of fiscal year 1993. This compares to our estimate of $4.9 bil-

lion net worth and a capital ratio of 1.83 percent at the same point
in time.

Price Waterhouse also projects the fund will exceed its year 2000
capital ratio target of 2 percent with a 3.4 percent capital ratio.

While there are some differences in the economic modeling tech-

niques used and the assumptions made, our $4.9 billion estimate
of the economic value of the fund exceeds the $4.6 billion estimate
of Price Waterhouse by only about 6 percent or $300 million.

In view of the uncertainty associated with any forecast of the

performance of the fund's loans over the life of 30 years, these esti-

mates should be considered roughly equivalent.
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In general, our model and Price Waterhouse's model use similar

statistical techniques and both rely on many of the same key fac-

tors, such as rates of appreciation in house prices and changes in

mortgage interest rates. We both view these as important deter-

minants of mortgage terminations and economic value of the fund.

Our estimates of the fund's economic value are similar. GAO's es-

timate of capital ratio is higher than Price Waterhouse's estimate.

Some of the difference results from the slightly higher economic net
worth that we estimated. However, the primary reason for the dif-

ference is the fact that we used a lower end of fiscal year 1993 in-

surance in force amount than did Price Waterhouse to calculate our

capital ratios.

We calculated the capital ratio on the basis of amortized insur-

ance in force and not unamortized insurance in force, as did Price
Waterhouse. We used amortized insurance in force because FHA
insured mortgages are in fact fully amortized over the 30-year life

of the loans. Price Waterhouse used unamortized insurance in force

for its calculations so as to be consistent with its prior years' re-

ports and because the data on unamortized insurance in force are
considered more reliable than the data on amortized insurance in

force.

If we had used unamortized insurance in force in calculating the

capital ratio, our estimate of the capital ratio would have been 1.55

percent rather than 1.83 percent, even closer to Price Waterhouse's
estimate of 1.44.

In summary, FHA's fund has made significant progress during
fiscal year 1993 toward achieving the capital reserves needed for

actuarial soundness as defined by the law. Clearly, the legislative
and other program changes have helped to restore the fund's finan-
cial health and reverse the trend of the late 1980's and the early
1990's toward insolvency.
However, it should be recognized that fiscal year 1993 was an

unusually good year for FHA, because actual economic conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions were favorable.

Nevertheless, forecasting economic net worth and resulting cap-
ital ratios to determine whether FHA will have the funds it needs
to cover its losses over the 30-year life of the loans it has insured
is uncertain. Loan performance and therefore the economic net
worth and capital ratios will depend on a number of other economic

factors, particularly on the rate of appreciation of house prices and
program policies such as premiums charged FHA borrowers that

prevail available over that period.
Loan performance will also be affected by the demand for FHA-

insured loans, a demand that depends in part on the alternatives
available from private mortgage insurers. It is important to care-

fully balance the desires to assist home buyers against the govern-
ment's potential financial risk and the liability and its expectations
of the housing market's future performance.
This concludes my statement, Mr. Chairman. I would be happy

to respond to any questions that you or members of the subcommit-
tee might ask.

I also ask, Mr. Chairman, permission to be joined at the table by
Mr. Robert Procaccini and Mr. Jay Cherlow, who are the principal
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managers for our single-family financing work and the architects of

our model.

[The prepared statement of Ms. William s-Bridgers can be found
in the appendix.]
Chairman Gonzalez. Absolutely. I am also going to ask unani-

mous consent that all members of the subcommittee be permitted
to submit witnesses questions in writing, both those here and those

absent, provided they do so in an expeditious manner; that is, by
the time they receive transcripts of the proceedings.

[The questions referred to can be found in the appendix.]
Mr. Retsinas, I wonder if you can explain the Single-family Risk-

sharing Program as proposed by the Department and as amended
by the committee in its markup in the full committee. I am sure

you are familiar with that because you were present. And how that

program may impact the solvency of the fund, in your opinion.
Mr. Retsinas. The risk-sharing approach proposed by the admin-

istration will enable us to enter into partnerships with other orga-
nizations that are also trying to promote and increase homeowner-
ship in this country.
The specifics of the approach will vary, of course, depending on

the partners. In fact, there were two proposals by HUD which
would have authorized risk sharing. The risk-sharing initiatives

initially are not proposed to be obligations of the Mutual Mortgage
Insurance Fund. So in the short term they would have no negative
impact or positive impact on the fund. Under the single-family risk-

sharing proposal which is contained in H.R. 3838, we propose that
we be allowed to enter into risk-sharing arrangements with State
and housing finance agencies.
Mr. Chairman, as you know, in 1993 the Congress authorized, in

1992, the Department to engage into risk-sharing in Multi-family
Mortgage Programs. Earlier this year. Secretary Cisneros an-

nounced that we had reached an agreement with 33 State and local

agencies. As I recall, it was 27 States and 6 local agencies.
Given the track record of those agencies, we are confident that

risk sharing would be a more prudent use of the government's
mortgage insurance or credit enhancement authority than is cur-

rently tne case. We believe there is a potential for parallel partner-

ships, although of a different sort, with State agencies for single-

family housing.
We need to find a way, we believe, on a shared-risk basis, to

enter underserved markets and serve the people we need to serve.

As I understand the amendment that the subcommittee consid-

ered, it would restrict the nature of the risk-sharing agreements by
setting a ceiling of 35 percent on the amount of risk that could be
shared by HUD and State agencies.

It is my understanding in consultation with several State hous-

ing agencies that this amendment, if adopted and enacted by this

Chamber and by the Congress as a whole, would effectively pre-
clude any risk-sharing agreements; that is to say, that the State

housing agencies have indicated to me that the proposal adopted
by this subcommittee would not leave any room for partnership.

So, therefore, while in theory we would have the opportunity for

risk-sharing, at least according to those agencies affected, there
would appear to be no pragmatic opportunity for such risk-sharing.
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Chairman Gonzalez. Very good. Thank you very much.

Now, also at this time, as you well know, there are provisions in

the reauthorization raising the loan limit to $172,675, and the floor

to over $100,000. These proposals, if passed, would greatly expand
FHA's presence in the mortgage market, while at the same time

substantially increasing the revenue to the fund.

What is the Department's justification for requesting these in-

creases and analyses as to how these provisions may impact the

stability of the fund?
I know you expressed concern about it, I think on page 5 of your

testimony, "While financial soundness is a major FHA goal, I am
deeply concerned that the Single-family Program has suffered seri-

ous market decline over the past decade. I am particularly alarmed
at a recent General Accounting Office report which shows that the

percentage of FHA borrowers to all home buyers declined from a

high of 30.7 percent in 1976 to only 23.8 percent in 1991. The study
also shows that FHA's percentage of originations in urban neigh-
borhoods declined from a high of 58 percent in 1979 to 41 percent
in fiscal year 1991."

So my question is, the expected impact, if any, to the stability
of the fund.

Mr. Retsinas. Let me answer that in several ways, Mr. Chair-
man. Let me, first of all, thank the subcommittee for its consider-

ation to date of those initiatives. I think they will increase the

solvency of the fund, expand opportunities for home ownership in

certain parts of this country, and more importantly, give us addi-

tional opportunities to use the fund and its programs to reach out
to those most in need.
And let me elaborate on each of those three points, if I may. One,

I believe that raising the ceiling to a realistic and an indexed figure
is appropriate given the fact that there are currently certain hous-

ing markets in which housing prices are outside the reach of

moderate-income home buyers, and the special value of the FHA
Mortgage Insurance Program, which is its low downpayment, its

flexibility in certain requirements, is not now available. So we
think in isolated cases, in certain markets around the country, it

will open up more doors to homeownership.
As it relates to the matter of increasing the floor, again, in se-

lected areas, in more diverse parts of the country, including not

only urban areas but rural areas, the simple fact of the matter is

the cost of constructing a new home can exceed the floor that is

now in the FHA Mortgage Insurance Program.
As I recall, Mr. Chairman—and I defer, of course, to your knowl-

edge of this—the last time the floor was changed was 1980. A lot

has happened in 14 years to housing prices and cost of housing in

this country. And it seems it is appropriate to consider an index
that can correlate with housing prices.

Second, we believe that such increases will not only simplify the

program, particularly raising the floor, but we think also such ac-

tions will increase the solvency of the fund. As I pointed out in my
oral testimony, FHA experience indicates that historicallv, larger
loans have more of a positive return to the fund than the lower
loans. Larger loans perform better than the lower value loans.
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And third, because the fund will be on a sounder financial foot-

ing, the capacity of FHA to reach out to nontraditional and under-
served buyers will be enhanced. The fund's better business can
cross-subsidize its more risky business.
So we think increasing service in certain markets, amplifying the

Erogram,
and increasing the solvency of the fund are all potential

enefits of this initiative.

Chairman Gonzalez. I really appreciate that, and I will have re-

lated questions to another witness, but it has been proposed that
FHA loans be limited to first-time home buyers. What are your
views on such a proposal, and what impact would it have on the
fund?
Mr. Retsinas. I certainly don't at all quarrel with the intent of

a focus for the program on first-time home buyers. As a matter of

fact, as I recall the data, exclusive of refinancing, approximately
two-thirds of all originations for FHA mortgage insurance were for

first-time home buyers. So it already is a significant benefit to first-

time home buyers.
The difficulty, Mr. Chairman, in restricting the use of the pro-

gram is that any restriction runs counter to the notion of an insur-
ance fund that is diverse and solvent. It seems to me that if we
are to continue to insist, and appropriately so, that the fund be

self-sustaining, that it not require government subsidies or appro-
priations, we need to give it that opportunity to be so by serving
a range of home buyers.
Therefore, I would question any restructuring in terms of its im-

pact on the continued solvency and ability of the fund to be self-

sustaining.
Chairman Gonzalez. Thank you very much.
Well, I have one question for Mr. Dennis. There is concem^-can

you explain that concern that 40 percent of the loans originated in

1993 were refinances? I realize that many of those were originated
without new appraisals under a streamlined refinance program.

Is the FHA at risk because they may not have an accurate un-

derstanding as to the value of those unappraised properties?
Mr. Dennis. I think there are two aspects to the question. One

of the main issues of concern is that in 1993 there was such an un-

usually large level of prepayments that—the type of analysis we do

depends on an extension of past events, and when you get an un-
usual occurrence relative to the past, you have less confidence in

your ability to predict into the future.

The streamline refinance loans themselves, the major concern we
have is that we don't know what their current loan-to-value ratio

is when they come back into the book, and that is one of the pri-

mary determinants of the risk profile of the loans.

Mr. Vento. Mr. Chairman, will you yield on that?
Chairman Gonzalez. Certainly.
Mr. Vento. This is an important point. As you pointed out, 31

percent without appraisals is the issue they are raising in their

summary?
Chairman Gonzalez. Well, more or less. It is the indetermina-

tion, the unknown factor there.

Mr. Vento. Right. I think the concern, of course, is a practical
one. If you fold into the refinancing the cost of an appraisal, again.
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and of course, we have had some debate on this in the committee

too, often it is a disincentive then for refinancing. The spread has

to be greater in order to translate the refinancing, which itself then
translates into a less risk loan because of lower interest rates.

So insofar as you have to factor in that particular cost, the $300
or $400 or whatever it is for appraisal with that. So that is really

the question, which I don't know that your numbers can go to that

particular type of mortgagee behavior.

I just wanted to add that point, Mr. Chairman. Thank you.
Chairman Gonzalez. Thank you.

Well, also, I thought I would ask Mr. Dennis, since I believe that

would be the best source, and I will go back to this question of the

increase of the loan limits, the Risk-sharing Program between
State and other housing agencies and the FHA, and the National

Homeownership Fund which provides grants to meet downpayment
requirements.
What, if any, do you feel or do you have an opinion as to the im-

pact on the solvency of the MMI Fund of these proposals?
Mr. Dennis. The most I could express is an opinion not based

upon any analysis, which I would be largely hesitant to do.

Chairman Gonzalez. I understand.
Mr. Dennis. On the loan size limit, Mr. Retsinas' comments with

regard to FHA's experience are correct, that within FHA's experi-

ence, the larger loans have tended to be the stronger performing
loans. And all of our econometric statistical analysis confirms that.

With regard to extending the loan size limit outside of FHA's ex-

perience, we have not analyzed that. And there are a number of po-
tential offsetting issues we would want to assess before stating an

opinion on that.

Chairman Gonzalez. Fair enough. Do you have any comment,
Mr. Craren?
Mr. Craren. No.
Chairman Gonzalez. Ms. Bridgers, a year ago, and after much

debate, we raised the FHA loan limit once again, this time to

$151,725. Since that time there have been several proposals made
to raise the loan limit to as high as $172,675, which I referred to,

while others would raise the FHA floor limit to more than $90,000.
Now, those proposals, if passed, would greatly expand FHA's

presence in the mortgage market, while at the same time substan-

tially increasing revenues to the fund.
And what, if any, are GAO or your views on higher FHA loan

limits, their potential impact on FHA's market share?
Ms. Williams-Bridgers. Mr. Chairman, as you mentioned, in

the past we have supported increases in the FHA loan limit, par-

ticularly as they are indexed to house price appreciation rates. So
in that regard we would agree with Mr. Retsinas that there is a
need for FHA to remain competitive, to also maintain its market
share, and the best way for it to do that is to offer an attractive

package and to offer a loan limit that is competitive with that of

the private mortgage insurers and private mortgage companies.
However, we have always qualified our suggestions for increases

in the FHA loan limits by saying that we think it is particularly
important for the FHA fund to achieve financial solvency. The fund
did not meet the capital ratio of 1.25 percent in fiscal year 1992,
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although Price Waterhouse—and we—believe it has since met that

target.
We would strongly urge that caution be exercised before any fur-

ther increases in the loan limits. We would like to see the results

of another year's book of business, the performance of the fiscal

year 1994 book of business to see if, with the addition of that year's

value, the fund reaches its 2 percent legislative target. Then we
think it would be advisable to enter into discussions of increasing
FHA's loan limit.

Chairman Gonzalez. But which comes first? In other words, if

FHA doesn't increase its share of the market, so what do we do?

The subcommittee, of course, has acted, on the recommendation
of FHA. But somewhere there we have to have some breakoff point.
And based on the findings and evaluations of Price Waterhouse, I

think I am going to let Mr. Vento, if he so desires, hit on that a
little bit later.

There is one thing here, though. Along with the other measures,
the National Affordable Housing Act of 1990 required that the pay-
ment of distributive shares by FHA be based on the actuarial

soundness of the entire MMI Fund, and not solely on the perform-
ance of loans endorsed during a particular year of business, as has
been done in the past.

In light of the substantial improvement in the FHA fund in the

last 2 years, as reported by Price Waterhouse and in your state-

ment, do you think it prudent for FHA to begin paying distributive

shares once again?
Ms. Williams-Bridgers. Again, we would say that we would

want to wait to see how the fiscal year 1994 book of business per-
forms before making distributive share payments.
Chairman Gonzalez. Well, in your statement you did not, unlike

Price Waterhouse, provide estimates of when the fund would
achieve the 2 percent capital ratio, which was mandated for No-
vember 2000. Don't say legislators aren't hopeful. Is there any ex-

planation for that?
Ms. Williams-Bridgers. Yes. We felt that given the significant

influence of economic factors, particularly house price appreciation
rates, mortgage interest rates, that it would not be appropriate for

us to project the economic net worth of the fund, and whether or

not the fund would achieve the capital ratio by the year 2000.

There is just too much uncertainty, as Price Waterhouse has indi-

cated, in economic influences on the fund. So we felt it best that

we not attempt to project the capital ratio for 2000.
Mr. Cherlow. If I could add to that, Mr. Chairman, in our state-

ment one of the factors we indicated that would affect FHA's ability
to meet the 2-percent target was the demand for FHA loans and
the influence of marketplace developments by the private mortgage
insurers on the demand for FHA loans. There are a number of new
products coming into the market, such as private insurance for 97

percent loans and not just for 90 or 95. And this could have an im-

pact on FHA's business. Time will tell where this is headed over
the next year or two. So, that is one of the reasons why we think
that it would be worth waiting a little longer to make a projection
out to 2000.
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Chairman GONZALEZ. Mr. Secretary, do you have any comment
on that? Because you're concerned about enhancing the activity of

the FHA, and you are basing it on optimistic findings, both by
Price Waterhouse and other general economic conditions.

Do you have any thinking on the reluctance because of the con-

trary opinion that there is too much flux, instability?
Mr. Retsenas. I have a lot of thinking on this matter, Mr. Chair-

man. I would like to think, Mr. Chairman, that even if the Con-

gress did not require in 1990 that FHA and the Department do an
actuarial analysis, an actuarial study and projection, we would
have done one anyway. It is the right thing to do, and I applaud
the Congress for imposing that requirement.
As I indicated in my opening statement, certainly any projection,

any projection is as good as tne assumptions that are used. I am
not sure that what are used are the optimistic assumptions. What
are used are a whole series of assumptions.
Both Price Waterhouse, in looking at its conclusions, GAO at its

conclusion, varied the assumptions somewhat. In almost every
case, as I recall the testimony, except in the very worst-case sce-

narios, the capital ratios are met in this year. The capital ratios

are projected to be met with an extra margin, an extra cushion, in

the year 2000 in every case.

So, certainly, if one is to question the assumptions then one, by
definition, is questioning why bother to do a projection in the first

place. Any projection is required to depend on assumptions.
I have confidence in the quality and capacity of the firms under-

taking the review. Price Waterhouse is certainly a legitimate, na-

tionally recognized firm. The economic forecast that is used by DRI
is used not only by this government but by State governments and
private businesses all over this country and the world.
So it seems to me there is at least a credible assumption that

these assumptions make sense. Certainly, it needs to be looked at.

That is why I believe the Congress should act to conduct this re-

view annually. The housing needs of this country must be ad-

dressed. So we need to keep looking at it to determine whether or

not we are making progress, whether there is that capital ratio

that Congress prescribed.
Chairman Gonzalez. I notice you didn't refer to Chairman

Greenspan's statement that never has the economic status of this

country been as good as now. Maybe perhaps that was an

untrustworthy source or what. But he did come out with this very
ferocious statement as to the well-being. And so I realize that.

But I want to remind everybody here that in 1929, in May, Presi-

dent Hoover had appointed these prestigious experts and business

leaders, and they came out with a statement saying that for the
foreseeable future there was nothing but unlimited progress and
economic well-being. Of course, history wrote a different result.

So I realize when we come to applications and all—but I also re-

alize that we have been through this, and I think the one thing
that hasn't changed is the so-called private market. As I said dur-

ing the debate on these limits, there is no place I know of, includ-

ing my relatively low economic as compared to other areas of the
State activity, where there are brand new homes being built for

much less than $100,000. That is tragic, because in 1984, that is
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10 years ago, I met with a member of the Japanese Diet who had
a corresponding position, and also a Japanese industriaHst builder.

They assured me that they could come into the United States and
build a modest single-family unit, put it on the lot, cap the interest

at no more than 7.5 percent at that time, and at no higher cost

than $10,000.
So I then said to the group of mortgage bankers and whatnot out

of New York, that what I think is going to happen in our country
is what happened in the automotive industry. That was wait until
we get the Volkswagens and the Japsmese imports at what was
comparative at the time, competitive and attractive to the Amer-
ican consumer. And the fact remains, though, that if you are think-

ing in terms of new single-family construction, that is the price
level that you are going to have to face.

So I thought that it was reasonable for those advocating in the

high cost areas the increase. It was a very bitter argument. It had
to be 1980, because I wasn't chairman of the subcommittee. Mr.
Ashley was. And I remember all the agonizing then, and the same
arguments.
But anyway, with that, I thank my colleagues and recognize Mr,

Baker.
Mr. Baker. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Before I make any comment to the panelists, I just wanted to

briefly express my perhaps extreme admiration for the chairman's

tenacity in legislative process. I am reminded of that great figure
in American history, Andrew Jackson, later figuratively referred to

as "Stonewall." After 5 days of legislative torture, I feel more like

a brick myself, but I have to tell you that you are indeed a stone-
wall in the legislative process.
Mr. Retsinas, I want to express my comments to you and assure

you I will not talk about the Federal home loan bank, recent cor-

respondence, nor the Fourth of July, but all are related to the great
fireworks we expect in the future.
Mr. Greer, I want to make a comment to you concerning your re-

cent activities and interest in the matter concerning the Desire
Street Housing Project and your comments with regard to that

subject.
But all of the panelists, I appreciate your participation. I want

to speak directly momentarily to Ms. Bridgers respecting some ob-
servations in her comments.

I found it unfortunate that prior to the committee's recent most
precipitous actions with regard to loan limits in the FHA Program,
we did not have the advantage of the Price Waterhouse report in

our possession prior to taking the direction which the committee
most recently took.

I have just been told by a person in the market here for a home
that a realtor recently advised him that there was a new 1 percent
program, mean interest rate, which would finance 99 percent of
home value. That is a new product soon to be offered in the market
under the Homeownership Trust Fund. I found that to be extraor-

dinarily concerning.
The first question, is it your experience from a statistical histori-

cal perspective, is there any correlation between an individual's

personal assets involved in a transaction and the likelihood of fore-
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closure or failure to meet obligations and an individual's ability to

get a low equity position and a mortgage obligation and his likeli-

hood of walking away? Are the two things correlated in your view?
Ms. Williams-Bridgers. Do I understand your question to mean,

is there a correlation between the percentage of downpayment that

a borrower
Mr. Baker. Yes.

Ms. WlLLlAMS-BRrocERS. Yes, we found that higher loan-to-value

ratios, loans with higher loan-to-value ratios have a greater likeli-

hood of default.

Mr. Baker. Given that, I want to outline what I believe to be—
if I am inaccurate if my assurnptions, please correct me—there was
an apparent increase in cash-flow deficits in the MMIF Fund from
1992 to 1993, from a loss of $143 million to an accounting of $163
million in net loss in 1993. While net revenues did offset those

losses, the net revenue gains in 1992 were $292 million, in 1993

they were down to $12 million.

I found with great interest the fact that in 1992 and 1993, pro-
ceeds from redemptions of investment securities and the FHA's bal-

ance sheet in 1992 was $1.18 billion, in 1993, $2.59 billion. If it

had not been for the redemption of investment securities both

years, we would have found ourselves in an embarrassing difficult

circumstance, meaning that the underlying mortgage management
asset generating capability of the agency is losing money.
Now, in light of those 2 years' historical data, and tne fact that

we have been at an incredibly low-interest rate environment where
those who could have the option afforded to them, perhaps 5 per-
cent down, let's assume someone has been in an FHA-financed

property for 3 or 5 years, could sell it in a very good environment
where a private purchaser could acquire it and get the borrower
and the FHA Program out, give him a little equity, he could put
it in a private mortgage opportunity somewhere else.

I found that FHA's comment, Mr. Retsinas' comments in testi-

mony prepared for this morning's hearing, where we found that his

comment was that "many folks who guided FHA in the 1980's were
high-risk loans," meaning they couldn't meet standard private
mortgage requirements to get a loan, probably got out during this

unusually aberrant low-interest rate environment we were in.

My view is somewhat a little contrary, that those who could get
out of FHA Programs in this usually low-interest rate environment,
did. The residuals are likely to be people who had no cash, whose
debts went up and who couldn't take advantage of the 6, 7 percent
mortgage rate environment we are in. So the residual pool may be
more highly leveraged than this market.
Given the fact that this subcommittee has greatly expanded the

floor and the ceiling of the FHA's mortgage lending opportunities,
has at the same time reduced up-front premium requirements, dur-

ing a period of time when interest rates were extraordinarily low,
given the parameters which I have now framed, and the 2-year his-
torical data on revenues generated on sales of securities rather
than underlying mortgage performance, how do we reach a conclu-
sion that we are in good shape?
Ms. Williams-Briogers. Let me try and break apart several of

the questions that you have asked.
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Mr. Baker. I will provide copies for you later.

Ms. Williams-Bridgers. I will also ask for the assistance of my
colleagues here. One is the first analysis you referred to, I think

you were referring to the cash balances that exist in individual

years. Our work looked at the actuarial soundness of the fund.

Therefore, we did not do a financial audit. And I would defer that

question to Mr. Craren and Mr. Dennis, because they did do a fi-

nancial audit.

But I think one of the points that you are making is that the ac-

tuarial soundness of the fimd, the cash balance of the fund, are in

fact dependent on the interest earned on investments made by
FHA, that the expenses or claims that are paid out are covered by
revenues generated not only from the premiums, but also from in-

terest earned on investments.
But the rest of that question I will defer to Price Waterhouse.
On a second point you were making about the refinancing and

whether or not FHA after the most recent year of high repayment
activity is left with the more risky mortgage loans, in part that

question was answered a little earlier in tnat we don't have much
information or we don't have any information, really, on the loan-
to-value ratios, and therefore we cannot reliably assess the risk as-
sociated with those that refinance that are still with FHA.

I think you have to look at it as three groups of people when you
talk about refinancing in FHA. You look at those borrowers that
had high-interest rates and did not take advantage of refinancing
opportunities in fiscal year 1993, and we know that those people
do have risky loans. We know that is risky business. And for rea-

sons, as you said, probably those people who could refinance did re-

finance, if they had the assets to do so.

There is a second group that you need to look at, and that is

those with the high-interest rates that did refinance but stayed
with FHA. The third group is those that refinanced out of FHA and
got a conventional market. It is those latter two groups that we
don't have the information on, because through streamline refi-

nancing, there were no appraisals, so we don't have any informa-
tion on the loan-to-value ratios of those loans.
Mr. Baker. Just a couple of followups. One is that I am of the

opinion, and I don't know that it is shared broadly, that there
should be a demonstration that the market is not meeting a par-
ticular mortgage need before the government steps in and provides
a response program.

In my view, the higher mortgage loan limit increase was particu-
larly questionable in light of the fact that there are new products
being developed almost daily in the market, and we have very little

experience with regard to extension of FHA Program from such a

precipitously high increase, as we recently took in light of the fact,

historically, those demands or needs have always been met.
If the arguments are correctly made by proponents of the meas-

ure that higher income individuals who make higher mortgage con-
tracts are lower risk, that to me means that the free market ought
to be running to that end of the marketplace if those folks are cor-
rect that the market responds to profit.

If there is profit to be made, why should we be in the business
of federalizing what should be a private mortgage responsibility
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while we at the same time are dramatically increasing the risk of

Federal taxpayer involvement in this matter without having histor-

ical data to tell us we are correct?

No response to that. Thank you.
Mr. Chairman, I am sorry, I just perhaps give Price Waterhouse

the chance to respond, since the gentlelady did

Mr. Craren. With respect to your questions about the cash-flow,
which you correctly pointed out were negative in 1992 and 1993,
I guess my comment would be that that is relevant, but it can be
a deceptive measure. For example, in 1984, when the MMI went
to the up-front premium, a lot of cash flowed in, but I guess in ret-

rospect it wasn't such a wise thing.
Mr. Baker. Let me ask one question just by way of example.

Let's assume I am an automobile dealer going to mv bank to ex-

pand my marketing opportunities. We look at my balance sheet
and I have been losing money selling cars but my family is wealthy
so I have been taking money out of my family's CDs. Now, I ask

you for more money to put into my losing car operation because my
family is wealthy. Does that make business sense to you?

Mr. Craren. It doesn't, and there is no question you should be
concerned about cash-flow numbers. All I am suggesting is you
need to put them in some context.

Mr. Baker. And what is that context?
Mr. Craren. In 1992 and 1993, for example, and this is a com-

ment I made in my statement, in exchange for the claim payment,
rather than taking a property and selling it, FHA began to take a
much more illiquid asset, a loan which it couldn't turn around and
sell for up to 3 years in some cases, and that impacted its cash-
flow.

Now, is that something to be concerned about? Yes. Does it nec-

essarily spell disaster for the fund? Maybe not.

I think you have to look at cash-flows not just exclusively but in

the context of the actuarial analysis and in the context GAAP de-

termined income or loss.

Mr. Baker. But given the market difficulties of the product, is

this a time when you would recommend expanding our market
share?
Mr. Craren. Again, I think it is not exclusively a financial con-

sideration. I think people have brought up policy concerns, and I

think those have to be balanced against concerns about the finan-
cial health of the fund.
Mr. Baker. Thank you.
Chairman Gonzalez. Mr. Vento.
Mr. Vento. Thanks, Mr. Chairman.
I am pleased with the response. I was listening to Mr. Baker and

I wanted to say before he left that contrary to being a precipitous
action in terms of dealing with the limits and modifications to FHA
policy, I would suggest it was very deliberate, waiting on the audit.
It is true he didn't have the total report, but now you have the re-

port, and I think the report sustains the audit and, obviously, each
of us need to study it more carefully.
But I would just suggest further, in terms of, you know, philoso-

phy or policies, that the FHA, as Mr. Retsinas said, has basically
shaped the modem mortgage market. It was a precursor in 60-year
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history. So, clearly, if the private sector was going to get out there

and do it, and it has done it in some cases, it really is following.
So I think there is, obviously, a free exchange or a borrowing of

ideas back and forth that go on. But I think that FHA has a critical

role to play.
The issue about up-front premium in the early 1980's that be-

came law, and the loan-to-value ratio and the effect of that, all of

that has a very significant impact, in my judgment, and it hap-
pened in 1982; I was here. I was involved and concerned about the

impact of that. It had a positive effect on the budget deficit. But
the question is, that is like spending fire insurance the first day
you collect it.

That doesn't tell you what the experience is going to be over the
life of those mortgages, whether it is 7, 8, or 9 years average, and
maybe some of the bad ones, longer.
The point is, Ms. Bridgers, you raised the point about the nature

of the fund, in terms of what the cash value is. But the cash value
is looking at it, as was suggested, in a given point in time. It

doesn't look at the extrapolated risks that are associated with that.

So your statement really doesn't reflect whether or not we reduce

up-front premiums.
Specifically, you pointed out that when up-front premiums were

reduced, or if they had been reduced even more, the impact in

terms of the audit statement would reflect ^ slight decrease in the
value of the fund. But that has to be balanced, does it not, against
what the risk exposure is in terms of paid insurance versus unpaid
insurance.
Do you understand my question?
Ms. Williams-Bridgers. Yes.
Mr, Vento. You made the specific statement about the fact that

if the premiums were dropped, they were at 4 percent, then they
went to 3 and then 2.25. You said if they were dropped the actuar-
ial statement would have less dollars in the fund. But that would
be reflected in a risk premium that would be collected on an an-
nual basis or on a payment basis insofar as it was reflecting the
same percent.

In other words, the transition was to a higher risk based pre-
mium, a higher annual premium that is paid in a monthly pay-
ment. And so that would mean you have a revenue of loan coming
in paying for the insurance in effect as opposed to prepayment. So

looking at this, the audit statement tells you about insurance, in

effect, but it doesn't necessarily speak to the revenue flow you will

have coming in the future that is assigned to that particular cat-

egory of loan.

Would you please give your name for the record again?
Mr. Cherlow. My name is Jay Cherlow. I am an economist at

GAO. I will try to respond to that. You are right, of course, that
both the up-front and the annual premium payments are both im-

portant factors. Our actuarial soundness work considers the annual
payments that are going to come in as well.

When we look at the future cash-flow streams, we are looking at
both premium income that is going to come in for the years since
we resumed having an annual payment on the most recent books
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of business, as well as the books of business pre- 1983, when there

was an annual payment.
And we look at that as well as payments that are

Mr. Ventto. I know you look at them. But the statement is that

the audit statement would show less money in a given year. That
statement is accurate, but it doesn't necessarily deal with the dy-
namic of what is taking place when you make that statement. You
have to look, or you have to consider that in light of that as the

premium changes.
I mean, the real question here, and the question the Congress

came back and answered and said. We don't want a big up-front

payment because we think in fact the type of phenomena that oc-

curred in the 1980's was due to a big loan-to-value ratio, and the

adverse collection that occurred at that time because you also had
restrictive loan limits.

Can you speak to that?

Mr. Cherlow. There certainly can be a tradeoff between an up-
front premium and the annual premium. And I am not sure I en-

tirely understand your question, but I think that you are saying
that if we lower the up-front premium, we would have to consider

trading that off against increasing the annual premium.
Mr. Vento. That is the way it actually functions. That is the way

we wrote the law.

Mr. Cherlow. That i» right. In our statement, the specific num-
ber that we provided did look at what would happen if you lowered
the annual premium without further additions to the annual pre-
mium than what is currently in the law.

Mr. Vento. Well, I understand what your total statement does,
but in a given sense, if you are just talking about a snapshot of

it, an audit snapshot in terms of what the reserves are, it does not
look at that. In other words, you have to take into consideration
other factors. You did take it into consideration. I am just saying
you make a statement in the audit about the premium being re-

duced, it has to be considered in that particular context. That is all

I am trying to point out.

Let me ask a question of Mr. Craren. Mr. Craren, on page 43 of
the report, you talk about initial loan size distributions. What I am
interested here in, of course, is you have pointed out the FHA expe-
rience indicates that all else being equal, larger loans tend to per-
form better than small loans. This may be explained in part by the

higher borrower income requirements for larger loans.

Do you want to elaborate upon that particular indication? Be-
cause there was obviously contrary information being provided at

various times in this discussion conceiTiing higher borrower loans.
I think there is a differential here, I might say myself, of what

I would call the jumbo mortgage type of loans, which are obviously
outside of anything that was legislated or is anticipated to be legis-
lated with regards to FHA. So the higher borrower income require-
ments and larger loans, if you talk about that, and why FHA needs
that type of subsidy type of involvement.
Mr. Craren. I will ask Mr. Dennis to address that.
Mr. Vento. Mr. Dennis.
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Mr. Dennis. With regard to the cross-subsidization, I would rath-

er direct that to Mr. Retsinas. I think that is more of a policy-
oriented issue.

But with regard to the statement on the relationship between the

loan size and the claim rate, that is very specific to the loans with-

in the FHA, the MMI Fund. We are not meaning to extrapolate
that beyond the loans in the MMI Fund, to larger loans or even
same size loans outside the fund.
Mr. Vento. But your experience is the higher end loans actually,

in fact, have less of a loss attributed to them than the lower loans
in the current portfolio?
Mr. Dennis. Yes.
Mr. Vento. And you have not done anything to extrapolate or

pick information from other size loans, is that what you are saying,
for other loans that are outside that portfolio?
Mr. Dennis. That is right.
Mr. Vento. Mr. Retsinas, what about the cross-subsidization

that goes on here and why is that important, to increase the size

of the portfolio along those lines?

Mr. Retsinas. I believe it is very important. Congressman. As
you know, this is an insurance fund. It is an insurance fund where
risk is not even throughout the portfolio. And, from our own experi-

ence, as Mr. Dennis indicated, within our current portfolio the

higher loans generally have a more positive impact on the fund
than the lower balance loans.

I believe that by an increase in the loan limits, a prudent expan-
sion of the FHA Mortgage Insurance Program, that will increase
the solvency of the fund. And once we continue to be assured of its

solvency, we continue to use the fund as originally intended by
Congress in 1934, which is to make it possible for American fami-
lies to buy homes that are unable to do so in the private sector.

So we think this insurance fund is really a kind of financial mir-
acle by the Congress in the 1930's to come up with a way to sup-
port homeownership without special government appropriation of
subsidies. We believe bringing it current to 1994 is a way to fur-

ther those original aims.
Mr. Vento. One of the concerns here, of course, in the last year

has been the significant runoff in FHA portfolio. In your opinion,
one of the chief causes, is this phenomenon a source of concern?
Mr. Retsinas. I think the chief cause, of course, of refinancings

generally, of sales of properties, is the interest rate environment.

Heavy refinancing occurred throughout the marketplace, both in

the private marketplace and the FHA-insured marketplace.
As Mr. Craren, I believe, indicated, we do not have the specific

information on the specific characteristics of the borrowers who left

FHA. It is important to note on the matter of streamlined refinanc-

ing, which I believe, Mr. Chairman, you asked a question about
that we are talking about streamlined refinancing of loans already
insured by FHA.

If those refinancings had not taken place, we would still have an
insurance liability. What we have done, of course, is lower the debt
service on those loans. And I believe that so doing would increase
the solvency of those same loans. So I think there is some concern
because we don't know the details of the borrowers. But it would
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appear that it has not had a negative impact on the value of the
fund.

Mr. Vento. Mr. Chairman and members, one of the concerns ex-

pressed here by Price Waterhouse and one of the points you em-
phasized, Mr. Chairman, is the weakness, there are certain weak-
nesses in the FHA, but in looking closer at this description of these
items in your testimony this morning, it sort of suggests that FHA
needs to be more responsive, and that some of this responsiveness
or lack of responsiveness comes on account of needed legislative

changes to respond or administrative changes that are, you know,
inherent to the system that actually slow it down; the time for the
Administrative Procedures Act, the time for Congress to act on leg-

islation, the budgeting of staff and personnel, computer systems.
It seems to me the issues and rules with regards to the disposi-

tion of property, now, I think all of you, maybe the GAO has also

spoken to this particular issue. Last year, the year before, we in

fact provided separate office status and regulatory function to the

FHA, a rather dramatic rewrite of the organizational structure of
FHA in 1992.

The chairman, myself, other members, were deeply involved in

this in terms of treating it almost as a Government Sponsored En-

terprise—^but the point is, do we need even more autonomy here?
Is that what you are really saying?

I guess I can start out with the Assistant Secretary. Do we really
need more autonomy and independence in order to be current, in

order for FHA to really be responsive?
Mr. Retsinas. Congressman Vento, that is precisely the question

Secretary Cisneros asked me to look at. To answer the question the
best way I can; that is, are we appropriately structured to carry out
the mission that FHA was empowered to undertake, today in 1994
and through the balance of this decade and the years ahead?

If I were to give you the conclusions, I would prejudge the results
of the meetings and forums and dialog I expect to undertake. But
I believe. Congressman Vento, you are on target.
There are significant constraints and significant procedural mat-

ters that are barriers to the kinds of reforms that we need to un-
dertake that will make us more responsive to the marketplace.
So I agree with one of the conclusions in the Price Waterhouse

audit, which indicated there are many new plans for improvement.
I believe we have some good plans. But, certainly, the current
structure can be inhibiting in carrying out those plans. Chairman
Gonzalez mentioned one of them.
The restraints on the hiring and engagement of additional per-

sonnel to do the business of the agency. Those are restrictions that
are imposed on the Department and within the Department on
FHA. And they certainly are inhibiting factors as it relates to the
conduct of the insurance fund.

Mr. Vento. Mr. Craren.
Mr. Ckaren. We have always been concerned about divorcing

money spent on the MMI Fund's credit management from money
generated or used by the loans themselves, and then putting caps
on the number of administrative people who run the program. The
two should be linked.
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Like any credit institution, things happen at FHA that some-
times require more staff or new systems, and sometimes FHA must
rapidly respond to changes in the market. Yet, when you have
some other body controlHng not only the number of people you can
hire to address a potentiafiy serious credit problem, but also your
ability to upgrade your systems and modernize them in accord with
the marketplace, then we think this is a rather dangerous
situation.

Mr. Vento. One wonders what happens if you take your percent-

age cut of the employees over the next 5 years and you nave an

increasing size portfolio that is going on. But part of the problem
was this whole attitude during the 1980's, collecting the premium
up front, we have got our money, and not worrying what happens
with the portfolio was not a very good idea that Reagan and other

administrations in that policy path that Congress let happen,
which again I think is a mistake, or some of the issues in terms
of—obviously this relies upon the strength of those area offices.

With the MMI Fund we have a very strong office arrangement
and very strong outreach technique, although not perfect, in the

sense that you talked about the criminal activities, the fraud and
abuse that is going on.

But I guess the real concern here gets to be, outside of those di-

rect administrative things, whether you have the right computer,
the right disposition program, is that fundamentally are we screen-

ing or do we have adverse selection being caused by the types of

requirements in terms of loan limits, by the requirements in terms
of inappropriate up-front premium, decide maybe politically, or by
2,200 pages of application process to get a loan. That is a deterrent,

too, to people.
And any type of documentation, Mr. Craren, did you have any-

thing you wanted to say about adverse selection risks based on the
law or the limitations of FHA, especially with the MMI Fund is

what I am talking about here.

Mr. Craren. If it is administratively cumbersome, and thus
could contribute to losing some business that you might want to

have. We don't know specifically how much that exposure is, but

certainly, it is something to be concerned about.

Mr, Vento. Well, I mean, if you have provisions for an increase
in the insurance premium, if you change the loan-to-value ratio,
these are the issues obviously that we can deal with, changes in

downpayment requirements, impact of complicated formulas. All of

that has, in my judgment, some impact in terms of who is going
to walk througn the door. You aren't going to do this, it isn't as

convenient, you are making it inconvenient, you are making it

overly burdensome. We are dealing with 66 percent, as you said,
with first-time home buyers.
Ms. Bridgers, did you look at any of these issues?
Ms. Williams-Bridgers. No, we have not looked at the issues of

adverse selection, but we applaud the Secretary's efforts and direc-

tion to Mr. Retsinas to begin examining the role and structure of

FHA.
When we speak about the condition of the Single-family Housing

Program, the numbers that we have all discussed this morning give
us one picture of the financial solvency. But the capacity of FHA
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to manage the program, whatever its structure, is extremely impor-
tant for us to begin paying attention to.

Whether or not FHA's workload is appropriate, whether it has
the staff resources to attend to its workload, and whether or not
those resources are allocated to the particular program areas where

monitoring and servicing are most needed, are all questions that
need to be thoroughly examined in order to make improvements in

the fund as a whole.
Mr. Vento. Mr. Chairman, just one more question for the Price

Waterhouse and GAO, and I have to go to an interview on military

overflights. In any case, the issue here is, are we into a situation

today—I mean, this is the fundamental question all of us are ask-

ing ourselves, we had this phenomenon that occurred in the late

1980's and early 1990's where it was very volatile—are we in a cir-

cumstance today where there is going to be inherently in the port-
folio more volatility than there has been in the past?

I mean, what is—I guess, asking some sort of opinion, you spent
years and your staff in terms of reviewing that, and I think it is

just a fundamental question that we need to look at from the

standpoint of Price Waterhouse for the last 5 years with models
and from the extensive experience with the Secretary, and what do
we do in terms of policy if we are—we have obviously done one fix,

administratively done some other things, we think the policy path
we are on is correct.

I would argue, certainly, that it is a step in the right direction.

But, Ms. Bridgers, could you speak to that volatility question?
Ms. Williams-Bridgers. I would like to defer to my colleagues

on that.

Mr. Vento. Please do, to both of them. I am sure they both have
a view with regards to that.

Mr. Cherlow. I think. Congressman, you make a very good point
on the volatility. This is part of why we are being very cautious in

making any projections out to the year 2000 on the capital ratio or

with respect to raising the loan limits further at this time until we
have a little bit more experience.
As Mr. Craren said earlier, a considerable extent of the value of

the fund today is dependent on the performance of the 1992 and
1993 books of business, on which we so far have very little experi-
ence. We have projections
Mr. Vento. But I think Price Waterhouse's initial reactions that

were coming back negative were very much dependent on the book
of business in pre- 1985, which were very high, and were skewing
it a different direction, if this is skewing it. Please proceed.

Mr. Cherlow. And with the large wave of refinancing that took

place in the last 2 years, a lot of the old loans are no longer on
the books, and last year's book, as you know, was a very large book
of business and is going to continue to have a large influence on
the fund for many years.

Until another couple of years pass, we really are just making
projections on that book. When we have a little bit more experience
on how that book is actually performing, I think it might be the
time to revisit this and feel we are on a firmer basis to estimate
on what is going to happen over the rest of the decade.
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Mr. Craren. I would say the concern about economic
volatility

is why we came up with a specific capital ratio for the MMI Funa.
We were uncertain about what was going to happen, and therefore
it is proper to build a cushion some way. Congress ultimately did
this through raising the premium and tightening up underwriting.
That was the intent of it. I think it is certainly appropriate to

reexplore these factors every year and look at actual performance
in light of what we projected.
Mr. Vento. Mr. Retsinas.
Mr. Retsenas. I just would reiterate, I think Mr. Craren's point

is well taken. If there were no volatility, if we could predict the fu-

ture with certainty, we would need no capital ratio. We would
know precisely how much is necessary to move forward. The fun-
damental purpose of a capital ratio is to establish a cushion. The
value of that cushion is in part dependent on the value of those
who are forecasting.

I have confidence in the abilities of the firm and the work they
have done, although I am sure I can't guarantee the accuracy of
their assumptions; but, at some point if you are going to make pro-
jections, you are dependent on assumptions.

Mr. Vento. Obviously, you can eliminate all the risk by closing
this program down. I guess that is the other side of it. So we know
there is going to be a substantial amount of risk. But the question
is, basing that on a broader based market of homes, a cross section,
it seems to me—^you know, if we don't respond to demand, if we
don't—then we obviously—the market's needs are not going to be
met. So there is so much of a case here where this particular pro-
gram has shaped the market, too, that it becomes very, very impor-
tant to it.

Mr. Chairman, thank you for your patience.
Chairman Gonzalez. Good luck. Is it on Whitewater?
Mr. Vento. No, Mr. Chairman, it is not.

Chairman Gonzalez. Well, it is really "yellow water" by now.
Mr. Knollenberg.
Mr. Knollenberg. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you for

holding this session, because I have listened very attentively, and
I have heard a number of things. Some things bother me, particu-
larly when I hear that we can show a balance statement in the
black while the operations appear to have a negative cash-flow.
Most companies in the private sector include operating expenses

in their balance sheet. I heard the testimony, but I am still both-
ered by the answer I got.

I am further bothered by the answers we got with respect to the
potential with all of the refinancing activity. I understand it was
four to five times greater in the last year than it had been antici-

pated. And I know, Ms. Bridgers, you categorized it into I believe
it was three categories, and the studies are really not very conclu-
sive as to what precisely kind of risk is involved here.
Did some of the better mortgage holders move on, move out of

FHA-financed housing and into conventional housing because of
rising assets or income or whatever? That bothers me.

It bothers me further that on top of all this, what we are doing
is I think perhaps maybe even unwarranted, an intrusion into the
area of the FHA single-family mortgage insurance, raising those
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limits to as high as we have here, to $172,000. I noticed over in

the Senate they have got a little more conservative view of this.

They have frozen that pretty much at $152,000. That is the upper
limit, and the bottom limit is $77,000. Here we have it at $101,000.

I recognize by increasing those loan limits we are going to gen-
erate more loan revenue. But we haven't done much in terms of

studying what kind of book of business we have got. We have only

got $124,000, that was just 3 years ago. Now we have had 3 years
of dealing with $151,000. Now we are going to $172,000.

It strikes me that the Senate may have some logic about this by,
I believe, resisting

—it appears to me they are resisting going to the

higher limit. So I am concerned about all of those things and I am
concerned about the risk to the taxpayer.
The question for Mr. Craren, I think I heard something, and I

don't know if it was for you or somebody else, that as you increase
the loan limit—maybe I should rephrase it—if you increase the
loan limit, what does that do to risk? I don't think I got a clear an-
swer on that. I am going to ask it again.
Mr. Dennis. That is right, you didn't get a clear answer from us

because we haven't studied the issue enough to be able to be in a

position to give you an answer on that question, outside the experi-
ence of FHA. Within the experience of FHA, it is clear that the

larger loan sizes are the lower risk loans.

Mr. Knollenberg. Larger loan sizes are lower risk?
Mr. Dennis. Within the experience of FHA.
Mr. Knollenberg. Up to what level?

Mr. Dennis. The highest loan level.

Mr. Knollenberg. One hundred and twenty-four?
Mr. Dennis. Yes.
Mr. Knollenberg. You really haven't done a study on 151,

right?
Mr. Dennis. There has not been nearly the experience with that

home size.

Mr. Knollenberg. Let me ask this question, then. Isn't it true
in the private sector when you are talking about increasing the
level of loans that the risk rises with the volume of that loan?
Mr. Dennis. As I understand it, there is some evidence that as

you increase loan size risk tends to fall up to a point at which it

starts tending to rise again, especially when you get into the jumbo
loans.

Mr. Knollenberg. So you are saying there is some of this?

Mr. Dennis. There is evidence to that effect. I think there is also
evidence reported by some that contradicts that.

Mr. Knollenberg. I understand how excited you might be about
increasing revenue, Mr. Retsinas. It would go up, obviously. But
with the lack of study as to what kind of risk you are actually as-

suming, and I guess we are moving forward pretty quickly here
into an area of increasing loan values without really looking closely
at the risk associated with that.

So with all the other problems that we have, and with all the
concern I have about the taxpayer, and I am sure everybody here
does, aren't we moving a little quickly without looking retrospec-
tively at where we have been and just where these—first of all, the

inventory of risk that we have, what with the outfinancing or refi-
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nancing and moving on up, are we left with a heavier load, let's

say, of low- or high-risk loans, at the same time combining the idea

of increasing loan limits, which does bring in revenue, but it also

brings in risk that seems to me may be a lot more than we expect?
Mr. Retsinas. There are a couple of points. I will try to comment

on all of them. I, too, am concerned about the exposure to the
American taxpayer. I have a responsibility to ensure there is no
undue exposure. I have a responsibility to carry out the legislative
mandate of this subcommittee and this Congress, which is to en-

sure that the fund be self-sustaining.
That is why, over the course of the last year, we have done all

that we could, and we need to do more, to ensure the solvency of

the fund. And I am pleased with reports of Price Waterhouse and

confirming reports of GAO in terms of the progress that has been

made; although to repeat, I understand its future progress is de-

pendent on the accuracy of the assumptions.
As it relates to the issue of the expansion and increase in loan

limits, I certainly respect, Congressman, the deliberative process
the House went through in coming to that conclusion. I have the

experience that Mr. Dennis alluded to, that if you look carefully at

the history of the FHA portfolio, the evidence is pretty clear, is

abundantly clear, that the higher loans generally have more of a

positive impact on the fund than the lower loans. The market evi-

dence Mr. Dennis alluded to is sketchier.

Mr. Knollenberg. What is higher, 124?
Mr. Retsinas. Within the experience at FHA.
Mr. Knollenberg. And 67?
Mr. Retsinas. Generally speaking, there is a correlation. I have

been handed a chart which you probably can't see, but it is a pretty

straight-line correlation in terms of the higher loans have lower cu-

mulative claims rates, which I can share with you.
Mr. Knollenberg. If you would, please.
[The information referred to can be found in the appendix.]
Mr. Knollenberg. We have already heard some pretty expert

people on testimony we don't have, yet you just made the state-

ment that it does appear abundantly clear. You said that there is

a better risk involved with the higher loan limit.

Mr. Retsinas. Let me repeat in case I was unclear in what I

said. What I said was based on the experience of FHA, based on
our portfolio, it is abundantly clear that the higher the loan, gen-
erally speaking, the lower the claims. That is the experience of

FHA.
Mr. Knollenberg. But you have less of those higher end loans

in place. They have only been over a very short period of time, too.

So the judgment period is much shorter, is it not?
Mr. Retsinas. No, because we have had loans in differing

amounts throughout the history of FHA, and the correlation is be-

tween the sizes of the loan and the claims rate. The relationship
holds for all books of business.

Mr. Knollenberg. I would like to look at that. If you would very
kindly submit that. I would like to analyze that. I think that con-
cludes my questioning, Mr. Chairman. Again, thank you for

Chairman Gonzalez. I just want to point out, Mr. Dennis re-

ferred to jumbo. FHA doesn't do jumbo.
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Mr. Retsinas. We do not.

Ms. Williams-Bridgers. Mr. Chairman, may I respond in part
to the Congressman's questions about experience with higher loan
limits.

We do have a different set of experiences that we can borrow
from the VA Guaranteed Loan Program. We have looked at mort-

gages that have been guaranteed by the VA. The VA has allowed
a higher loan limit than has FHA for some period of time.

Specifically, VA had a maximum loan ceiling of $144,000 in 1988,
and $184,000 in 1990. When we have examined the default rates

for those loans, we find that the scenario is very similar to that of

FHA's. The larger loan size generally experiences less default rates.

It has a lower default rate for the larger loan sizes under the VA
Guarantee Program. So we have another set of experiences we can
borrow from.
What we have not looked at is the underwriting standards and

whether they are comparable under the VA Guaranteed Program
as they are under FHA. That is a significant piece of information

you would have to consider in looking at the time correlation be-

tween experience under VA and FHA.
Mr. Knollenberg. Thank you.
Chairman Gonzalez. Mr. Watt.
Mr. Watt. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I apologize to the chairman and the members of this panel for

being unable to be here earlier for your testimony. I hope I don't

ask any questions that you have already addressed.
I am looking at a slightly different area of concern, and wanted

to raise some questions having to do with the audit report, specifi-

cally the parts of the report on pages 21 through 24, which have
to do with the Secretary or the Department resolving Secretary-
held multifamily and single-family mortgages and what disposition
is being made of those mortgages where I assume foreclosures have

already taken place or default has already taken place, and the
loans nave been put back under the Secretary's jurisdiction by
whatever process.
And just reading some things I have underlined here on page 21,

the number of assigned multifamily and single-family assigned
notes continued to increase. This is based on the 1993 audit.

Number two, the servicing of these portfolios has been deficient,
due in part to their size and growth.
And three, the effort required to service assigned notes, even

though it has been deficient, has drawn resources away from serv-

icing insured mortgages.
Down lower on the page, as of September 30, 1993, FHA had

$7.8 billion in assigned multifamilv notes, of which $6 billion or 77

percent were non performing. A large number of nonperforming
notes is significant, for whatever reason. Making this buildup de-
fault in assets even more serious is that HUD has had statutory
and budgetary impediments that have prevented it from foreclosing
on the mortgaged property, even in those cases where the econom-
ics underlying the note make other plans impractical or unfeasible.
And on and on and on. And then you get to some suggestions.

And then on page 24, there is a chart which suggests that HUD
has not done anything about this, that they have put a series of
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plans into effect, but if you look at that chart, no implementation
of those plans has taken place.

I guess my question is, in light of all that, did we have any indi-

cation that any of this is improving? Has the decline in interest
rates during 1993 helped that situation? And can somebody help to

set me at ease that things are not as bad as this report indicates
that they may be?
Mr. Craren. Perhaps I will let Mr. Retsinas respond to the ac-

tions FHA is taking, but our concern is, first of all, notes assigned
to FHA roughly doubled over the last 5 years, in both the multi-

family and single-family areas. And the single-family area in-

creased predominantly because of the Temporary Hardship Pro-

gram. We think this is a result of the recession. And we think that
there are some other things FHA could do that would be more effi-

cient. And when you double
Mr. Watt. I take it that is as a result of the recession and rel-

atively high interest rates during that period, or are the rates not
a factor? It is my assumption if interest rates go back down, then
that doesn't help.
Mr. Craren. To the extent this decline reflects overall improve-

ment in the economy, there will be fewer note assignments in the

future, because, among other things, debt service gets easier for

borrowers. So we think the number of new notes being assigned to

FHA will decline.

The problem is FHA is stuck with what they have right now, and
this still has to be dealt with. I would also add that a lot of the

multifamily note assignments came from the Coinsurance Program,
which was pretty much of a debacle.
But our concern, again, is that whenever you have this many as-

sets and this rapid doubling of them, it puts a strain on the staff
resources. And our concern was if it also detracts from some of the
other new initiatives to shore up the fund, such as an early warn-
ing system, this will weaken the FHA's overall internal control
structure.

So we are encouraging some rapid action to go about curtailing
both what FHA has on the books now and what might come in in
the future.

Mr. Retsinas. If I could make a couple of comments, first of all,

thank you for your observations. I wish I could say—I have now
been in this position a little over 1 year—and I wish I could say
I came into the position with a clean slate. I have certainly not at
all underestimated the severity of the problem and the depth of the

problem that is facing this country and this administration and
this Congress.

Let me focus on the problem you pointed out, and some of the
specific actions we have taken in part with your support. You
pointed out in your review of page 21 the increase in the multifam-

ily notes and the multifamily properties, the foreclosed properties,
the delinquent properties.
When I was sworn in as Assistant Secretary, last year's audit

pointed out the severe problem and the peril that we face with our
multifamily insurance portfolio.

In large measure as a result of that audit and more significantly
in the response to the underlying problem that the audit described,



40

we, within the first 45 days of my tenure, introduced multifamily
property disposition legislation to remove some of these impedi-
ments. This subcommittee considered, debated those initiatives,
and balanced the need to take us out of that hole with appropriate
public policy concerns.

And I certainly applaud this subcommittee that passed that leg-
islation earlier this year; within the last 2 months, I believe, it was
signed by the President and is now law. So some of the impedi-
ments referred to here have been removed, although not all. As it

relates to the disposition of the notes, I concur with Mr. Craren's

analysis.
As a result of that, we have embarked, not planned, but em-

barked on a note sale program. As recently as last week we began
the disposition of some of our notes. Last week we sold over 15,000
single-family mortgages. We have an aggressive plan of note sales

of our multifamily mortgages. That will begin later this summer.
It takes time to do that, in part because of what I think are appro-
priate administrative review procedures.
We are subject to the Administrative Procedures Act, as Mr.

Vento pointed out, which means we have a lengthy regulatory proc-

ess, but that is OK because people need time to comment. But now
we are going through that process, we are beginning to take action.

I don t want to make you believe we are out of the woods. Far
from it. There is still much work ahead of us.

Mr. Watt. Let me connect up part of what you said with the con-

cern, and I guess I ultimately by voice vote voted for the raise in

the limits.

Mr. Retsinas. Thank you, Congressman.
Mr. Watt. But let me just make an inquiry about what it is you

are selling. I note on page 23 of the report, there is a paragraph
that says, "As with the multifamily 221(g)(4) Secretary-held mort-

gages, HUD is also assessing the possibility of selling a number of

approximately 15 percent of the current portfolio of performing
221(g)(4) mortgages. A sale is expected to occur in late fiscal year
1994."

Is that part of the sale you are talking about?
Mr. Retsinas. Yes, it is. We initiated phase 1 of that sale last

week.
Mr. Watt. Is there a possibility that what is happening here is

you all are selling the lower end mortgages and ending up with
this increase in limits with the fund positioned in higher end mort-

gages? Or am I just missing the point?
Mr. Retsinas. Perhaps I could comment on that. I do not believe

FHA is in the business to hold mortgages. We are an insurance
fund. We ought to insure mortgages that can increase the access
to homeownership for American families throughout this country.
That is our business.

Being a large insurance fund, we do have occasion, of course, to

hold mortgages and to hold properties. Any insurance fund has
that as part of its modus operandi.

It is clear to me, however, that we need to make sure that we
focus our attention on the insurance function, not on holding the

mortgages or holding the properties. So, therefore, anything we can
do to expedite their disposition in a way that is prudent and makes
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financial sense to the government, we ought to do, and that is the

path we are embarked upon.
Mr. Watt. So when you sell a mortgage, then, that is really ei-

ther in a performing or nonperforming situation, if you do it on

prudent terms, that ought to improve the fund?
Mr. Retsinas. Yes, it will. As a matter of fact, the early returns

from that initial sale last week indicate that was the case.

Mr. Watt. What do you project
—I know this is speculation to

some extent—does it get easier for you to sell those mortgages
when the interest rates go down
Mr. Retsinas. Congressman, it is never easy. I learned that in

1 year. When interest rates

Mr. Watt. When interest rates go down, I would think it would
be easier for you to sell those mortgages and the trend back in the

opposite direction, I would think, would make it more difficult to

sell those mortgages. Again, maybe I am missing the point.
Mr. Retsinas. No, your insight is correct. Generally speaking,

there are exceptions to every rule. Grenerally speaking, properties
become more valuable when interest rates go down. But I can't pre-
dict with certainty what interest rates will be. I can predict, how-

ever, if we don't address the problem of the disposition of the mort-

gages we hold, the properties we hold, it will deter us from focusing
on what we need to do, focusing on the servicing of our existing

portfolio and insuring properties to increase homeownership in this

country.
Mr. Watt. Has that sale itself reduced—I mean, what is the vol-

ume of what we are holding now?
Mr. Retsinas. It is in the report. I have to look at the report.
Mr. Craren. $7.8 billion of multifamily and $3.8 billion of single-

family is what they now hold.

Mr. Watt. What would you think, Mr. Retsinas, the current fig-

ures would be?
Mr. Retsinas. I don't want to speculate. I will get the numbers

for you.
Mr. Watt. Do you think they have gone down? Do you think

those figures have gone down?
Mr. PIetsinas. I will give you the specific numbers. Congressman.
[The information referred to can be found in the appendix.]
Mr. Procaccini. Can I give you a little more information on that

from our perspective?
I am with GAO, my name is Bob Procaccini. We are also con-

cerned about this mortgage assignment issue. We are doing some
work currently for the House oversight and investigations group on

government operations, looking at the single-family notes and man-
agement of those notes in the program currently.
The concern to us is somewhat very similar to what the commis-

sioner and Price Waterhouse have noted. But beyond that, we are

also looking at this program in terms of its outcomes. This program
represents—the MMI portion of it, anyway—loans that were in a
default status which HUD assumed and which HUD is going to

work out agreements with. Theoretically, a very favorable outcome
for a loan that goes into the program would be to resume currency
and come back on line as a performing loan.
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And the thrust of the work we are doing for the subcommittee
is trying to take a look at the rate of success of loans under that

program, and how is it possible to increase that rate of success so

we can get more of these loans to become performing.
Mr. Watt. You are defining success in that way and not in terms

of sale of the loan, but getting it back into a performing status.

Mr. Procaccini. We are defining success basically as avoiding
foreclosure on that loan.

Mr. Watt. Do we have any way of tracking after a sale whether

people are pursuing that objective, Mr. Retsinas? The folks to

whom you are selling these loans, is their definition of success con-

sistent with the definition of success that is being adopted by GAO?
Or
Mr. Retsinas. Not at this current time. Again, our purpose in

selling loans as an insurance fund is because of the impact of those

mortgages on our loan servicing activities and the great attention

they demand. Again, we are in the business of insuring, not hold-

ing mortgages. We are in the business of increasing opportunities
for homeownership.

Mr. Watt. I don't mean to set you all up at opposite ends of the

spectrum on this issue, but it sounds to me like your objective is

completely different from the objective I am hearing on this end.
If your objective is to get rid of the loans that are either performing
or nonperforming, get them out of your system, and they are inves-

tigating
—they are defining success in terms of putting non-

performing loans back on a performing status, it seems to me there
is some inconsistency of objectives there, and unless there is an ef-

fort to reconcile those things—go ahead.
Mr. Retsinas. I don't think. Congressman, there is an inconsist-

ency. I am just trying to be as candid as I can in terms of our
motivation.

Let me elaborate if I could. If we had additional staff, additional

resources, I might come to the conclusion that it would be more ef-

ficient for us to achieve the objectives of restoring these loans if we
held them in portfolio.
The fact of the matter is, with the resource and staff shortages

we face, we are unable to turn the necessary attention to them. So
the sale on the one hand frees up resources to focus on our existing
insured portfolio, and two, I think it is a more efficient way to deal
with the them. So I don't think the objectives are inconsistent.
Mr. Procaccini. I don't think so either. Congressman. What I

think I was referring to is, to us, the success is to make the loan

current, avoid delinquency and foreclosure. If we come up with a

performing loan it becomes much more saleable on the private
market.
Mr. Retsinas. Exactly.
Mr. Watt. So there is a short period of time where the two

things—if you are selling nonperforming loans it may be inconsist-

ent, but
Mr. Retsinas. Not to belabor it, but certainly there is more value

to selling a performing loan.
Mr. Watt. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I am sorry I

took more time than allocated.
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Chairman GrONZALEZ. No, sir. Thank you. I appreciate very much
your interest and your performance on the subcommittee.

It is very difficult for me, having witnessed from the beginning
the founding of HUD, and having had exposure to both the old
FHA Commissioner during whose terms never once was there a
breath of scandal. It is most refreshing, Mr. Retsinas, to see, maybe
you have been here only 1 year, but the basic element of honesty
and forthrightness is very apparent and very much appreciated by
me. Because when we haven't had it, and it was noticeable, I was
excoriated. I was the first to denounce the encroachment of corrup-
tion in HUD, in 1981.

I was the first person to meet with then-appointed Secretary
Pearce, and was the first one to meet him immediately after his

confirmation by the Senate. I first met him in the case of one of

the so-called bailouts we had in this subcommittee, and I have been
involved in every one of them. He had been hired by Secretary
Connolly, and he was designated one of the four attorneys they
sent over to discuss with us the bailout package for Lockheed.
So I knew him. He came from the elite Wall Street law firms.

His background was upper class, an affluent family. Long Island.
I was most interested in meeting with him.

It was February 8, 1981, because we had just gotten from Mr.
Stockman, in the only appearance he ever made before a

nonbudgetary committee, to his regret it was our subcommittee,
the so-called black book which had been leaked out by the time Mr.

Reagan was sworn in on January 20. It indicating that 80 percent
of their recommended cutbacks or extinction of programs would be
in the area that the subcommittee had jurisdiction over.

My assumption of the chairmanship of the subcommittee coin-

cided with the assumption of the Reagan regime. So I wanted to

meet with Mr. Pearce, and he had indicated that. As soon as he
was confirmed, instead of my going over to see him, he came over
to see me in my little office here at that time. It was quite obvious
that we were going to be in for a difficult time.
Because in answer to a question, I asked Mr. Pearce as to what

his position was vis-a-vis 0MB Director Stockman, and his answer
was, no, no problem. I said, well, I am talking about the integrity
of the programs that you will be charged with administering, if it

comes down to who is going to be able to discuss with the Presi-
dent. And he said, there won't be any such thing because we are
all committed to the President's economic recovery plan, known as
ERP.
And so I figured we were, and Mr. Stockman's appearance before

this subcommittee, of which the written record is extant, clearly re-

vealed he had no knowledge of housing finance. I had had contact
with him when he was a Member of the House from Michigan. We
had a couple of encounters, but he was touted by the press, as it

often does, as a genius and an expert in financing and whatnot.
It is rather ironic that in his appearance before us to explain, he

pointed to the fact that he had the recommendations. First, as a

general premise, we hold to the belief that the country has an inor-
dinate sector of the economy for housing. Inordinate and exagger-
ated, it has to be cut back.
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So when I saw what he had pointed out, for a reduction of FHA,
I said, well, if we do what you want, I sav that by July 1, the Sec-

retary would have to send out an order that they wouldn't be able

to commit one penny's worth of insurance. He said, I don't know
why, there is $31 billion here.

At that point one of the aides tapped him on the shoulder and
by then he realized we weren't talking with defense financing. I

wasn't out to embarrass anybody, I just wanted to make sure we
would not underestimate the force of the threat to programs that
the Congress had established only after long and prolonged debate
and argument, such as FHA.

Nevertheless, the rest is history. But it was obvious by May of

that year, because one of the first mandates was to cut back, as

George Romney did when he assumed the Secretaryship of HUD in

1972, 1973, under Mr. Nixon, across-the-board cut in personnel.
One of the things Mr. Pearce did was to eliminate immediately the
in-house appraisal.

They also, at the same time Mr. Reagan did, appointed a gen-
tleman from Denver as his assistant or deputy. By May, I was re-

ceiving reports from the Dallas region to Pennsylvania raising
questions as to why appraisers from Denver were coming to Texas
and Pennsylvania on such things as FHA.
So we checked and found that that was the real goal of the Sec-

retary assistant. I had taken the Secretary's pledge when we met.
He said, here is a number, if you ever want to reach me directly.
So I did, and I couldn't get him. I then went through the assistant,
and the assistant couldn't get any reply. So then we had a period
of time in which throughout other areas, we got these same
reports.
Somehow or another, I don't know why, but the word must have

gotten out over there, and all of a sudden I had a request to meet
with this Secretary, named Wynn, from Denver. The last I heard
of him he was Ambassador to Luxembourg at the height of the gov-
ernment operations looking into Mr. Pearce, who is still scot-free,
even though everybody right underneath him has either been in-

dicted or convicted or both.
So it was quite distasteful for me, because at the same time he

disassembled one of the contracting associations that had been
^ormed for the first time, known as the first and only national His-

panic housing something or other. And so they came to see me:
Why, all of a sudden, they were being disbanded on the direct order
of Mr. Pearce? Again, I couldn't make contact, so I said there was
nothing I could do.

Anyway, it was sad when just a matter of 3 years later, and the
advent of a new Member from Milwaukee caused by the death of
Mr. Zablocki, who had been chairman of the Foreign Affairs Com-
mittee, a freshman, who had been on board 4 months, said, look,
I have a problem. The Milwaukee Journal has had daily exposes
about wrongdoing in the appraisal and the collusion of the private
realtor appraisers and some FHA officials.

So we took the subcommittee to Milwaukee. We had an all-day
hearing, but we had not been into the hearing over 3 hours before
it was obvious that we had received testimony, and evidentiary ma-
terial, showing culpability, criminal culpability. So as we had done
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before in other cases in committees I had belonged to such as Small

Business, at that time what we would do, we would refer it to the

Justice Department.
My recollection is there wasn't much of an inspector general. I

think in fact the inspector general' office was improved as a result

of these experiences.
So anyway, what happened was it led to the indictment and con-

viction of four individuals, two FHA officials out of the Chicago of-

fice and two local real estate dealers. Coincidental with that came
the push for such things as various schemes to substitute for public

housing, turnkey and what not, and also the demise of 235.

But then the appearance on the horizon under pressure, because
of the ideological

—the whole ideological spectrum, then as now,
was privatization. What I have always said is I believe in the pub-
lic ownership of the government. But there are those who believe

that we ought to have the private ownership of the government.
What the government has assumed since the Depression or the

1930's is certain tasks and responsibilities in responding to the
needs emerging from our society. It has therefore made a decision,
or the Congress has as a national policymaking body. From the be-

ginning of our country the creation of every single entity that made
it possible for the country to grow, the Panama Canal and all,

those were all government subsidized, one way or the other.

So the big question isn't, as it has been debated even to this day,
about the rightfulness or the wrongfulness of government to do

anything. The question is in behalf of HOME. That is the issue.

Well, we all know, as long as mankind has been around, that the

poor and the weak are not going to get attention unless something
else has happened. When I saw, for instance, the beginning, what
it took the committee going to Milwaukee, and then 2 years later,
in Flint, Michigan, had the same thing, there we didn't even have
the goal. We just brought it to the attention of the inspector gen-
eral, who inescapably, which then had it referred to the Justice De-

partment, and there you had the same thing, two indictments and
two convictions of officials of the Department.
So it was very disheartening. I have never had any pleasure out

of seeing anything or any person go wrong. It is sad, it is tragic,

unnecessary, whether it is Members of Congress or whether it is

private or what have you. But the thing I see is the breath of fresh
air and hope. I am not saying it just because you are here, but be-
cause the actions show that there is an honest acceptance, without
recrimination. One of the most tawdry things I ever felt about
President Reagan and even Bush later was that they never stopped
flagellating Jimmy Carter as a cause of all troubles, from car-

buncles to deficits. Always, even in departing they were still blam-

ing Jimmy Carter.

Let's look at the consequences which I was going to find out if

there are any statistics we have of the scandal of the Coinsurance

Program. Now, that was done fairly recently, in the late 1980's. I

think it was 1986, 1987. It was done because of the pressure from

mortgage bankers, or at least a segment of them, and the ideo-

logical holders of the public office at the time in the name of

privatization.
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But I knew the moment they went to such things as mod rehab,
that you are going to have scandal. Even in the section 312, in our
area a very successful rehab program, when you translate it into

local, and you can have the local development agency pick up on

rehabilitating a home, and you have to hire somebody, not a gov-
ernment official.

If any one of you has ever had any work done, built a house or

anything, you know what a struggle that is. So we went through
the local period in which 312's oiggest asset was that the local

managers were honest and were able to minimize the fraud. So
what is the continuing—if there is any way of ascertaining—the

continuing cost of the coinsurance scandal, because it is

cumulative?
Mr. Retsinas. Yes, it is. I will make a brief comment and per-

haps Mr. Craren has specific numbers.
In addition to the scandalous activity which you refer to, cer-

tainly a very significant cost of that was the continued liability of

the Federal Government to this day.
In our audit, in looking at our multifamily insurance portfolio,

the continued difficulties with coinsurance remains a major portion
of the amount of funds we have had to set aside to cover losses.

We are still disengaging from that debacle.

I think at a minimum, even though we are paying the price of

that debacle, we should learn from it. One of the ways we have
learned from it is in proposing new kinds of partnerships and ar-

rangements. We need to be more careful about who our partners
are.

For example, I believe that it is unlikely that the State and local

housing agencies are going to walk away. They are going to be
there for the long term. If we are careful who our partners are,
what their capacity is, what their resources are, what their will is,

I think we can find partners who will benefit and enhance our per-

formance, not detract from it.

I don't know whether Mr. Craren has any specific numbers as it

relates to the coinsurance share of the loan loss.

Mr. Craren. I don't have specifics, but it was over $1 billion and
the most surprising part of it was when mortgages were ultimately
assigned to HUD, underlying properties sometimes were worth 20
to 30 cents on the dollar, so coinsurance was a huge loss.

Chairman Gonzalez. Absolutely. See these values—for instance,
in my area, I have been aghast when they came out here with
Garn-St Germain. I was the only one that went to the Rules Com-
mittee to try to talk them down.

They had regulatory accounting standards and nobody could an-
swer that question so I wasn't about to—but that was concocted in

a summit conference.
It was just our chairman, Mr. St Germain, and Senator Gam,

and the reason I was aghast was because when I finally got a copy
of what they had, which was just on the eve of their going to the
Rules Committee and thanks to the then-chairman of the Rules

Committee, Mr. Pepper, I saw that 90 percent of that was in areas
that we had never had any hearings on, 2 percent equity kicker,
and it was all done in the name of saving the S&Ls. But in reality,
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it was the largest wholescale revision of the fundamental 1935

Banking Act since 1935.

It homogenized all the financial activities, credit unions, every-

body else. They were all banks now. So it wasn't long after that—
it had other things that I felt were inimical to the basic structural

foundation of the thrifts or S&Ls.

Anyway, it wasn't long when we went into this agitated market
and all of the contraptions they thought of such as GPMs. Grad-
uated mortgage payments, they called them back home right away,
GPMs because of the intricacy of the financing, by the time it went

through the New York processes back home, they were GPMs.
I got that fi'om back home and it wasn't a year before I started

getting evidence of land flips, and I couldn't get anybody on the

committee, the chairman or anybody else interested or the then-

chairman of the subcommittee, so I went to the House floor.

It is all in the records. I annotated where we had a businessman

asking me, "I thought this used to be against the law. I thought
they used to put you in the pen." I said, "For what?" He said,

"there are three guys that are organizing an S&L State charter."

He said "Others have already been formed. They asked me if I

wanted to come in. I said I have no money. They said no, but you
have 3,000 acres on the north side. They said that all you have to

do is just put that up."
He said "Henry, I paid less than $800 an acre, but when I got

scared was when they said they would put them down at $20,000
an acre."

So I said 'Well, why are you calling me? You are an experienced
businessman. You asked the question." I said, "I can't answer it be-

cause it may be legitimate."
Then the next case brought to my attention was all of this unde-

veloped land where this fellow went in and just blazed a little trail.

They put it in the books of the S&L as developed land. Therefore,
when the day of reckoning came, as it had to, the 1986 Tax, so-

called technical corrections Tax bill, did away with a lot of these

tax giveaways and so immediately between December 1986 and the

first quarter, March 15, 1987, real estate values had gone down 42

percent in my area.

Now, where did that all go? Well, later, I reported to the mayor—
thev didn't want to accept it—that 3 years in a row, San Antonio
had lost $1 billion of value of real estate. Where did it go? The way
I put it was if somebody had gone there and set a torch to 23 per-

cent, it would be the same thing. But we have gone through this

before.

In fact, it seems that after wars, you have this—after the Civil

War, you had the scandals of the 1869s, Jim Fisk, and the others,
and they did the same thing that Mr. Keating did in our time and
bankers are doing now except the day of reckoning hasn't hit them.
But it is about to, and so when all of a sudden all of this value

disappears, where did the money go?
Old Fisk said, well, it went where the woodbine twineth. In that

day and time, you know they didn't have inside plumbing. They
had the outhouses. And they would plant the woodbine because it

gave a very perfumy flower in order to countereffect the odor. So
what he was saying was that is where it went.
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In this case, though, where did it go? Where are we now?
This is the reason why the statement on page 10 of Mr. Craren's

testimony, it is important to provide some cautionary notes. First,

the large portion of expected improvements in the MMI Fund's cap-
ital ratio depends on the ultimate performance of insurance written
in 1992 and 1993.

Even though the current economic environment is more favorable
to FHA, the performance of these books of business will become
more certain only as actual default experience emerges.

Well, when do you think we could get some measurement of
these default experiences?
Mr. Craren. Well, we found typically, Mr. Chairman, that the

books season over a 5-to-7-year period, so we start to get meaning-
ful statistics after the 2nd, 3rd, and 4th years. In that timeframe.
Mr. Vento. Mr. Chairman, I think one of the phenomenons that

occurred during this economic period that you are talking about in

various areas were real estate values at least with regard to homes
there was some volatility is that often the FHA Program works in

a countercyclical manner.
So in the sense that it was restrained, it was not available to in

essence play an historic role in this. Most of the models used, 6 or

7 years, that is history. Only the Russians or historians can change
that. They are the most powerful people in the world, even more
powerful than God. They can change history.
What the model uses is it takes a worst-case scenario and a posi-

tive scenario, all of which are lined up in the material, in the sum-
mary. They do model that.

Chairman Gonzalez. I am sure that econometric models do the
best they can, but even there you had some differences as ex-

plained by Ms. Bridgers in that to a certain extent you said there
was a moderate difference between your model base and theirs.

The important thing here is, where are we now? Has this dried
out? Now we had in the middle 1970's clear indication, you had the

RIPT, the Real Estate Investment Trust scandals. I don't think
there was any more needed evidence that we were—but you know
if things seemed to be, for those who like us are relatively well off,

we don't worry about it.

It is like the Vietnam war syndrome. As long as it was a poor
kid across the tracks that was getting drafted, nobody gave much
of a hoot, but I was reporting that 45 percent of those were going
to get shot at in 1965. But later when the fatalities were coming
in and they had a draw and they started touching on some of the

upper middle class, then you began to get corporate chiefs calling
the President saying "Hey," like the Senator from Georgia, "Get on
or get out, but my son isn't going."
This is the same thing here. Now that the pressure is coming up,

and downward, the masses of our lower middle class pushed to the

poverty level now as the statistics reveal, we are beginning to see,
but still haven't felt.

My big problem is, I think, pretty much addressed by the concern

you expressed as to just what, and it has to be very, very excruciat-

ing to those that are trying to keep the congressional intent of the

program alive. And that is another big issue.
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But I wanted to end up by thanking Ms. Bridgers for her state-

ment on page 5. Clearly, the legislative and other program changes
have helped restore the fund's financial health and reversed the

trend of the late 1980's and early 1990's toward insolvency.
I appreciate getting that recognition. We don't often get it, but

I always recognize the bouquets.
Mr. Vento. I know that your statement was sort of a summary

statement in terms of trying to put this in perspective. One of the

factors as we push the envelope in terms of amount of downpay-
ment and loan-to-value ratio, Ms. Bridgers' testimony and others

reflected a similar note of caution, is that as the private sector

moves into a higher loan-to-value ratio, apparently there is discus-

sion of that.

There is always hope that as they move in that direction, that

increasingly the factors that are considered as to the risk assess-

ment of tne loan are not just the quantitative factors; that is, the

downpayment, but increasingly moving into qualitative factors.

A more obvious one is nousing counseling. If we counsel

somebody, we can make a loan that would not otherwise be

creditworthy.
In terms of audits and GAO and—I think Mr. Retsinas may be

willing to use that factor more so than the auditors to your left.

That is a concern.
If I am stating it incorrectly, I would be happy to be corrected

by Price Waterhouse or by GAO. Increasingly that is where we are

wandering. Some of this is common sense. As we push that enve-

lope, I don't know whether or not that is going to happen that the
FHA is going to lose its distinctiveness in having low down-

payments and others will be offering the same thing, I don't think.

There is a big niche there and hope. We are always into dem-
onstration and experimentation. It does, I think, reflect the need

to, as the chairman had indicated, to have a better administrative

capacity to be more responsive to the changes that are occurring,
rather dramatic changes in the market.
One of the keys has been that just as for a long period of time

age was a big factor in our economy, but housing has been one of

the real pillars I think of a healthy economy of this country. So as

far as is this a major component in that, along with other institu-

tional entities, like Fannie and Freddie today in making the sec-

ondary market, I think it becomes imperative that so goes housing
in a sense, so goes somewhat the health of the country.
The chairman raises questions about income levels, other types

of financing mechanisms, other types of loans, equity type of loans.

This is very much a concern and we can sit here and think up a
lot of different factors for you to try and put into those models, but

trying to find the key ones and those that make the difference is

wnat is most important to the members as we try to make some
decisions on this basis and make certain that in the end people can

buy a home.
That is what we are after and we want to do it in a competent

way. So far this fund has really performed. Most of us are pleased
that the cloud has moved on and hope that lessons were learned.

Certainly, the laws have been changed. The question, obviously,
that comes to mind is should that insurance that we collected,
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hopefully a lot of the refinancing, those are the same folks that
were benefiting from that, benefited from it.

In the past, many of us were concerned that home buyers were

going to have to carry the additional insurance for those that were
in the portfolio already, that they are paying a premium not be-

cause of their risk, but because of risk in the portfolio. We are talk-

ing about changing or reducing some of the insurance. If that be-

comes possible at least making it a better judgment.
The question is the up-front premium. That is a question that

should nave been asked for 12 years and no one here can answer
whether an up-front premium is better than collecting it on an an-
nual basis. That is a fundamental issue and my instinct tells me
that that doesn't help, that is a big problem in terms of loan-to-

value ratio and a lot of other things.
I was arguing on financing more on closing costs, not less, keep-

ing the low downpayment issue in place where they reduced up-
front premiums and risk premiums. Are they adequate and do they
work? Seems to me that there isn't a lot of options for some people
that go FHA.

If we hammer them with higher up-front premiums, basically
that is an overhead cost they shouldn't be paying. I get concerned
about that in the sense that we are making homeownership less af-

fordable and that becomes critical. We are involved quantitatively
and qualitatively trying to deal with refining or redefining that.

I am pleased that we are moving in a deliberate manner with the
information and I hope that that September report is not a shock
wave on the—in the order of magnitude that ends up causing a lot

of ruffling of feathers in terms of where we are going, so if there
is new information, I hope we have it in a timely manner so we
don't end up acting too hastily or imprudently.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Gonzai^z. I want to join you and say try to keep us

informed. That is the reason for this hearing. It has been very, very
helpful to us. The break for July will enable the staffs to do so
much technical drudgery that is never factored in by those that are
not involved in it.

We have to have Legislative Counsel perfect in accordance with
the proper statutory references and all the amendments that the
committee agreed to, and together with the minority and majority
staffs working together, we hope that we will have House action

very quickly after we come back on, I think it is now, July 12.

So this is most helpful, and by no means an indication that if

any new thought or information that you feel we should have
should be withheld. We don't mean for this to be a terminal point.

Actually, we can consider it the beginning of what we have to keep
on going the rest of this session.
So I want to thank each and every one of you very much for your

very great, very good, competent beyond any doubt, testimony and
information given us. And to wish you a good—I don't know that

you will get a break, the equivalent of the congressional break, but
I worked over on that side longer than I have on this side so I can
appreciate it.

But I am very grateful for your time and your patience. We have
gone through the lunch period.
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Thank you again very much and I wanted to thank the staffs,
Ms. Nancy Libson, the staff director over here; and Mr. Joseph
Ventrone and Vince Morelli who is with Mrs. Roukema on the
subcommittee.
So thank you very much and we will stand adjourned until fur-

ther call of the Chair.

[Whereupon, at 1:20 p.m., the hearing was adjourned.]
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APPENDIX

June 30, 1994

Hearing on the Actuarial Soundness
of the Federal Housing Administration's

Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund

Opening Statement

Chairman Henry B. Gonzalez

Subcommittee on Housing and Community Development
June 30, 1994

Today the Subcommittee on Housing and Community Development will hear testimony

as to the status of the FHA single family mortgage insurance fund as reflected in the

two most recent studies conducted by Price Waterhouse for the Department of

Housing and Urban Development. The Actuarial Review for Fiscal Year 1993 of the

FHA Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund was released on May 31,1 994 and the FHA's

Audit of FY 1993 Financial Statements was issued on June 8, 1994. We will also

hear from the General Accounting Office on its mandated actuarial analysis of the

Fund.

From a preliminary review of these reports, it is clear that they recognize a substantial

improvement in the solvency of the single family fund. It is my understanding that the

capitol ratio through FY 1993 has reached 1.44%. and the projected capitol ratio for

FY 2000 is 3.40% Obviously, the Fund has exceeded the 1 .25% capitol ratio required

to have been met by the end of FY 1992 as well as has exceeded the 2.0% ratio

required to be met by FY 2000.

While I understand that the status of the fund is improving, the Congress is in the

midst of passing legislation that will increase the authority of the FHA as it applies to
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the single family program which will have an impact on the Fund. I hope that today's

testimony will address the anticipated effect of those initiatives on the future solvency

of the MMI Fund.

On a different note, I hope that the testimony will also address my concern as to

whether the FHA has the capacity to administer the initiatives as proposed in the

housing reauthorization bill. The report on the financial statements recognizes four

material weaknesses in the FHA. These weaknesses have been revealed in years past

and yet have not been resolved. I am aware of the budget constraints and the staff

shortages facing HUD; however, the future status of the fund depends on HUD

resolving or mitigating these problems. I hope that the Congress receives a

commitment from the Department to address these weaknesses before we move

forward in expanding the FHA single family program.

With that, I want to thank the witnesses for appearing before the Subcommittee. I

look forward to your testimony.
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OPENING STATEMENT FOR CONGRESSMAN BOBBY L. RUSH
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Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Earlier this month, during our full committee markup of this

Congress' housing bill, my fellow committee members and I spent a great deal of time discussing

and agonizing over some substantial changes in the way that the FHA does business. .A.I1 of these

proposals, including my amendment to income target the FHA's operations, had some potential

effect on the soundness of the FHA's Mumal Mortgage Insurance Fund. It remains to be seen

what the effect of those provisions in this year's bill will have, especially in light of the fact that

the changes that we have included in the bill were not taken into account in any of the analyses

that we wiU discuss this morning. While I am heartened by some of the projections wliich our

witnesses wiU report to us today, I am still very concerned about the distance that the FHA has to

travel before it is possible to say that it is a well-managed arm of HUD. I am concerned alx)ut the

high default rates on FHA loans, in particular in my district but also in many other areas of the

country, and the effect that tJiese continued defaults will have not only on the MMI fund but on the

communities iu which those defaulted properties sit and rot. And 1 am concerned about the

distance that the FHA must travel before it can be legitimately said that the it is fulfilling its

original mission of helping low- and moderate- income Americans to achieve the American dream

of homeownership. Thank you.
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STATEMENT OF

NICOLAS P. RETSINAS

ASSISTANT SECRETARY FOR HOUSING-
FEDERAL HOUSING COMMISSIONER

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT

On the Actuarial Review
for Fiscal Year 1993

of the

Federal Housing Administration's

Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund

Before The
SUBCOMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

COMMITTEE ON BANKING, FINANCE AND URBAN AFFAIRS
U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

Juno 30, 1994

Introduction

I would first like to thank the distinguished Chairman, Mr. Gonzalez,
and Members of this Subcommittee for giving me this opportunity to

come before you today to report on the results of an independent
actuarial analysis of the economic value and soundness of the Federal

Housing Administration's Mutual Mortgage Insurance (MMI) Fund.

The requirement for an independent actuarial analysis of the Fund
is set forth in the Cranston-Gonzalez National Affordable Housing Act

(NANA).
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Factors Contributing to Positive Trends

There are six principal causes of tlie increase in the capital position
of the Fund:

1 . A favorable interest rate environment, combined with

efforts to make FHA programs more customer-friendly,
resulted in the second highest level of endorsements in

history ($65,165 billion) in fiscal year 1993.

2. A positive economic environment. The number of

claims paid declined due to more favorable economic
conditions.

3. Major modifications in management policies that

focus FHA resources on market demand and customer

service.

4. Changes in the FHA's refund policy that are now
consistent with the risk curve specified in previous
actuarial studies.

5. Increase in the level of prepayments. Prepayments,

specifically those prepaying out of the Fund, had the

largest effect on the Fund's improved status, increasing
the estimated fiscal year 1993 economic value by
$1,201 billion.

These unexpectedly high prepayments, which are due
to lower interest rates, dramatically increased the

estimated economic value, because the Fund avoids

paying claims in the future on loans that prepay, paying

only a small refund of the upfront premiums. Given that

many of these mortgages were high-risk loans that

entered the fund during the mid-to-late 1980s, the claims

avoided were substantial
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6. Economic forecast. The forecast for the economy is

currently more favorable with regard to claims than last

year's forecast, resulting in an additional $869 million of

estimated economic value.

Actions to Ensure Continued Soundness

We know our work is not over. We take very seriously the need to

continue and improve financial management of the FHA's single family

program to ensure its soundness. Our agenda includes:

Continued aggressive monitoring of the portfolio and

mortgagees who participate in the Direct Endorsement

Program and as servicers of the loans that FHA ensures.

More effective default monitoring mechanisms and

improvements in the management of our portfolios.

Technological enhancements, such as electronic data

interchange, to make HUD's processing more efficient, while

improving the quality and timeliness of the data on the

condition of the portfolio.

Administrative and program improvements to attract

mortgagors over the full spectrum of risk.

Illustrative of this latter point is HUD's legislative proposal to raise

the maximum limit for high cost areas from $151,725 to 85 percent of the

Fannie Mae/Freddie Mac limit (calculated to be about $172,675 based on

present figures).

Price Waterhouse has provided information on FHA which shows
that larger loan sizes have low claim rates. Raising the ceiling will also

allow HUD to meet the credit needs of low- and moderate-income
Americans who currently are not well sensed by the private market.
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We hope that the soundness of FHA's Mutual Mortgage Insurance

Fund encourages the Congress to adopt the single fannily proposals

contained in HUD's Housing Choice and Community Investment Act of

1994.

New Program Initiatives

While financial soundness is a major goal of our FHA agenda, I am

deeply concerned that FHA's single family program has suffered serious

market decline over the past decade.

I am particularly alarmed at a recent General Accounting Office

report which shows that the percentage of FHA's borrowers to all home

buyers declined from a high of 30.7 percent in 1976 to only 23.8 percent

in 1991 . The study also shows that FHA's percentage of originations in

urban neighborhoods declined from a high of 58 percent in 1979 to 41

percent in fiscal year 1991.

Housing Choice and Community investment Act

In response to this concern, Secretary Cisneros transmitted the

"Housing Choice and Community Investment Act of 1994" to the

Congress on April 26, 1994. The Act contained a number of initiatives

designed to revitalize and streamline FHA and provide wider

opportunities for homeownership. The initiatives included:

A new mortgage insurance program for revitalization areas.

Under the program, FHA would provide 100 percent financing

to modest income, first-time home buyers in revitalization

areas.

An increase in tlie FHA mortgage limits, tying them to an

index. The increases would allow the Department to better

serve a broad range of home buyers, including buyers in

relatively high cost areas, who could not purchase a home
because of downpayment requirements.
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A demonstration program which would authorize FHA to

insure a variety of alternative mortgage instruments as well as

authorize FHA to enter into risk sharing arrangements with

GSE's, State and local agencies, and other entities in order to

provide affordable housing.

A single family risk sharing program with State and local

housing finance agencies. Under the program, FHA would
risk share with State and local agencies operating insurance

programs.

Broader housing and homeownership counseling authority

designed to increase the success rate of families seeking

homeownership.

A specialized refinancing program and a non-judicial
foreclosure process for assigned mortgages in the

management and servicing area.

As Secretary Cisneros has stated, the overall program was created

to "make HUD's Federal Housing Administration a positive force for

enhancing homeownership .... and give FHA the authority to innovate."

In addition, the Department is considering the following changes
which would be useful to FHA:

Authorization for delegation of endorsement processing to

certain approved lenders in the direct endorsement program
to relieve existing backlogs in FHA.

Simplification of the calculation of maximum insurable

mortgage amounts to facilitate underwriting.

Extension of the Home Equity Conversion Mortgage
(HECM) demonstrations to expand FHA's assistance to

elderly home owners with modest incomes so they may
remain in their homes through the use of reverse mortgages.
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Conclusion

The Federal Housing Administration has served as the cornerstone

of America's housing market. There have been setbacks, such as the

financial challenges of the 1980s and that is a valuable lesson to us all.

But today, I am pleased that FHA's basic single family program is

financially sound and is projected to continue to be sound.

With this comfort, we can turn our immediate attention to our

customers and our prospective customers and seek ways of making FHA
more affordable, more accessible to all Americans, particularly low- and

moderate-income and central city families who without FHA would not be

able to achieve the American dream of home ownership.

I see FHA's greatest potential being its ability to leverage other

capital for public purposes-primarily through partnerships. With this in

mind, I have been asked by the Secretary to conduct a six-month study

of FHA's structure and capacity to form these partnerships.

The study will include a series of six forums around the country to

discuss the future of FHA. These forums will bring together HUD and its

employees and union representatives with residents, housing advocates,

housing providers, builders, realtors, mortgage bankers, the secondary
market as well as state and local governments to talk about FHA's

organizational structure, and how it either helps or hinders partnerships.

The forums will begin in late July and run through early August.

Tentatively, we have scheduled these meetings for Detroit, Charlotte,

Denver, San Jose, New York City and Washington, DC.

These discussions will help us remove bureaucratic barriers that

limit the effectiveness of FHA. Ultimately, we want to transform FHA to

meet America's housing needs in the 1990s and beyond, while ensuring

that the MMI Fund remains adequately capitalized.

Near the end of the calendar year, I will then make
recommendations to Secretary Cisneros based on these conversations.
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It is possible that the recommendations may form the basis for a new
federal charter for FHA, a charter that will reaffirm its mission and recast

FHA's structure, powers, and authority.

Our goal is to ensure that, when the transformation is complete,
FhHA will be a first-class institution with the same tools used by the best-

managed businesses and other comparable organizations. FHA will then

be in a position to fulfill its mission to expand housing choice and

support communities by helping create partnerships that develop and

preserve affordable housing. FHA will once again become a positive

force for increasing homeownership and affordable housing opportunities

for all Americans.
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FY
FY
FY
FY
FY

89
90
91
92
93

Current Year

1.19%
-.88%
-.04%
.43%

1.44%

Projected FY 2000

1.12%
2.19%
2.44%
3.40%
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From Chairman Henry B. Gonzalez
Question for

Assistant Secretary Nicolas Retsinas
Hearing on the Actuarial Soundness of the FHA MMI Fund

June 30, 19 94

In your own words, please explain how the single family risk
sharing program as proposed by the Department and as amended by the
Committee will expand housing opportunities in high cost areas, and
exactly how the program will be implemented at the State and local
levels .
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Assistant Secxetary Retsinas' response to

QUESTION FROM CHAIRMAN GONZALEZ
Heaxing on Actuarial Soundness of the FHA MMI Fund
June 30, 1994

Q. In your own words, please explain how the single family risk
sharing program as proposed by the Department and amended by
the Committee will expand housing opportunities in high cost
areas and exactly how the program will be implemented at the
State and local level.

A. Originally, the Department proposed two risk sharing
initiatives . One was broad authority for a demonstration
program to share risk with various housing providers,
including State and local agencies and GSE's; the other was
a specific program for risk sharing with State and local
agencies operating (or which could operate) insurance
programs for affordable housing. H.R. 3838 contains the
latter proposal, but with certain amendments which will
undermine its effectiveness.

The Department's proposal for single family risk sharing
with State and local agencies was designed to do two things.
First, the program addressed the needs of homebuyers in
relatively high cost areas by coupling the FHA program with
the State or local program which served these buyers . The
prospective buyers would have the advantage of FHA
downpayment terms, unless State requirements were stricter,
and the State would have the advantage of credit
enhancement, therefore making its program marketable on the
secondary market .

Second, the program was proposed as a demonstration of the
effectiveness of forging partnerships with other housing
providers. The terms of the program limited FHA exposure by
mandating that the State take the top portion of the loss up
to a set amount; but, by the same token, State insurance
reserves could be stretched farther, and more people could
be served under the State program, because of the FHA
involvement. In addition, the program could be operated by
the State agency, for example, so that the Department could
take advantage of their delivery system, including functions
relating to loan servicing and property disposition. This
is a desirable approach, given the constraints on HUD
resources .

Under the proposal, HUD would be authorized to do business
with a State or local agency which could demonstrate that it
had the legal and financial capacity to operate a sound
mortgage insurance program. Agreements would be negotiated
with each prospective partner, establishing the risk assumed
by each agency and the premiums to be shared. In addition,
the State or local agency would agree to assume processing
functions, including loan management and property
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disposition, and would have to use underwriting standards at
least as stringent as those of FHA. These underwriting
standards would be subject to HUD approval, and HUD could
negotiate changes to the standards prior to approving an

agency for participation in the program.

FHA could insure up to its maximum loan limit (but not in
excess of 80% of value of the property) and the State, for
example, would assume the risk on the rest of the
obligation. In the case of a default and foreclosure, the
lender would file a claim with the State or local agency,
and the agency would pay the claim. FHA would reimburse the
State or local agency for the amount by which the claim
exceeded the amount insured by the State or local agency.

H.R. 3838 amends the proposal and creates serious flaws in
the approach. First, the bill limits the amount which the
State and HUD can insure to 35% of the obligation. Because
of the perceived risk of these loans, which are likely to
have relatively high loan to value ratios, the secondary
market will not be willing to "self-insure" the other 65% of
the obligation unless they charge a substantial guaranty
fee. These fees are likely to have a chilling effect on the
program and preclude partnership demonstrations. It is very
unlikely that any entity would expend the resources to gear
up for a program which would prove to be unmarketable.

Second, the House version of the program includes
discretionary authority for the State or local agency to lay
off their share of the risk on a private mortgage insurer.
The discretionary nature of the provision means that this
could be done without HUD review. This has destructive
effects on the process of establishing risk sharing
agreements (the agreement must include a firm delineation of
the actual risk assumed by each party) , and does not fit the
claims process, where HUD is to reimburse the State or local
entity under the current language. The current language
makes no provision for a third party.

Because of the amendments, it is possible that the program
could not be implemented if enacted in its current form.
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Questions from Congresswcroan Marge Roukema

Thursday, June 30, 1994

Hearing on the Actuarial Soundness of the Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund (MMIF)

Questions for Mr. Retsinas. FHA Commissioner/Asst. Secretary for Housing

1 . Congratulations, Mr. Commissioner, on meeting the Congressionally mandated capital ratio

standard of 1.25%. I read with enthusiasm your News Release that cites the capital ratio

standards for 1993 as evidence that the MMIF is actuarially sound. I would like to ask. however,

based on your comments and testimony on July 27, 1993 before this Subcommittee on the same

subject, whether we know the true picture of the MMIF. You stated on July 27, 1 993, in part, and

I quote:

It is important to note, however, that the targets mandated by statute are the product of

negotiations on reforms and are arbitrary to some extent, since no one can define with

precision what constitutes a completely sound and healthy fund. They are simply one

measure of soundness arrived at during a period of intense concern about credit

management. (See Page 6 of Heanng Transcript, July 27, 1993.)

You also mention, during that July 27, 1993 hearing that you were concerned that heavy

refinance activity may cause significant run-off of good/less risky loans from the FHA, and

therefore create a mutual mortgage insurance fund of adverse selection.

a. Given last year's statement, do you feel that the capital ratio standards are arbitrary and

do not establish, on its own, the complete picture of the actuarial soundness of the MMIF?

b. If you are consistent with last year's testimony, would you say that given the uncertainty

in refinance activity, coupled with serious material weaknesses as identified in the IG/Price

Waterhouse Audit, a more comprehensive picture of the actuarial soundness of the MMIF

could be drawn?

c. To sum it up, we have a fund that met a capital ratio that you claimed was arbitrary, and

we have compelling evidence to indicate that FHA suffers from a severe shortage of staff

resources and administrative tools, including data management, in addition to uncertain

assumptions noted in the Actuarial Study. Given that scenario, while being consistent

your remarks last year, what is the actual true condition of the Mutual Mortgage Insurance

Fund?

2. You are commended for being proactive and focusing on an internal six-month study of

FHA's structure and capacity to form public/private partnerships. You state on page 8, of your

written testimony, that the study will form a basis for recommendations that possibly create a new

federal charter for FHA, which will reaffirm its mission and recast FHA's structure, powers, and

authority.
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a. While I think it is safe to say that all of us agree that FHA should be reviewed, your

statement implies that you will be expecting significant changes to FHA, which may go

beyond the mere reaffirmation of FHA public policy. Given your statement, what are you

expecting, in terms of legislative recommendations and activity for this Subcommittee in

six months?

b. You mention that the public forums, which are a part of this study, will "help us [FHA]
remove bureaucratic barriers that limit the effectiveness of FHA." What do you expect will

be discovered? Will the removal of bureaucratic barriers, which sounds very similar to

"regulatory relief", require consultation with the Subcommittee and legislative action? Or,

on the alternative, are these barriers removed through administrative action?

c. Because you emphasize the study's objective to "reaffirm" FHA's mission, who will be

making this determination of what to reaffirm? I think a broader questions is how do we
know what to reaffirm when the debate over the past few months centers on the issue of

FHA's public policy mission, intended population, and desired benefit to the American

society?

3. You cite the FHA's achievement of exceeding the required capital ratio standard of 1 .25%.

In fact this year's capital ratio is calculated at 1 .44%, exceeding the mandate. On the other hand,

the MMIF's excess of revenues over expenses fell 96% from 292 million in FY 92 to only $12
million in FY 93.

a. Why did the MMIF's revenues over expenses fall significantly in one year?

b. What is the role and impact of foreclosures, as they relate to the MMIF during the last

year? Why are foreclosure such a problem for FHA? How will FHA handle the increasing

number of foreclosures that are bound to occur when its business is increased after the

new housing bill is enacted?

4. The IG/Price Waterhouse states that there will be a study of loans in default that are held

by FHA and says that "only when this study is complete will HUD be able to asses the long-term
outlook for operations of the single family program." (Page 13 of Audit)

a. Please explain this statement.

b. How serious is the rapid increase in these defaulted loans?

c. What are these loans likely to be? When will the losses be realized.

5. The MMIF operations have a negative cash flow that increased from $-143 million in FY
92 to $-163 million in FY 93.

a. Please explain how the MMIF can show a balance statement "in the black" while the

operations appear to have a negative cash flow?
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What are the sources of funds to cover the operations of the MMIF, given the operation's

revenue loss?

6. The IG/Price Waterhouse Audit indicates continued operational problems for FHA,

including insufficient staffing and administrative resources, the need to place more emphasis on

early warning and loss prevention, the need to resolve defaulted single-family FHA loans, and the

need to improve automated systems.

a.
_

Do you agree with the Audit that identified these deficiencies in the operation of FHA?

b. If so, what would you estimate as the necessary staff and resources needed today, right

now, to manage effectively FHA's business?

c. As a follow-up, given the expansion of FHA, what resources will you need, in terms of raw

numbers for employee increases and administrative sources to manage the expansion?

d. In all likelihood, what is HUD's intent in meeting your staffing and administrative needs to

meet the FHA expansion as a competent business enterprise?
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Assistant Secretary Retsinas' responses to

QUESTIONS FROM CONGRESSWOMAN ROUKEMA
Hearing on the Actuarial Soundness of the FHA MMI Fund
June 30, 1994

Q.la. Given last year's statement (that the targets mandated
by the statute are the product of negotiations on
reforms and are arbitrary to some extent) , do you feel
that the capital ratio standards are arbitrary and do
not establish, on their own, the complete picture of
the actucirial soundness of the MMIF?

A. la. Congress, or any other body that regulates financial
institutions, such as the FDIC, the Federal Reserve, or
State regulatory agencies, must balance the effects of
higher capital ratios on financial leverage and public
benefits against the increased risk associated with
lower capital ratios. There is no such thing as an
optimal capital ratio for all institutions in all
circumstances. Instead, regulatory bodies attempt to
identify the appropriate balance for each institution,
given the risks to which it is exposed and the public
benefits it provides.

When Congress decided in 1990 on capital ratios for
FHA, it followed a deliberative process in which just
such a weighting occurred. The ratios were derived
after analysis of the condition of the MMIF--and they
represent an informed choice. There could, of course,
have been other measures chosen and any measure could
reflect a different methodology or could simply be a

slightly higher or slightly lower number. This is the
point of last year's testimony.

The Department is satisfied both with the measures of
capital requirements and that the Mutual Mortgage
Insurance Fund is sound. Price Waterhouse attested to
this in the actuarial review for FY 1993. The
conclusion has been supported by GAG.

Q.lb. If you are consistent with last year's testimony, would
you say that given the uncertainty in refinance
activity, coupled with serious material weaJcnesses as
identified in the IG/Price Waterhouse Audit, a more
comprehensive picture of the actuarial soundness of the
MMIF could be drawn?

A. lb. The Price Waterhouse review of the soundness of the
MMIF was comprehensive and concluded that the fund was
sound. They indicated that at the end of FY 1993 the
MMIF achieved a capital ratio 1.44 percent, in excess
of the statutory requirement. The General Accounting
Office (GAO) confirmed the Price Waterhouse work. GAO
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estimated under its baseline estimate that the MMIF had
a capital ratio of 1.83 percent at the end of FY 1993.
The Price Waterhouse estimates of economic value and
capital ratios reflect the best, objective estimates
based upon economic data from an independent and
respected source (DRI).

In conducting the actuarial review of the fund for FY
199 3, Price Waterhouse examined the concerns about
refinancing activity, and the impact of that activity
on adverse selection, and found that the evidence
indicated that refinancings contributed to the
improvement in the financial condition of the fund.
Under every reasonable scenario about the impact of
adverse selection, the trend toward improvement was
observed. Price Waterhouse found that:

o The MMIF will comfortably exceed the 2.0 percent
capital ratio under all scenarios;

o The MMIF achieves the 1.25 percent capital ratio
no later than FY 1994 in all but the most
extremely negative scenarios.

To the extent that weaknesses noted in the audit of FHA
exist, the actuarial review implicitly factors in their
existence in the fund's performance. Although many of
the weaknesses identified relate to multifamily
mortgage insurance, and thus to the General Insurance
Fund, there are clear weaknesses involving the single
family programs which were identified in the audit and
which FHA has been addressing. Partly as a result of
this work and the work identified in the future, FHA
received a clean opinion from its auditors for FY 1993.

Q.lc. To sum it up, we have a fund that met a capital ratio
that you said was arbitrary, and we have compelling
evidence to indicate that FHA suffers from a severe
shortage of staff resoiirces and administrative tools,
including data management, in addition to uncertain
assumptions noted in the actuarial review. Given that
scenario, while being consistent with your remarks last
year, what is the actual true condition of the Mutual
Mortgage Insurance Fiind?

A.lc. To sum it up, the Price Waterhouse Actuarial Review of
the Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund for FY 199 3 found
that at the end of FY 1993 the MMIF has a capital ratio
of 1.44 percent and an economic value of $4,554
billion. The review further estimated that at the end
of FY 2000 the MMIF would have a capital ratio of 3.40
percent and an economic value of $15,254 billion. The
review included sensitivity analyses to provide
additional information regarding the entire range of

possible outcomes under differing circumstances. Under
all scenarios, including the most pessimistic, the MMIF
will comfortably exceed the statutory capital ratio
requirement for FY 2000.
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RESPONSE TO QUESTIONS

2(a) If I knew precisely what reconunendations would result from
this study and would be accepted by the Secretary, there
would be no need for the study. The Secretary was not being
disingenuous when he said that there was no preconceived
conclusion.

However, both the Secretary and I do believe that FHA faces
serious problems in: (1) addressing today's management
weaknesses; and (2) becoming a partner that is capable of
leveraging private capital to meet our nation's unmet
housing needs. Addressing these problems may require
significant changes, particularly changes that would give
FHA more flexibility to react to changing market conditions
and housing needs and to use its resources in cost-efficient
ways. The purpose of the study is to determine what
changes, if any, would help to address these problems.

At the end of this year, I will make recommendations to the
Secretary, which may include legislative proposals. If the
Secretary accepts those recommendations, he may chose to
forward those proposals to the Subcommittee for your
consideration next year.

2(b) Since I do not know what ideas will be generated from the
forums, I cannot be sure whether resulting proposals will
require legislation or if they will require only
administrative action. In any case, however, HUD will
consult with the Subcommittee about any proposals that
result.

2(c) The eight forums on the Future of FHA provide an excellent
opportunity to explore publicly the mission of FHA. At each
forum, we will ask a wide array of HUD program participants
and beneficiaries as well as industry representatives and
housing advocates for their reaction to our working draft
mission statement:

To expand choice and support communities by
helping partners to attract and retain
capital for the development and preservation
of affordable housing.

I look forward to learning from the reactions of forum
participants. During the study, I also will seek the
reaction of members of Congress. I expect, however, that
the real debate will not be about the mission, but about how
FHA should try to accomplish the mission. In any event, any
recommendations requiring legislation will come to the
Congress for consideration, at which time the underlying
objectives may be subject to further hearings, review, and
debate .
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Q.3a. The MMIF's net income fell from $292 million in FY 1992
to only $12 million in FY 1993. Why did the MMIF
revenues over expenses fall significantly in one year.

A. 3a. The financial audit showed that during FY 1993 revenues
increased $67 million while expenses increased $347
million. On the surface, the increase in expenses
appears to be attributable to an increase in the cost
of holding and selling properties owned by HUD. In
fact, these expenses were the same in both FY 1992 and
1993.

The increase in expenses for FY 1993 is due to a prior
year adjustment made by the auditors for FY 1992. The
prior year adjustment reduced the property expense
account by almost $300 million because the auditors
determined that reserves established in the prior year
were no longer necessary. Unfortunately, a reader
without knowledge of the prior year adjustment would
mistakenly assume a decline in the health of the fund,
and this is not accurate.

In fact, the current audit shows an MMIF equity
position of $1.2 billion.

Q.3b. What is the role and impact of foreclosures as they
relate to the MMIF during the last yecir? Why are
foreclosures such a problem for FHA? How will FHA
handle the increasing number of foreclosures that is
bound to occur after the new housing bill is enacted?

A. 3b. VJhen a mortgage company wishes to file a claim on a
defaulted FHA loan, in most cases it will first
foreclose and then convey title to the property to HUD
in exchange for insurance benefits. Over 80% of FHA
claims occur in this fashion.

The remaining claims occur when mortgages are assigned
to HUD through the assignment program. Under this
program, under certain conditions HUD agrees to take
over the defaulted loan from the lender and provide a
period of forbearance to the mortgagor. If this
doesn't work out, HUD would then foreclose.

Generally, claims were proportionately lower last year;
and, the rate of FHA loans on which foreclosures were
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initiated changed little from the fourth quarter of
1992 to the fourth quarter of 1993, at about .5%. Of
course, FHA makes allowance for losses in its financial
statements and incurs staff expense in terms of
handling foreclosures where HUD forecloses.

Foreclosures are a problem because they are simply hard
to process, demanding substantial staff time and
coordination with other agencies. Backlogs in
foreclosure processing have arisen, and to remedy this
problem the Department has proposed, and the House and
Senate reauthorization bills have included, a non-
judicial single family foreclosure process which could
streamline the process and save the Department (and the
MMIF) money.

HUD believes that additional business generated from
the increase in mortgage limits will be sound, and that
new proposals such as the proposals for a non-judicial
foreclosure process and for authority to streamline
refinance assigned mortgages will actually help the
Department in this area. In addition, as the IG/Price
Waterhouse audit notes on page 18, HUD will consider
alternatives to foreclosure, if the study of assigned
mortgages supports such an approach, and is evaluating
its pre-foreclosure sale demonstration to determine the
prospect of expanding that program.

As you know, the House bill does not include the
insurance program for revitalization areas, the only
new initiative for which the HUD FY 1995 Budget Request
requested credit subsidy. In effect, HUD does not
believe the impact will be large.

Q.4a. The IG/Price Waterhouse Audit states that there will be
a study of loans in default that are held by FHA and
says that "only when this study is complete will HUD be
able to assess the long term outlook for operations in
the single family program.

" Please explain this
statement .

A. 4a. The statement refers to the Department's single family
assignment program, authorized under Section 230 of the
National Housing Act. Under the program, HUD may
accept assignment of a defaulted loan from a lender if
the loan is in default due to temporary circumstances
beyond the mortgagor's control and there are reasonable
prospects that the mortgagor can resume payments under
the note at the end of 36 months. During the period of
assistance, the mortgagor makes payments under a
forbearance agreement.

Over the years, the Department's portfolio of assigned
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defaulted mortgages has grown considerably. This has

presented a challenge to the Department's ability to

manage such assets and has been a drain on limited
staff resources.

The study referred to in the audit was undertaken by
the Office of Policy Development and Research to assess
the costs (and benefits) associated with loans in the

assignment program and whether these costs are, on

average, greater than those associated with
conventional claims. The results of the study will be

integrated into financial projections and also will
allow the Department to consider changes to the program
which would help to reduce costs, meet the purposes of
the legislation in a more efficient way, and help
resolve any material weaknesses.

Q.4b. How serious is the rapid increase in these defaulted
loans.

A. 4b. It is serious. HUD's portfolio of assigned single
family mortgages has more than doubled during the last
six years. As of June 30, 1994, HUD held 107,898
single family notes. This inventory will be reduced

upon completion of the sale of 15,211 notes which was
held on June 29, 1994.

The cost of servicing these loans and the staff time
devoted to this activity is expensive. Until the study
of assigned mortgages is complete, the true cost of

managing this type of portfolio is unclear. It should
be noted that the bulk of the single family notes sold
at auction were not the assigned defaulted notes from
the assignment program, which demand the most work, but
were current notes assigned to the Department pursuant
to Section 221(g)(4) of the National Housing Act, a

special provision allowing assignments of performing,
current mortgages after 20 years.

Therefore, the Department has planned for other
actions, in addition to note sales, for improving the

servicing of the portfolio. These include improved
portfolio and lender monitoring, technological
improvements, and the HUD legislative proposal to allow
streamlined refinancing of assigned mortgages. The
audit report describes some of these activities on

pages 17-18.

Q.4c. What are these loans likely to be? When are losses
realized?

A. 4c. There are about 12,000 single family assignments a year
and most of the loans are in arrears for several months
at the time of assignment. Allowances for losses on
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assigned mortgages are made on the financial
statements, depending on the status of the loan—that
is, whether it is performing or non-performing. Actual
losses are realized after the mortgage has been
foreclosed by HUD.

Q.5a. The MMIF operations have a negative cash flow that
increased from -$143 mallion in FY 1992 to -$163
million in FY 1993. Please explain how the MMIF can
show a balance sheet "in the black" while operations
appear to have a negative cash flow?

A. 5a. While the net cash used by operations increased by $20
million to $163 million, FHA is authorized to and has
used interest income earned to offset operating costs.
Cash provided by investing activities increased by over
$550 million in FY 1993 resulting in an overall
increase in cash of over $475 million.

Q.5b. What are the sources of funds to cover the operations
of the MMIF, given the operation's revenue loss?

A. 5b. In FY 1993, revenues exceeded expenses for the MMIF.
The sources of income to the MMIF include: up-front and
annual premium income; interest income from investments
in Treasury securities; interest income from loans; and
miscellaneous fees.

Q.6a. The IG/Price Waterhouse Audit indicates continued
operational problems for FHA including insufficient
staffing and administrative resources, the need to

place more emphasis upon early warning and loss
prevention, the need to resolve defaulted single family
loans , and the need to Improve automated systems . Do
you agree that the audit identified these deficiencies
in the operation of FHA?

A. 6a. Yes. The audit was constructive in identifying areas
where improvement in FHA single family operations was
needed. As you know, FHA has been working for some
time to address each area of weakness, and these
efforts are described in the audit on pages 13, 17, 23
and 26. Because of the work HUD has done and has
planned, FHA received a clean opinion from its auditors
for FY 1993.

Q.6b/c. What would you estimate as the necessary staff and
resources needed today, right now, to manage FHA
business effectively? Given the expansion of FHA, what
resources will you need, in terms of raw numbers of

employee increases and administrative resources, to
manage the expansion?
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A.6b/c. The HUD Budget Request for FY 1995 contains the
estimated resources needed to manage FHA now and in the
future. The request included:

Field Staff: 5,375 FTE
Headquarters Staff: 965 FTE
Travel: $3,826 million
S&E Contracts: $3,140 million

In addition, FHA is assessing more efficient ways of

operating so that currently planned programs can be
accommodated by the requested resources .

Q.6d. In all likelihood, what is HUD's intent in meeting your
staffing and administrative needs to meet the FHA
expansion as a competent business enterprise.

A.6d. As indicated by the answer question #2, the Department
is pursuing a focused effort to identify ways in which
the FHA structure and delivery system can be improved
so that it can fulfill its mission as a modern,
competent organization. The results of this inquiry,
which include forums around the country, will be
reported by the end of the year.
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FROM CONGRESSMAN BOBBY L. RUSH

QIIESTIONS FOR NICHOLAS RETSINAS, ASSISTANT SECRETARY FOR HOUSING - FHA

COMVnSSIONER, HUD:

1. Has the FHA, or any other body to your knowledge, ever done a detailed analysis of the effect

which income targeting would have on the soundness of the MMI fund?

2. While I understand that the maximum high cost FHA limit has been raised several times in the past

four to five years, docs the FHA have enough experience with these loans to predict how the new

increase which this committee included in this yeai's bill can be expected to affect the long term

stability of the fund?

3. According to information that I have received from the National Training and Information Center,

Chicago leads the nation in level of FHA mortgage defaults. During the period between January of

1985 and October of 1991, there were nearly 6500 defaults and almost 2200 foreclosures in the

Chicago metropolitan statistical area, at a cost to taxpayers of over S350 million Unfortunately, a

large proportion of these bad loans were on properties in my congressional district. In fact, in one

neighborhood. West Englewood, well over 20% of the loans went bad. While I understand that the

FHA does not originate these loans, what has been done and what can be done to improve, for

example, the performance of one mortgage company which had a more than .'50% failure rate for FHA

loans in West Englewood?
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Assistant Secretary Retsinas' responses to

QUESTIONS FROM CONGRESSMAN BOBBY L. RUSH
Hearing on Actuarial Soundness of the FHA MMI Fund
June 30, 1994

Q.l. Has the FHA, or einy other body to your knowledge, ever done
a detailed analysis of the effect which income targeting
would have on the soundness of the MMI fund?

A.l. I know of no such detailed analysis. However, if the market
for FHA is compressed by income limits, it will narrow the

range of buyers FHA can serve and over time lower the

average and median income level of those served. This in
all likelihood will adversely affect the performance of the
fund and diminish its capacity to cross subsidize low and
moderate income buyers and other underserved buyers . The
current statute mandates that FHA be actuarially sound, and
the statutory intent is to have FHA serve a range of buyers
under a mutual insurance fund structure.

Q.2. While I understand that the maximum high cost FHA limit has
been raised several times in the past four to five years,
does the FHA have enough experience with these loans to

predict how the new increase which this coimnittee included
in this year's bill can be expected to affect the long term

stability of the fund.

A. 2. Yes. As you know from the FY 1993 Actuarial Review of the
Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund, FHA's experience has been
that historically larger loans have performed better than
smaller loans. The attached chart indicates how the average
cumulative claim rate for FHA loans decreases as loan size
increases. This experience holds true for all books of
business .

Q.3. According to information I have received from the National
Information and Training Center, Chicago leads the Nation in
level of FHA mortgage defaults . During the period between

January 1986 and October 1991, there were nearly 6500
defaults and almost 2200 foreclosures in the Chicago
metropolitan statistical area, at a cost to the taxpayers of
over $350 million. Unfortunately, a large proportion of
these loans were in my Congressional District. In fact, in
one neighborhood. West Englewood, well over 20% of the loans
went bad. While I understand that the FHA does not
originate these loans, what has been done and what can be
done to improve, for example, the performance of one
mortgage company which had more than 50% failure rate for
FHA loans in West Englewood?

A. 3. The Department shares your concerns regarding high default
rates and what can be done to improve performance. The

Department's strategy involves, first, identifying mortgage
companies with high failure rates; second, determining
whether the problems are related to loan servicing or loan
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origination; third, reviewing the problem mortgagees; and,
fourth, taking corrective action.

HUD is doing this through its newly instituted program of

special reports designed to accurately pinpoint problems;
these reports enable HUD to focus on the loan origination
and servicing functions separately. Although a lender may
both originate and service FHA-insured mortgages, HUD
evaluates the lender's performance with respect to each
function and targets each function for review separately.

The timing of the loan default can indicate whether the

problem is with the underwriting or the servicing of the
loan; this, in turn, enables HUD to target the originating
or servicing lender. For example, first or second payment
defaults almost always indicate poor compliance on the part
of the originating lender. Indeed, underwriting is

generally suspect for any default that occurs within the
first 12 to 24 months of the life of the mortgage. A high
level of defaults that occurring later in the term of the
mortgage may indicate a servicing problem.

In all situations where we target lenders with default rates
that are unusually high, HUD Headquarters requires a

thorough on-site reviews to determine the cause of the
situation and then requires appropriate corrective action to
be taken. Additionally, Local HUD Offices are required
perform a review of a percentage of loans originated in
their jurisdictions to ensure the origination of quality
loans .

Where HUD finds lenders in non-compliance to our servicing
requirements, appropriate action is also taken against the

mortgagee. The enforcement of HUD requirements occurs on
several levels. Minor issues of non-compliance may be
simply dealt with by requiring administrative action to
correct the deficiency. Where non-compliance of a severe
nature is found relating to the either the originating or
servicing by the mortgagee, the mortgagee is referred to the
Mortgagee Review Board where the sanctions against the
mortgagee include assessments of Civil Money penalties,
indemnifications and withdrawal of HUD's approval (to
originate, hold and/or service HUD/FHA mortgages).

HUD will impose sanctions appropriate for the type of
violation or non-compliance found. A sanction (such as

revoking direct endorsement authority) , that may be
appropriate for an origination violation, is not appropriate
to levy against a mortgagee who is in non-compliance with
servicing requirements.

In addition to HUD's on-site monitoring of mortgagees, HUD
will also begin monitoring the approval agreements with
HUD/ FHA-insured lenders in January 1995. This is important
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as any lender that cannot justify why their early payment
default/claim rates are higher than 150% of the national
average, will have their approval to originate HUD/FHA
mortgages withdrawn.

With respect to the situation in Chicago, HUD determines the
exposure to the MMI fund by reviewing the overall default
rate for a jurisdiction, not just the early default rate or
the default rate for one lenders' business for a certain
period of time. At this time the Chicago Office
jurisdiction has an overall default rate of 3.713% while the
National average is 2.429%. (Ranking is 73 out of 80). Yes,
Chicago does have a relatively high default ratio. However,
their default ratio has remained relatively constant over
the prior five years. (It has ranged from 3.614 % to

3.787%) .

Chicago, along with Cleveland, Philadelphia, Newark and
several other urban areas, share similar problems of aging
infrastructure, declining property values, and unemployment.
We aggressively monitor mortgagees with higher than average
default rates servicing loans in these areas and look for
bias in the servicing of these loans. However, what we have
found primarily is that those areas have common economic
problems such as a recent natural disaster or the closing of
a factory that previously employed many of the homeowners in
the area.

HUD has also increased the availability of both pre-purchase
and default housing counseling to the West Englewood
neighborhood that you expressed concern about. I believe
this pro-active approach to assist those individuals who may
be at risk in the area you indicated mayjret^ield
improvements .

HUD cannot specifically respond to your issue concerning one
lender's 50 percent failure rate of FHA loans in West
Englewood without having more facts about the identity of
the lender and the source for this data.

A 50 percent default rate for one lender's business would
certainly appear excessive. However, under certain
circumstances even a mortgage company that is doing
everything correctly can experience unusually high default
rates in a local market. For instance, if the mortgagee
does very little business in a given neighborhood, a few
loans going bad may constitute a high failure rate. Also,
local economic downturns can increase defaults in
concentrated areas for the best lenders. Generally, such
circumstances, as regrettable as they may be, do not by
themselves constitute a threat to the actuarial soundness of
the MMI Fund.

Attachment/Question 2: FHA Cumulative Claim Rate by Loan Size
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Hon. Nicolas P. Retsinas' Response to Colloquy with Congressman Watt

re figures HUD holds regarding multifamily and single-family notes

As of June 30, 1994, HUD held 107,898 single family notes
with an unpaid principal balance of $4,252,334,000. Those totals
will be reduced by 15,211 loans and by $95,854,000 in unpaid
principal balance when the June 29, 1994, sale of single family
notes is registered on the books .

As of June 20, 1994, HUD held 2,355 multifamily notes with
an unpaid principal balance of about $7.2 billion. Multifamily
note sales are planned in the near future.
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STATEMENT OF CHRIS GREER
ASSISTANT INSPECTOR GENERAL FOR ADDIT

DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT

BEFORE THE U.S HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES
SUBCOMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

OF THE
COMMITTEE ON BANKING, FINANCE AND URBAN AFFAIRS

JUNE 30, 1994

Mr. Chairman, and Members of the Subcommittee, we are pleased to
be here this morning to discuss the financial condition of the
Federal Housing Administration (FHA) , and, more specifically, its
Single Family Programs. Our office issued the most recent
financial statement audit of FHA on June 8, 1994.
The audit covered FHA activities during Fiscal Year 1993.

Accompanying me today is Tom Craren, a partner in the Certified
Public Accounting firm of Price Waterhouse. Tom has been
personally involved in the financial audits of FHA since 1988.
Price Waterhouse conducted the three most recent FHA financial
statement audits, under contract with the Office of Inspector
General, in accordance with the Chief Financial Officers Act of
1990. Our staff works closely with Tom and his staff in

monitoring the completion of the audit and in providing input
based on OIG audits of FHA programs and related issues.

Also with us this morning from Price Waterhouse is Barry Dennis.
Barry and his staff conducted the actuarial analysis of the
Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund for Fiscal Year 1993, under
contract with FHA. Mr. Craren relied on the actuarial review in

performing his audit.

Mr. Craren has prepared a written statement concerning his work
and will share that with you in a few moments. Before Tom
begins, I would like to briefly provide some information relating
to FHA Single Family Programs that was contained in our most
recent Semiannual Report to the Congress for the period ended
March 31, 1994.

Mr. Chairman, our office has testified often before this
Subcommittee over the past few years. We appreciate the
continuing oversight, because we believe it is a key ingredient
in identifying potential programmatic or operational weaknesses
and for holding HUD management accountable for correcting the
problems and improving program performance.

Our Semiannual Report to the Congress assesses HUD's progress in

addressing its ten most significant problem areas. We have been
reporting to Congress on these issues since 1992. Three of these
areas are systemic and affect almost everything that HUD does.
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These systemic issues include HUD's Management Control
Environment, Resource Management, and Data Systems. These
weaknesses have a direct impact on seven programmatic areas, one
of which is Single Family Housing Asset Management.

In Chapter one of our Semiannual Report, we point out that
controls over HUD's multi-billion dollar Single Family Note
Servicing and Property Management are inadequate, and comment on
Assistant Secretary Retsinas' plans and actions to correct the
problems. In short, we conclude that while there has been
extensive analysis and strategic planning devoted to solving the
problems, it is too soon to tell if the planned activities will,
in fact, materialize and make a significant difference. Key
efforts include changing staffing patterns and skills; finding
alternative methods such as mortgage sales to reduce workloads;
and modifying or reengineering current processes, such as

assignments and property disposition. We believe that if the
Office of Housing sustains its current momentum and focus, that
many of the past asset management problems will be alleviated
over time.

Our Office of Investigation continues to encounter significant
numbers of criminal matters associated with FHA's Single Family
Programs. During the 6-month period ended March 31, 1994, 49
cases were opened involving single family fraud. Actual results
include 54 persons indicted and 59 persons convicted. Cash
recoveries amounted to about $3.5 million. Our Office of
Investigation currently is pursuing, either alone or in

cooperation with the FBI or other Federal Inspectors General, 317

potential criminal cases involving Single Family Programs.

For the most part, the major criminal cases tend to be isolated
instances of malfeasance by mortgagee personnel or brokers in the
origination of loans, and by speculators/ investors in strawbuying
schemes. For example:

Sentences were handed out in Atlanta, Georgia, to five mortgagee
loan personnel for their participation in a loan origination
scheme in which false employment information was created and
submitted in applications for over $1.3 million in FHA-insured
loans. The cumulative sentences were 64 months in prison, 900
hours community service, 11 months home confinement, and nearly
$577,000 in restitution.

In the area of strawbuying, a St Louis, Missouri speculator used
16 strawbuyers to obtain 28 FHA-insured loans totalling over $1.2
million. He was found guilty and sentenced to 4 years in prison
and 2 years probation.
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In summary, Mr. Chairman, our audit and investigative activities
continue to point out assorted weaknesses in FHA's Single Family
Programs. I would now ask that Mr. Craren provide you with more

specific information about the financial condition of the FHA
insurance funds. Thank you, and I will be happy to respond to

any questions.
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Fran Congressvanan Marge Roiakema

Questions for HUD-IG (Chris Greer), Price Waterhouse

1. The bottom line in the discussions regarding the Actuarial Soundness of the MMIF is

whether the estimations are correct. The IG/Price Waterhouse study indicates that the capital

ratio is 1 .44%.

a. What were the assumptions that allowed the IG and Price Waterhouse to come to this

conclusion? I mean this in terms of economic climate, premium refund policy, and,

refinancing activity. How do these factors, and others that we may not be aware of play

into the determination of capital ratio standard of 1 .44%?

b. If there were slight changes in your assumptions, such as the economic trend, etc., how
would the capital ratio change?

2. There has been speculation by some experts that the Actuarial Study is highly speculative
and cautious. I interpret that to mean that although there was a 1 .44% determination,

there were many aspects of the audit and study that caused Price Waterhouse to "hedge"
its professional call. Could you comment on that concern?

a. As a follow-up, what were the effects of the substantial refinancing activity during FY 93?

Are those refinances less or more risky than previous years? Is it possible that the riskier

borrowers remained with FHA, and if so, was that taken into account in determining a
1 .44% capital ratio?

b. What is the loan-to-value ratios on these refinanced FHA mortgages and what impact,

positively or negatively, did this activity have on the MMIF in FY 93?

3. It appears that this debate over FHA's involvement really comes down to whether FHA is

capable of absorbing an expansion of its program. In other words, whether FHA has the capacity
to manage effectively its mortgage insurance business and the ancillary activities such as

assignment, foreclosure, property maintenance, and property disposition.

a. What is FHA's capacity to manage effectively its mortgage insurance business?

b. Given the proposed expansion of FHA through increases in the FHA mortgage loan limit

and the risk-sharing program, will FHA have the capacity to handle its expanded
business?

4. Given the increases in the FHA mortgage loan limits to $101 ,575 in its base floor and as

high as $172,678 in high-cost areas, what is the impact of the FHA expansion on the private

sector entities?

a. In other words, will this expansion "cut" into the private mortgage insurance business? or.

Will this expansion serve current underserved markets whose homeownership needs are

not being met by the private sector?
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b. If the FHA expansion will serve current underserved markets, then what are those

markets? (minorities, inner-cities, first-time homebuyers, high l-t-v loans, etc.)

5. The Committee Print for the Housing and Community Development Act of 1 994 includes

a new program called the "FHA single family mortgage insurance risk-sharing program."

a.
_

What is the impact of that new risk-sharing program on the fvlMIF? Will this program
affect the capital ratio?

6. The 1 990 housing bill (National Affordable Housing Act), among other things, required that

the payment of distributive shares by FHA be based on the actuarial soundness of the entire

MMIF and not solely on the performance of loans endorsed during a particular year of business.

It also require other provisions intended to make the financial footing of the MMIF meet safety and
soundness requirements.

a. In light of the IG/Price Waterhouse audit, do you think it prudent for FHA to begin paying
distributive shares once again?

b. On a broader level, do you think that it would be prudent at this time to revisit the

provisions of NAHA and, if so, what changes would you make regarding the current

program's staicture?

7. Price Waterhouse states that the entire MMI books of business from FY 75 through FY
93 are generating a negative cash value of -$6.5 billion. This means that future cash outflows

from the Fund to cover claims and other costs associated with loans on the MMIF books is $6.5
billion more than cash inflows these loans will generate through premiums, recoveries and other

income.

a. Given PW's statement, is it premature to argue that future FHA loans will "bail-out" the

current loans?

b. In light of this large negative cash situation, is it premature to determine whether the

single family is now on a solid financial (actuarial) foundation?
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Responses from Chris Greer to

Congresswoman Roukema's Questions

Attached are Mr. Greer's comments on question numbers 3,

5 and 6 .

The remaining questions relate specifically to the work

performed by Price Waterhouse on the actuarial study of the Mutual
Mortgage Insurance (MMI) Fund. While Price Waterhouse is under
contract with the OIG to perform the annual audit of FHA, the MMI
actuarial study is performed under a separate contract between FHA
and Price Waterhouse. Note that OIG is not a party to the
actuarial study contract, which is performed by Price Waterhouse 's

actuarial group and not the same individuals who perform the audit .

Accordingly, HUD does not have a basis for commenting on question
numbers 1, 2,4 and 7. Price Waterhouse provided a direct response
to these questions, and this response is also attached.

I
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HUD, Office of Inspector General
Comments on Selected Questions from

Congresswoman Roukema

3. a. What is FHA' s capacity to manage effectively its mortgage
insurance business?

The HUD Office of Inspector General (OIG) is on record as
believing that HUD generally does not have the capacity to
effectively administer its programs as they are currently
structured. HUD management agrees. Under the realization that a
significant increase in resources is not likely in today's budget
environment, HUD management has developed strategies for
restructuring its programs, operations and workload to better
pursue its mission within existing resource levels. FHA's
general strategy is to foster new partnerships for housing
production, and to sell off assets or streamline time consuming
asset management activities to free up resources for greater loss
mitigation efforts. OIG generally supports this strategy, but
much remains to be done to effectively implement it.

To increase HUD's ability to improve FHA's capacity and
management controls, the Congress needs to provide FHA with
greater flexibility within its total salaries and expense budget.
Full time equivalent staffing ceilings should be eliminated to
enable FHA to make contracting-out decisions on the basis of
cost-benefit and risk, versus current necessity. Separate
authority to use non-appropriated FHA funds for long term
automated systems improvement needs should also be granted, with
the provision that detailed systems development plans and budgets
be submitted to Congress as a vehicle for providing oversight and
accountabi 1 ity .

3.b. Given the proposed expansion of FHA through increases in the
FHA mortgage loan limit and the risk-sharing program, will
FHA have the capacity to handle its expanded business?

In reviewing H.R. 3838, overall, we find the proposals in
keeping with FHA's general strategy. In total, we believe the
impact of these provisions should have a positive impact on FHA's
operating capacity, freeing up resources to better concentrate on
higher risk activities and projects to mitigate potential losses.
However, the implementation of any significant new programs, such
as Single Family Risk Sharing and the previously unfunded
National Homeownership Trust Fund, could detract from FHA's
ability to successfully complete the long needed management
reforms in its core programs.

In a previous communication with the subcommittee dated July
19, 1994, we provided our assessment of the impact of seven key
provisions of H.R. 3838, including increasing the FHA mortgage
loan limit and the risk-sharing program. This assessment is
presented on page 3. The individual impacts of these seven



92

provisions on FHA's financial risk is difficult to assess. For
example, there have been insufficient FHA data and analyses to
anticipate with any certainty the impact of the proposed increase
in the maximum single family mortgage insurance amount. However,
GAO recently testified before your committee on the Veterans
Administration's favorable experience with higher valued
mortgages. FHA management believes a higher mortgage ceiling
will benefit FHA, too.

Moreover, some of the provisions increase FHA's already
extensive reliance on outside entities for program operations.
Any increase in reliance on outside parties brings an inherent
increase in risk to FHA. However, HUD's salaries and expense
budget situation leaves FHA with little alternative, and the
increased risks can be reduced with proper management controls to
appropriately target and act on higher risk activities and
projects with FHA's existing resources.

5. a. What is the impact of that new risk-sharing program on the
Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund? Will this program affect
the capital ratio?

See response to number 3. a., above and the assessment
presented on page 3 .
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6. a. In light of the IG/Price Waterhouse audit, do you think it

prudent for FHA to begin paying distributive shares once
again?

Until the MMI Fund's capital ratio actually reaches the
target of 2.0 established by the Cranston-Gonzalez National
Affordable Housing Act, we do not believe it to be prudent for
FHA to pay distributive shares. In fact, this Act could be
interpreted to prohibit payment of distributive shares until that
target is achieved (see Section 332 of this Act) . As currently
structured, the MMI fund is required by law to be self
sustaining. The capital ratio requirement was established with
the realization that a certain level of reserves is necessary to
act as a "cushion" against the adverse consequences of an
economic downturn in the housing markets.

6.b. On a broader level, do you think that it would be prudent at
this time to revisit the provisions of the National
Affordable Housing Act and, if so, what changes would you
make regarding the current program' s structure?

It is certainly within the prerogative of the Congress to
periodically revisit the provisions and basic structure of FHA's
MMI fund. We would caution, however, that if the Congress wishes
to open the program to more individuals, it runs the risk of
changing the basic characteristic of the fund from one that is
self sustaining to one that will require annual credit subsidy
appropriations. We question whether such a decision would be
prudent in the current budget environment.
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STATEMEVT OF THOMAS J. CRAREN
PRICE WATERHOUSE

BEFORE THE
SUBCOMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

OF THE
U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

COMMITTEE ON BANKING, FINANCE AND URBAN AFFAIRS

June 30, 1994

Mr. Chairman and members of the Committee, we are pleased to be before you today

to discuss the results of our annual fmancial audit and of our actuarial review. Price

Waterhouse recently completed both of these reviews and issued written reports on them,

copies of which have been given to the committee. Under the CFG Act. FHA is required to

prepare annual fmancial statements and subject them to an independent audit. This audit

involves all of FHA's major activities, including its single-family mortgage insurance

program, operated through the Mutual Mortgage Insurance (MMI) Fund, as well as FHA's

multifamily mortgage insurance programs, operated predominantly through the General

Insurance Fund. The audit we just completed was of FHA's financial statements for the fiscal

year ended September 30, 1993. The aimual independent actuarial review of the economic net

worth and soundness of FHA's Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund, which was also done as of

September 30, 1993, is required by the Cranston-Gonzalez National Affordable Housing Act

(NAHA). Accompanying me today is Barry Dennis, a partner in our finance and economics

group, who directed the actuarial review. We appreciate the opportunity to provide this

statement and answer any questions the committee might have.

The financial statement audit and the actuarial review present several relevant pieces of

information about FHA's financial condition, its soundness and the status of its internal control

structure. The remainder of our statement will discuss this information in more detail. Before
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doing that, it might be useful to provide a brief overview of FHA. The following table

provides summary financial information for FHA's major activities:
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ACTUARIAL REVIEW OF FHA'S MUTUAL MORTGAGE INSURANCE FUND

The primary purpose of our actuarial review was to estimate:

• The economic value of the MMI Fund, defined as the sum of existing capital

resources plus the net present value of all future cash flows. The existing

capital resources are resources the Fund currently has to cover the future

liabilities of the total insurance-in-force. The net present value of future cash

flows is the net of the present value of the future claims that will be paid less

the present value of the future premiums that will be collected.

• The current and projected capital ratio, defined as the economic value divided

by the total insurance-in-force. The capital ratio is a measure of the extent to

which the Fund has or will develop resources in excess of what is required to

cover any expected future claims. Insurance is a risky activity. Thus, even

when resources are sufficient to cover expected claims, there is the risk that

claims will exceed what is expected and that resources will therefore be

insufficient. The capital ratio is a measure of the extent to which resources are

available or will be developed that exceed what is needed to cover expected

future cash flows.

Status otlheJ'und

In this year's Review, we estimate that the Fund had total capital resources of $9,698 billion

as of the end of FY 1993, and a present value of future cash flows of -$5. 144 billion (i.e.

expected future premiums are $5. 144 billion less than expected future claims). Thus, we

estimate that the Fund had an economic value at the end of FY 1993 of $4,554 billion. In

other words, we estimate that the Fund had resources at the end of FY 1993 that were $4,554
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billion greater than needed to cover the expected future cash flows of the remaining books of

business.

Given this estimated economic value at the end of FY 1993, and the estimated unamortized

insurance-in-force of $316,527 billion, we estimate that the capital ratio was 1 .44 percent.

Similarly, we estimate that the capital ratio of the Fund will be 3.40 percent by the end of FY

2000. Thus, although we estimated last year that the Fund had not met the FY 1992 capital

ratio target of 1.25 percent established by NAHA, we estimate that is has now passed the

target in FY 1993. We also project that the Fund will exceed the FY 2000 target of 2.00

percent.

Our current projections indicate that the Fund's economic value will continue to increase in the

future, rising by an average of 19 percent in each successive fiscal year until FY 2000.

Exhibit 1 provides projections of the Fund's economic value, insurance-in-force, and capital

ratios until the end of FY 2000.
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Exhibit 1: Projected MMI Fund Performance for FY 1993 to FY 2000

($ in Millions)

Fiscal Year
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$2. 196 billion increase is the net effect of unanticipated developments during FY 1993 and

new economic forecasts ($2,654 billion), technical changes to the estimation models (-$0,932

billion), and changes in FHA refund and premium policies ($474 million).

The most important unanticipated development during FY 1993 was the tremendous level of

prepayments, which occurred at four to five times the level anticipated last year (see Exhibit

2), increasing the estimated FY 1993 economic value by $1,201 billion.

Exhibit 2

Comparison of Actual and Forecasted Conditional Prepayment Rates for FY 1993

Termination Year

35
Percent

27 32 2T"

1987 1988 1989 1990 1991 1992 1993

Book of Business

FY 1992 Review Forecast

FY 1993 Actual

In addition, the forecast for the economy is currently more favorable with regard to claims

than last year's forecast, resulting in an additional $869 million of estimated economic value.

The significant increase in the forecast FY 2000 capital ratio from the FY 1992 Review

estimate of 2.44 percent to the current estimate of 3.40 percent is the net effect of an increase

of 1 .79 percentage points due to the unanticipated 1993 events and a revised economic

forecast, a decrease of 1.00 percentage points due to technical refinements to the estimation

models, and an increase of 0. 17 percentage points due to the changes in FHA refund and
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premium policies. The largest change (an increase of 1.55 percentage points) is due to the

more favorable new economic forecast. This new economic forecast affected the forecast FY

2000 capital ratio primarily through revised projections of claims rather than prepayments.

Impact of Krnnnmir Fnrprasts

The economic value of the Fund and its pattern of capital accumulation to FY 2000 depends on

several factors. One of the most important factors is the nation's future economy during the

remaining lifetime of FHA's books of business. Interest rates affect initial and ongoing

payment burdens on household cash flows, and hence default risks. Interest rates also affect

the potential for prepayments due to refinancing as prevailing interest rates change during the

lifetime of each book. Faster average house price growth facilitates the accumulation of home

equity which tends to significantly reduce the likelihood of borrower default. It also

contributes to greater mobility and household asset portfolio rebalancing, leading to greater

turnover of housing and refmancings, thus increasing prepayment rates. Faster income growth

reduces the burden of mortgage payments on household cash flows over time, reducing risks of

default and claims as mortgages mature.

The base case results in this report are based on DRI's baseline forecasts as of May 1994 for

interest rates, constant quality house prices, and inflation rates. We considered two other

scenarios: (1) DRI's pessimistic forecast which projects lower real GDP growth and higher

inflation and interest rates (referred to here as the "high inflation" scenario); and (2) DRI's

optimistic forecast which projects higher real GDP growth and lower inflation and interest

rates (referred to here as the "low inflation" scenario). We present our estimates of the Fund's

performance under each of these economic scenarios in Exhibit 3.
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Exhibit 3
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either prove or disprove the existence of adverse selection with regard to the FY 1992 and FY

1993 prepayments.

We have examined the sensitivity of the FY 1993 Actuarial Review results to two potential

effects of the large prepayments. First, we assessed the effect of the possibility that the

unusually large prepayments left a higher mix of riskier loans in the existing books of

business. Second, we assessed the effect of the possibility that the large refinancings

experienced in FY 1992 and FY 1993 substantially lowered the risk profile of the refinanced

loans. This lower-risk profile is likely since refinancing lowers the monthly payment burden,

while leaving other characteristics unaffected.

In assessing the sensitivity of the results of the FY 1993 Actuarial Review to these effects, we

have adjusted the projected conditional claim rates by selected amounts. We have little factual

basis on which to select the magnitude of the adjustments. While we have selected adjustments

that we believe to be plausible, the adjustments are meant to be primarily iUustrative.

The results of our sensitivity analysis show that under all but the most extreme scenarios, the

effect on estimated economic value and capital ratios is moderate. Under all scenarios, we

project that the Fund will still comfortably exceed the FY 2000 NAHA-mandated capital ratio

of 2.00 percent. In the extreme negative scenarios, the Fund would reach the 1 .25 percent

capital ratio in FY 1995 or 1996, and exceed the 2.00 percent capital ratio in FY 2000.

FINANCIAL STATEMENT AUDIT

Perhaps the most significant initial observation from our 1993 financial statement audit is that

it was the first time we were able to express an opinion on all of FHA's financial statements.

Prior to 1993, we had to repeatedly disclaim providing an opinion on FHA's financial

statements primarily because FHA did not have good or reliable information to allow it to

quantify risk in its portfolio of insured multifamUy loans, nor did it have sufficient control
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over the properties or loans it acquired as a result of its insurance claims process. All of this

was complicated by a weak internal control structure and a staff increasingly burdened by a

growing number of problem loans and assets. FHA has continued to address these problems,

and especially considering how far it had to go, has made credible progress. We were

particularly pleased that FHA was able to quantify multifamily credit risk, link this risk

assessment to its management strategy and calculate a loss reserve for the financial statements.

We also believe FHA's action plan to address remaining problems is a comprehensive and

serious effort which merits support and aggressive follow-through.

Having said that, it is important to provide some cautionary notes. First, a large portion of

expected improvement to the MMI Fund's capital ratio depends on the ultimate performance of

insurance written in 1992 and 1993. Even though the current economic environment is more

favorable to FHA, the performance of these books of business will become more certain only

as actual default experience emerges. The financial statements will not reflect the positive

performance of these books for some time, even though their economic value is projected to be

strongly positive. Second, FHA's internal control weaknesses are not solved and will still

require a good deal of attention. Moreover, FHA does not have a good record of quickly

implementing planned corrective actions, however well such actions were conceived. Often

this has not been their fault. A tight budgetary environment makes any effort to invest

resources in people and automated systems difficult at best. The is a particulariy unusual

circumstance for a financial institution like FHA, which despite having very good cost benefit

justification for such an investment --
especially if its means preventing a large loan default

and a costly claim payment
--

simply is not allowed to use its resources in what may be a cost

effective manner. For example, such an investment may allow FHA to more closely monitor

its insured loan portfolio, better manage its credit risk, and perhaps most importantly, prevent

unnecessary loan defaults and foreclosures.
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Resniirre and .Staffing Prnhlffm«;

By any measure, FHA is a huge financial institution that often enters into complex credit

transactions involving many different types of loans. Because there is so much at stake,

particularly with respect to a large or complex loan, financial institutions typically pay a lot of

attention to them, normally by frequently monitoring the underlying fmancial strengths or

weaknesses of the loans, and the condition of the property securing them. They are especially

careful to closely watch those loans that begin to show problems. The reason it is so important

to identify loan weaknesses as soon as they begin to manifest themselves, is that experience has

shown that if loan problems go unattended (or under-attended), solutions become much more

difficult and often more costly. Potential losses that are quickly identified and addressed are

those most likely to be prevented. There is clearly a cost/benefit trade off between resources

dedicated to the credit management process and portfolio performance. For a large and

complex credit operation, this normally implies a fair degree of resource investment -- in terms

of the experience and number of people involved, the means to train them, and modem tools

for them to use.

As shown in the following graphic, we have been concerned for some time that HUD staff

resources simply do not stack up with comparable institutions:

Multifamily Loans Per Servicer

Ock Avtati Lam

HUD
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We believe that FHA's most critical staffing needs are in the multifamily insured and

Secretary-held note servicing areas, and in the single family Secretary-held note servicing area.

The shortage is all the more significant when one considers that FHA typically takes more

credit risk than either state agencies or private institutions. The effect of this problem is

exacerbated by the recent build-up of defaulted single and multifamily notes that have been

assigned to FHA when the insured loans defaulted.

Tmprnvemp.nts Needp/I to Farly Warning and Loss Prevention

One way of addressing workload problems and improving the financial condition of FHA is to

institute a comprehensive, flexible program to identify potentially troublesome loans quickly

enough to allow for effective corrective measures. This implies having the ability to take

substantive actions before a note assignment, or even before a pre-foreclosure sale takes place.

For several years we have recommended that both the multifamily and single family program

areas: (1) improve their ability to identify and assess insured loans that become potential

problems; (2) place more emphasis on working with servicers to cure defaults and

delinquencies before they become claims; and (3) develop a reporting mechanism for senior

management to monitor the progress of actions to cure loan delinquencies and defaults and

prevent losses. The most serious problems in early warning and loss prevention are in the

multifamily area.

FHA has recently dedicated much effort to identifying problem loans in its insured multifamily

portfolio. This is significant, because these are the loans for which preventive measures may

yield immediate benefits in terms of preventing potentially large claim payments. But this

process is still very staff intensive and often entails cumbersome manual information gathering

and data reconstruction in order to develop a basis for making a proper decision. The lack of

a complete and accurate database on the performance of insured multifamily loans, and the

lack of an automated system to periodically assess and summarize this data continues to slow

FHA's ability to address problem loans. Despite these impediments. FHA has made a

laudable effort to improve its ability to identify problem loans and better understand why
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losses occur, and thus how they might be prevented in the cuirent favorable interest rate

environment. We believe legislative and resource assistance to FHA in this area would likely

yield many benefits, and should be given careful consideration.

The single family area has experienced some of the same problems as the multifamily area, but

to a much lesser degree. Unlike the multifamily area, single family has a quality control

mechanism independent of the field offices -- the Mortgagee Monitoring Division - which has

been able to expand and enhance its activities. Even though improvements have been made,

we still believe it is necessary for FHA to develop more flexibility in its single family loss

prevention efforts. For example, a program that would make it easier to modify delinquent

loans that have a good chance of curing might produce positive results, including reducing

foreclosures and providing a less costly alternative to the assignment program. We understand

that FHA is currently in the process of assessing alternatives to its present methods of

addressing delinquent loans.

The Np^A tn Promptly Resolve Sex:retary-Held Mortgages

For the last two years we have reported that FHA needs to quickly resolve, either through

sales, restructuring, workout or foreclosure, its growing portfolio of single and multifamily

Secretary-held notes. Virtually all of these notes were assigned to FHA when loans insured by

FHA defaulted and claim payments were made. We have recently become more concerned

about this issue because given budgetary constraints, the need to dedicate resources to manage

this large portfolio might weaken FHA's overall internal control structure. Further, during

our 1993 audit, we noted that: (1) the number of assigned multifamily and single family

assigned notes continued to increase -- albeit at a slower pace; and (2) servicing of these loans

has been deficient. The following chart depicts the growth in multifamily and single family

notes assigned to FHA over the last 5 years:
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Growth in Secretary-held Mortgages

1tse 1990 1991 1992 1993 19(9 1990 1991 1992 1993

Multifamily Single Family

As a result of our prior audits, we recommended that FHA develop a strategy for addressing

this build-up of troubled assets and then periodically monitor progress against this strategy.

FHA has developed such a strategy which entails, among other things: (1) selling performing

mortgages and those assigned to FHA under the 221(g)(4) program, (2) setting goals for

returning non-performing mortgages to a current status, and (3) making FHA's loan servicing

efforts more efficient, by among other things, consolidating servicing activities into fewer

locations. Subsequent audits should endeavor to monitor and report on FHA's progress

against their action plan and assess whether it is effective. Other previously discussed actions

to develop alternatives to the single family loan assignment program, and provide more

flexibility in loss prevention would also help curtail the growth in notes being assigned to

FHA.
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Improving Aiirnmafp/i Syste.ms

Another way FHA could become more efficient, miprove its staff utilization, and mitigate the

constraints on its resources would be to make an investment in more quickly upgrading and

modernizing its automated systems. While efforts have been made in the past, especially with

respect to improving property management systems, a greater push to upgrade other critical

systems might yield additional benefits through more comprehensive and timely information

about loan performance. For example, completing the multifamily data base and multifamily

national system would make loan monitoring and early warning considerably less staff

intensive and would facilitate better decision-making about how resources might be better

used. Further, implementing modem technology, such as electronic data interchange, might

reduce FHA's paperwork burden and provide more timely and complete information about

loans, borrowers and loan servicers. WhUe HUD and FHA have prepared a comprehensive

plan addressing weaknesses in its automated systems, it will take time to implement. We

strongly encourage any support that would expedite implementation of new systems and

improve the quality of niA's fmancial information and its ability to provide service to its

customers.

Summary

Mr. Chairman, we believe FHA is making progress to shore up its financial condition and

address, in a serious and constructive way, the problems and challenges we and other auditors

have reported for a long time. But for this progress to continue it is important that it continue

to receive the attention of senior HUD management and this committee. To the extent

legislative and budgetary support can demonstrably accelerate FHA's improvement, and

ultimately save money, we encourage its continuation.

This concludes my statement. We would be happy to answer any questions.
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Price Waterhouse

Comments on Selected Questions from

Congresswoman Roukema

La. What were the assumptions that allowed the IG and Price Waterhouse to come to

this conclusion (capital ratio is 1.44%)? I mean this in tenns of economic climate,

premium refund policy, and refinancing activity. How do these factors, and others

that we may not be aware ofplay into the determination of capital ratio standard of
1.44%?

Our estimates of the economic value and capital ratio of the MMI Fund are based on

numerous assumptions. Although a change in any one of these assumptions would be

likely to result in change in our estimates, the sensitivity analysis that we conducted as

part of our Actuarial Review suggests that the Fund's soundness would not be

significantly affected by a minor change in any single assumption or class of

assumptions.

For more information regarding the economic assumptions used in our Review, see

page 22 of the FY 1994 Actuarial Review. These assumptions were based on DRI's

May 1994 forecasts. Assumptions regarding premium refund policy were based on

FHA's current premium refund schedule, which is provided on page B-7 of the

Review. Lastly, the projected level of future refinancings was estimated using a four-

step process that is described in detail on pages 65-69 of the Review.

l.b. If there were slight changes in your assumptions, such as the economic trend, etc.,

how would the capital ratio change?

The sensitivity analysis that was included in Section VI of the Actuarial Review

provides additional information regarding the range of possible outcomes the Fund

might experience. These scenarios, which range in severity from minor changes in

expected performance to worst case or "stress test" scenarios, indicate that the Fund

should comfortably meet the 2.0% capital ratio mandated by Congress for FY 2000.

There has been speculation by some experts that the Actuarial study is highly

speculative and cautious. I interpret that to mean that although there was a 1.44%

determination, there were man aspects of the audit and study that caused Price

Waterhouse to "hedge" its professional call. Could you comment on that concern?

The 1.44% capital ratio is our best estimate of the Fund's capital ratio, given the

information available. The estimates presented in the Actuarial Review require

projections of events thirty years into the future. These projections are dependent

upon a number of assumptions each of which has uncertainty with regard to hou the

future will actually occur, fo take this uncertainty into account, we completed
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sensitivity analysis, wiiere we varied the assumptions, and assessed the results. The

results of this sensitivity analysis did not contradict over basic findings.

2.a. As a follow-up, what were the effects of the substantial refinancing activity during

FY 1993? Are those refinances less or more risky than previous years? It is

possible that the riskier borrowers remained with FHA, an if so, was that taken into

account in determining a 1.44% capital ratio?

The substantial refinancing activity during FY 1993 increased the estimated economic

value, because the Fund avoids paying claims in the future on the loans that prepaid,

paying only a small refund of the upfront premiums instead. Given that many of these

mortgages were high-risk loans that entered the fund during the mid-to-late 1980s, the

claims avoided were substantial.

Sufficient data will not be available to determine whether the refinances are more or

less risky than previous years until we have at least three to five years of data on their

loan performance. We have performed sensitivity analysis on the loan performance on

the refinancings and on the loans that remained in the fund. The results of our

sensitivity analysis show that under all but the most extreme scenarios, the effect on

estimated economic value and capital ratios is moderate. Under all scenarios, we

project that the Fund will still comfortably exceed the FY 2000 NAHA-mandated

capital ratio of 2.00 percent.

2.b. What is the loan-to-value ratios on these refinanced FHA mortgages and what

impact, positively or negatively, did this activity have on the MMI Fund in FY 1993?

Strong evidence indicates that the recent refinanced loans originally entered the Fund

with an initial loan-to-value distribution virtually identical to all loans. However, good
information does not exist on the loan-to-value ratio of these loans at the time of

refinancing. Until more accurate data is available regarding the composition of the

loans that refinanced we will continue to assume that these loans will perform in the

future as they did in the past. Our current estimates of the economic effects of the

refinance loans on the MMI Fund indicate that they will have a slightly negative

impact on the Fund's economic value. This is due to a combination of higher claim

rates and a significantly lower premium structure for these loans.

In the Actuarial Review we tested the sensitivity of the estimated economic value and

capital ratio to potential biases in our estimates by increasing the claim rates. In all

scenarios, the Fund is still projected to comfortably exceed the FY 2000 capital ratio

of 2.00 percent.
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Please see response provided by the Inspector General of HUD.

4.a. yyUl the this expansion (increases in the FHA mortgage loan limits) "cut" into

private mortgage Insurance business? or, Will this expansion serve current

underserved markets whose homeownership needs are not being met by the private
sector?

We have not performed any analysis of the effect that increased loan size limits will

have on the MMI Fund. To the extent that FHA serves populations and regions that

are chronically underserved by the private mortgage insurance industry, these changes
will have only a limited effect on PMI business.

4.b. If the FHA expansion will serve current underserved markets, then what are those

markets? (minorities, inner-cities, first-time homebuyers, high l-t-v loans, etc.)

As stated above, we have not performed any analysis of the market segments or

populations that are likely to be served by the increased loan size limits proposed by
FHA. However, to the extent that these limits enable a larger number of borrowers in

high-cost areas to qualify for FHA insurance, we might expect participation rates in

inner cities, particularly those in the Northeast and West to increase.

Please see response provided by the Inspector General of HUD.

6.a. In light of the IG/Price Waterhouse audit, do you think it prudentfor FHA to begin

paying distributive shares once again?

Payment of distributive shares will reduce the amount of capital FHA has to cushion

against unexpected future losses. However, by effectively decreasing the price of FHA
insurance, distributive shares may also increase the demand for FHA insurance.

Paying distributive shares is a policy decision that FHA must make.

6.b. On a broader level, do you think that it would be prudent at this time to revisit the

provisions ofNAHA and, if so, what changes would you make regarding the current

program's structure?

It may be beneficial to revisit the provisions of NAHA in the future to determine

whether the NAHA premium structures are optimally meeting FHA's goals of

providing affordable single family housing opportunities, while ensuring an actuarially

sound MMI Fund. Both legislators and FHA may find it useful to regularly assess
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NAHA's success in restoring the financial health of the MMI Fund and. perhaps, its

impact on adversely affecting FHA's ability to meet its mission of providing

affordable housing to low and moderate-income Americans.

7. a. Price Waterhouse states that the entire MMI books of businessfrom FY 1975

through FY 1993 are generating a negative cash value of -S6.5 billion. This means
that future cash outflowfrom the Fund to cover claims and other costs associated

with loans on the MMI Fund books is $6.5 billion more than cash inflows these

loans will generate through premiums, recoveries and other income. Given Price

yVaterhouse's statement, is it premature to argue that future FHA loans will "bail-

out" the current loans?

Although the MMI Fund is projected to have large future negative cash outflows

related to its current book of business, these cash outflows must be viewed against
FHA's current level of capital resources, now estimated to be over $9 billion. In fact.

Price Waterhouse estimates the Fund has or will develop $4,554 billion in excess of

what it needs to cover its liabilities and is not reliant on future FHA loans to "bail-out"

the current loans.

FHA's MMI Fund collects a large portion of its premiums upfront, before any claims

are made against the Fund. The large positive value of the current capital resources

represents in part this accumulated upfront premium revenue. As claims are received

in the future, these capital resources are drawn down to pay claims. Since the future

cashflows are largely comprised of claim payments, we would expect them to be

negative. The important point, however, is that the current capital resources number,
is considerably greater than the value of future negative cash outflows. In a sense,

FHA is like a service provider that is paid for a service in advance. FHA takes in

money in the beginning of an insurance contract and pays the cost of providing the

service later on when a loan defaults. This process is no different than many other

transactions in which payment for a service is made prior to the delivery of that

servicer.

7.b. In light of this large negative cash situation, is it premature to determine whether

the single family is now on a solid financial (actuarial) foundation?

As explained above, the Fund is not in a "large negative cash position," and is not

projected to be in such a position in the future. The soundness of the Fund is to a

large extent a result of FHA's current level of capital resources, and thus is not based

on "premature" determinations.
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Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee:

I am pleased to be here again to present the results of our
latest assessment of the actuarial soundness of the Mutual
Mortgage Insurance Fund (Fund) that we are conducting at the
request of this Subcommittee. We presented a similar assessment
of the Fund through fiscal year 1991 in a testimony before this
Subcommittee on July 27, 1993.^ Our testimony today will
present the results of our ongoing assessment of the actuarial
soundness of the Fund as of the end of fiscal years 1992 and
1993. The results of our work will be included in a report to
the Subcommittee within the next few months.

As you know, the Fund is administered by the Department of

Housing and Urban Development's (HUD) Federal Housing
Administration (FHA). It provides insurance currently valued at
about $269 billion for private lenders against losses on single-
family mortgages. During the 1980s, the Fund, which historically
had been financially self-sufficient, began to experience
substantial losses primarily because foreclosure rates on homes
supported by the Fund were high in economically stressed regions.
In order to place the Fund on an actuarially sound basis,
legislative reforms, such as requiring FHA borrowers to pay more
in insurance premiums, were made in November 1990.

Concerned about the current financial health of FHA's Fund
and the impact of reforms, this Subcommittee asked us to
determine whether the Fund has sufficient financial reserves to
meet estimated future losses resulting from the payment of claims
on foreclosed mortgage loans. Specifically, we were asked to (1)
estimate, under different economic scenarios, the economic net
worth^ of the Fund as of the end of fiscal year 1993; (2) assess
the progress made by the Fund in achieving the legislatively
prescribed capital ratios; and (3) compare our estimate with the
estimate prepared for FHA by Price Waterhouse.

In summary, although there is uncertainty associated with
any forecast, the economic value of FHA's Fund clearly has
improved significantly in recent years, and the Fund is on the
way to accumulating sufficient capital reserves to be considered
actuarially sound under the law. As of September 30, 1993, the
Fund had capital resources of about $9.7 billion which were
sufficient to cover the $4.8 billion in expenses we estimate the
Fund will incur in excess of anticipated revenues over the life
of the loans outstanding at that time. The remaining $4.9
billion represents the Fund's economic net worth or capital--an

^Homeownership; Actuarial Soundness of FHA's Single-Family
Mortgage Insurance Program (GAO/T-RCED-93-64, July 27, 1993).

^The current cash available to the Fund, plus the net present
value of all future cash inflows and outflows expected to result
from outstanding mortgages in the Fund.
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improvement of about $7.6 billion from the lowest level reached
by the Fund just 3 years ago. Legislative and other program
changes have helped restore the Fund's financial health, but
favorable prevailing and forecasted economic conditions in fiscal

year 1993 were primarily responsible for this improvement.

Although the Fund has made a substantial financial

improvement recently, we estimate it fell about $3 billion short
of achieving the legislative mandate for capital reserves by the
November 1992 deadline. However, it surpassed the 1992 mandate
for capital reserves by the end of fiscal year 1993. Whether the
Fund can sustain this progress and attain the legislative target
for reserves of 2 percent by November 2000, thereby achieving
actuarial soundness under the law, and maintain that ratio
thereafter, will depend on many economic and program factors that
will affect the financial health of the Fund this year and over
the next 6 years .

While there are some differences in the economic modeling
techniques used and the assumptions made, our estimate of the
economic value of the Fund ($4.9 billion) is similar to that of
Price Waterhouse ($4.6 billion).

Before I present our assessment of the Fund's actuarial
soundness in detail, let me briefly outline the purpose of FHA's

single-family mortgage insurance program's Fund and the history
of its financial condition.

PURPOSE AND FINANCIAL HISTORY OF FHA'S FUND

FHA was established in 1934 under authority granted to the
President by the National Housing Act (P.L. 73-479). The primary
purpose of FHA's Fund is to insure private lenders against losses
on mortgages financing purchases of one to four housing units.
To cover these losses, FHA deposits insurance premiums from

participating home buyers in the Fund. According to 12 U.S.C.
1709, the Fund must meet or endeavor to meet statutory capital
ratio requirements designed to achieve actuarial soundness; that
is, it must contain sufficient reserves and funding to cover
estimated future losses resulting from the payment of claims on
defaulted mortgages and administrative costs. A determination of
actuarial soundness requires the use of an accrual basis of

accounting.^ A primary objective of accrual accounting is to

report the financial position and results of an entity's
operations on the basis of measurable events, regardless of
whether cash has changed hands. The accrual concept is

^An accrual basis of accounting matches, or recognizes, the

receipt of revenues and the expenditures of funds to produce that
revenue in the same fiscal time period rather than in the period
when they actually occur, which may be in different fiscal years.
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particularly important for an entity such as FHA (or any
insurance enterprise) because the actual payout or collection of
cash may precede or follow by a substantial time period the event
that gave rise to the cash transaction. Thus, a favorable cash
position, or positive cash flow, at any given point may not
reflect the true financial position of the entity.

The Fund remained relatively healthy until the 1980s, when
losses were substantial, primarily because foreclosure rates were
high in economically stressed regions, particularly in the Rocky
Mountain and Southwest regions. For example, in fiscal year 1988
the Fund lost $1.4 billion. If the Fund were to become
exhausted, the U.S. Treasury would have to directly cover
lenders' claims and administrative costs.

In response to the Fund's financial problems, among other
things, the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1990 (P.L. 101-
508) was enacted in November 1990. This legislation contained
reforms to FHA's single-family mortgage insurance program
designed to place the Fund on an actuarially sound basis. The
legislation, among other things, required FHA borrowers to pay
more in insurance premiums over the life of the loans by adding a
risk-based annual premium to the one-time up-front premium. It
effectively raised the present value of the insurance premium
from the then 3.8 percent of the loan amount to 5.5 to 6.8
percent, depending on the amount of the down payment made. It
accomplished this change with two actions: lowering the up-front
premium from 3.8 to 2.25 percent of the loan amount over a 4-year
transitional period and, during the same period, phasing in a new
annual premium of 0.5 percent or 0.55 percent of the loan
balances: those borrowers who make higher down payments pay the
annual premium for a shorter period. The legislation also
mandated that FHA's Fund attain a capital ratio of 1.25 percent
by November 1992 and required the Secretary of HUD to endeavor to
ensure a capital ratio of 2 percent by November 2000 and maintain
at least a 2 percent ratio at all times thereafter. The capital
ratio was defined by the act as the ratio of the Fund's capital
or economic net worth to its unamortized insurance-in-force.
Other changes made by the legislation in response to the Fund's
financial problems included (1) limiting the loan-to-value ratio
to a maximum of 97.75 percent of appraised value on homes whose
appraised value exceed $50,000 and (2) effectively suspending
payment of distributive shares (distribution of excess revenues
to mortgagors) until the Fund is actuarially sound.

We have concluded that in addition to economic factors, poor
program management and waste, fraud, and abuse contributed to the
losses sustained by FHA's Fund. The full extent of losses
attributable to these factors is not known. As we have pointed
out in previous testimonies and reports, some of the major
management problems facing HUD concern FHA's single-family
program. For example, the absence of internal controls over
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FHA's single-family property disposition management systems
allowed private real estate agents to steal millions of dollars
in FHA funds. Moreover, we reported that a direct correlation
exists between the effectiveness of internal controls, the
accuracy and timeliness of financial information, and the
magnitude of losses incurred by FHA as well as by other HUD
programs .*

We and HUD's Inspector General have been reporting on these
management problems since the early 1980s. HUD has taken steps
to address some of these problems and to strengthen FHA's
financial position in the areas of property disposition,
underwriting practices, monitoring of lenders, and reforms to
accounting systems to prevent fraud in the future. However, we
have concluded that much work remains to be done by HUD and FHA
to resolve the underlying causes of FHA's problems, such as
inadequate information and financial management systems. Any
success achieved by HUD and FHA in reducing FHA's losses through
better management will improve the financial health of the FHA
Fund.

OUR ESTIMATES OF THE FUND'S
ECONOMIC NET WORTH

The Fund had amortized insurance-in-force valued at about
$286 billion as of September 30, 1992, and $269 billion as of
September 30, 1993. To estimate the economic net worth of, and
resulting capital ratios for, these loans over their life of up
to 30 years, we developed an economic model of FHA's home loan
program. We generated three different economic scenarios,
assuming for each a different rate of appreciation in house
prices over the next 30 years. The actual economic net worth and
capital ratios of the Fund--and the validity of our estimates--
will depend on a number of future economic factors, including the
rate of appreciation in house prices over the life of the FHA
mortgages of up to 30 years. This factor is significant because,
as house prices rise, the borrowers' equity increases and the
probability of defaults and subsequent foreclosures decreases.
The house price appreciation, interest, and unemployment rates we
used were based on forecasts from DRI /McGraw-Hill, Inc., a

private economic forecasting company.

*See Impacts of FHA Loan Policy Changes on Its Cash Position
(GAO/T-RCED-90-70, June 6, 1990); HUD Reforms: Progress Made
Since the HUD Scandals but Much Work Remains (GAO/RCED-92-46,
Jan. 31, 1992); and Letter to the Ranking Minority Member,
Subcommittee on Housing and Community Development, House
Committee on Banking, Finance and Urban Affairs (B-249052, Sept,
30, 1992).
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A more detailed discussion of our modeling approach for
forecasting the economic net worth of FHA's Fund appears in

appendix I. We will present a complete description of our models
in our report to the Subcommittee.

Economic Net Worth Estimates of
FHA's Fund Under Three Scenarios

Table 1 presents our estimates of the economic net worth and
resulting capital ratios for the FHA mortgage loans outstanding
as of September 30, 1992, and September 30, 1993, under each of
our three economic scenarios. Although future rates of

appreciation in house prices are uncertain, to ensure that our
estimates were conservative, we placed greater reliance on our
mid-range baseline economic scenario because it assumes a

slightly lower house price appreciation rate than the rate
forecasted by DRI/McGraw-Hill , Inc. Under this scenario, we
estimated that the Fund had an economic net worth of about $600
million and resulting capital ratio of 0.21 percent at the end of
fiscal year 1992. We also estimated that the Fund had an
economic net worth of about $4.9 billion and resulting capital
ratio of 1.83 percent at the end of fiscal year 1993. This
estimate represents an improvement of about $7.6 billion from the
lowest level reached by the Fund--a negative $2.7 billion
estimated by Price Waterhouse at the end of fiscal year 1990.

Under our low-case economic scenario, which assumes a lower
rate of appreciation in house prices than our baseline, we
estimated that the Fund's economic net worth and capital ratios
would be lower. Conversely, under our high-case economic
scenario, which assumes a higher rate of appreciation in house
prices than our baseline, we estimated that the Fund's economic
net worth and capital ratios would be greater.
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Table 1: GAO's Estimates of the Economic Net Worth and Capital
Ratios of FHA's Fund as of September 30, 1992. and 1993
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Table 2: Factors Contributing to the Increase in Economic Net
Worth of FHA's Fund During Fiscal Year 1993

Economic and program factors
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revised forecasts for loan foreclosures and prepayments for these
loans during fiscal year 1994 and beyond. These revisions
resulted largely from revised assumptions of future economic
conditions that, in combination, had a favorable financial effect
on the Fund. About $0.5 billion, or 18 percent, of the increase
occurred because our 1993 forecast takes into account that
effective January 1, 1994, FHA reduced the amount of premium
refunds it will pay to borrowers who pay their mortgages in full
before the end of their mortgage terms. Interest earned on
investments accounted for $0.7 billion, or 25 percent, of the
increase; the remaining 11 percent was attributable to other
factors .

We estimate, under our baseline scenario, that loans
endorsed by FHA in fiscal year 1993 contributed about $1.5
billion dollars to the economic net worth of the Fund. This
represents the second consecutive year in which the Fund's new
loans made a substantial contribution to the Fund's economic
value. ^

Our analysis of the loans endorsed by FHA in fiscal year
1993 also shows the importance of the program changes made by the
Congress and FHA in recent years to the Fund's economic value.
Beginning on July 1, 1991, FHA borrowers were subject to the
higher premium payments mandated by the Omnibus Budget
Reconciliation Act of 1990. We estimate that if FHA borrowers in
fiscal year 1993 had to pay only the pre-act premiums, the
economic net worth of the Fund at the end of fiscal year 1993
would have been about $4.1 billion, or $.8 billion (16 percent)
less than our baseline estimate of $4.9 billion. Similarly, we
estimate that if FHA had not revised its premium refund schedule,
the economic net worth of the Fund at the end of fiscal year 1993
would have been about $4.4 billion, or $0.5 billion (10 percent)
less than our baseline estimate of $4.9 billion.^

SUBSTANTIAL PROGRESS MADE
TOWARD ACTUARIAL SOUNDNESS

While FHA's Fund did not achieve the November 1992 mandated
capital ratio of 1.25 percent of amortized insurance-in-force, it
exceeded this ratio by the end of fiscal year 1993 (1.83
percent), making significant progress during that year toward
achieving the November 2000 capital ratio of 2 percent needed for

^We estimate that loans endorsed by FHA in fiscal year 1992
contributed about $1.2 billion to the economic value of the Fund.

*Our estimate of the effect of the change in the premium refund
schedule takes into account the effect of a smaller refund on the
likelihood of foreclosures and prepayments as well as on the size
of the refunds.
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actuarial soundness. However, whether the Fund will be able to
achieve the capital ratio by November 2000 and maintain that
ratio thereafter will depend on a number of factors that will
prevail this year and over the next 6 years. These factors
include (1) economic conditions; (2) program changes, such as
those that affect the FHA premium; and (3) the demand for FHA
loans. We did not attempt to project the economic net worth and
capital ratio of the Fund to the year 2000 because these factors
are likely to change, as happened recently when FHA reduced the
up- front insurance premium that FHA borrowers must pay on their
mortgages .

As shown in table 1, our estimates are sensitive to future
economic conditions, particularly house price appreciation rates.
The Fund will not perform as well if actual economic conditions
that prevail over the next 30 years replicate those we assumed in
our low-case economic scenario. Our estimate of economic value
for our low-case economic scenario is about $0.9 billion, or 18

percent, less than our baseline scenario. Under economic
scenarios having generally favorable economic conditions but
lower rates of appreciation in house prices, such as our low-case
economic scenario, FHA's Fund would likely experience higher
claims. As a result, economic value would decline.

Similarly, HUD recently reduced the up-front insurance
premium that FHA borrowers must pay on their mortgages. FHA
reduced the up- front premium charged FHA buyers to 2.25 percent
of the loan amount, down from 3 percent. We estimate that had
the 2.25 percent premium, rather than 3 percent, been in effect
in fiscal year 1993 and the demand for FHA mortgages was
unchanged, the economic value of the Fund would have declined by
about $460 million, or 9 percent, from our baseline estimate.

A decline in home buyers' demand for FHA-insured loans could
also adversely affect the economic value of the Fund and the
attainment of the November 2000 capital ratio. Home buyers'
demand for FHA-insured loans depends, in part, on the
alternatives available to them. For example, higher loan-to-
value ratios result in reducing the cash needed by borrowers to
purchase a home. Some private mortgage insurers recently
announced a plan to offer mortgage insurance coverage on
conventional 97-percent loan-to-value ratio mortgages, which
brings their terms closer to FHA's 97.75-percent loan-to-value
ratio on loans for properties exceeding $50,000 in appraised
value. While potential home buyers must consider many other
factors when financing their mortgages--such as the fact that FHA
will finance the up-front premium as part of the mortgage loan--
this action by private mortgage insurers could reduce the demand
for FHA-insured mortgage loans.
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PRICE WATERHOUSE'S ESTIMATES
OF THE FUND'S ECONOMIC NET WORTH

Price Waterhouse has performed annual actuarial reviews of
the Fund for FHA since 1990. In its most recent report dated
June 6, 1994, Price Waterhouse reported that the Fund had an
economic net worth of about $4.6 billion compared to GAO's
estimate of $4.9 billion and a resulting capital ratio of 1.44

percent of the unamortized insurance-in-force as of the end of
fiscal year 1993 compared to GAO's estimate of 1.83 percent of
the amortized insurance-in-force. It also reported last year
that the Fund's capital ratio at the end of fiscal year 1992

(0.43 percent) did not meet the 1.25 percent capital ratio
established by legislation for 1992. Price Waterhouse' s latest
report also projects that the Fund will meet the year 2000
capital ratio of 2 percent of the unamortized insurance-in-force
with a capital ratio of 3.40 percent and that the economic net
worth of the Fund will be $15.3 billion. These projections are
based on forecasted economic assumptions and the assumption that
FHA does not change its premium and refund policies.

Although our estimate of the Fund's economic value exceeds
Price Waterhouse 's estimate by about 6 percent, in view of the

uncertainty associated with any forecast of the performance of
the Fund's loans over their life of up to 30 years, these
estimates can be considered roughly equivalent. Each of us used
somewhat different modeling techniques and assumptions that
account for some of the $300 million difference. However, in

general our model and Price Waterhouse' s use similar statistical
techniques and rely on many of the same key factors, such as
rates of appreciation in house prices and changes in mortgage
interest rates, as important determinants of mortgage
terminations and the economic value of the Fund.

While our estimates of the Fund's economic value are
similar, our estimate of the Fund's capital ratio is higher than
Price Waterhouse 's estimate--! . 83 percent compared to 1.44

percent. While some of the difference results from the slightly
higher economic net worth we estimated, the primary reason for
this difference is the fact that we used a lower end of fiscal
year 1993 insurance-in-force amount (amortized insurance-in-
force) to calculate the capital ratio than Price Waterhouse--$269
billion compared to Price Waterhouse' s $317 billion of
unamortized insurance-in-force. As discussed previously, the
capital ratio was defined by the act as the ratio of the Fund's
economic net worth to its unamortized insurance-in-force.'

'However, the act defined unamortized insurance-in-force as the

remaining obligation on outstanding mortgages, a definition
generally understood to apply to amortized insurance-in-force.
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The insurance-in-force amount we use differs from the amount
used by Price Waterhouse primarily because we deleted loan

principal payments made on mortgages to date to arrive at an
amortized insurance-in-force amount of $269 billion. We
calculated the capital ratio on the basis of amortized insurance-
in-force and not on unamortized insurance-in-force, as did Price
Waterhouse. We used amortized insurance-in-force for our
calculations because FHA insured mortgages are in fact fully
amortized over the 30 year life of the loans. Price Waterhouse
used unamortized insurance-in-force for its calculations so as to
be consistent with its previous rejjorts and because the data on
unamortized insurance-in-force are considered more reliable than
the data on amortized insurance-in-force. If we had used
unamortized insurance-in-force ($317 billion) in calculating the

capital ratio, our estimate of the capital ratio would have been
1.55 rather than 1.83.

In summary, Mr. Chairman, FHA's Fund made significant
progress during fiscal year 1993 toward achieving the capital
reserves needed for actuarial soundness under the law. Clearly,
the legislative and other program changes have helped restore the
Fund's financial health and reverse the trend of the late 1980s
and early 1990s toward insolvency. However, it should be

recognized that fiscal year 1993 was an unusually good year for
FHA because actual economic conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions were favorable. Nevertheless, forecasting
economic net worth and resulting capital ratios to determine
whether FHA will have the funds it needs to cover its losses over
the life of the loans it has insured of up to 30 years is

uncertain. Loan performance, and therefore economic net worth
and capital ratios, will depend on a number of economic and other
factors, particularly on the rate of appreciation in house prices
and program policies such as premiums charged FHA borrowers that

prevail over that period. Loan performance will also be affected
by the demand for FHA-insured loans, a demand that depends, in

part, on the alternatives available from private mortgage
insurers. It is important to carefully balance desires to assist
home buyers against the government's potential financial risk and

liability and expectations of the housing market's future

performance.

Mr. Chairman, this concludes my statement. We would be

pleased to respond to any questions that you or Members of the
Subcommittee may have.
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APPENDIX I APPENDIX I

GAP'S ECONOMIC MODEL

To estimate the economic net worth of FHA's Fund as of
September 30, 1992, and September 30, 1993, and its resulting
capital ratios under different economic scenarios, we examined
existing studies on the single-family housing programs of both HUD
and the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) , academic literature on
the modeling of mortgage defaults and prepayments, and previous
work performed by Price Waterhouse, HUD, VA, GAO, and others on
modeling government mortgage programs. On the basis of this
examination, we developed economic and cash flow models that we
used to prepare our estimates. For these models, we used data
supplied by FHA and DRI/McGraw-Hill, a private economic forecasting
company.

Our economic analysis estimated the historical relationships
between certain explanatory factors and the probability of loan
foreclosure and prepayment. To estimate these relationships, we
used data on the performance of FHA- insured home mortgage loans
originated from fiscal years 1975 through 1993. Also, using our
estimates of these relationships and of economic conditions, we
developed a baseline forecast of future loan performance to
estimate economic net worth and the resulting capital ratio. We
then developed additional estimates that assumed higher and lower
future rates of appreciation in house prices; the scenario with the
lower rate of house price appreciation also assumed higher
unemployment.

We estimated future house prices by multiplying the initial
value of the property at the time of loan origination by the
DRI/McGraw-Hill forecasts of the annual increase in the median
house price not adjusted for inflation. The rate of change in the
median house price reflects the price of houses actually sold each
year. Because new houses are larger and include more amenities
than existing homes, the median sales prices of new homes will
usually increase faster than the median sales prices for existing
homes. In addition, the value of existing homes depreciates over
time. The relevant consideration to the FHA homeowner, however, is
how much the value of his or her house has increased since
purchase, not how much the value of the general housing stock has
changed. Because of these considerations, we adjusted the
estimated rate of appreciation in existing house prices downward by
2 percent annually to account for changes in housing quality and
depreciation. Also, to ensure that our estimates were
conservative, we subtracted an additional 1 percent annually from
DRI '

s forecasts. While the rates of appreciation in house prices
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APPENDIX I APPENDIX I

we used were different for each state, the average^ rates of

appreciation for each fiscal year for our baseline scenario were
1993— 2 percent; 1994--4 percent; 1995 through 1996--3 percent,
1997--4 percent, 1998--3.5 percent. DRI did not forecast rates of

appreciation after 1998. We used a constant 3.5 percent rate for
fiscal year 1999 and beyond.

In addition, we estimated unemployment rates by using state
forecasts of unemployment as reported by DRI. The national average
of the DRI unemployment forecasts is 6.6 percent in fiscal year
1993, falling to 5.5 percent in fiscal year 1998.

(385434)

^The averages were weighted by each state's 1993 FHA market
share.
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Table 1; GAO's Estimates of the Eoonoinlo Net Worth and Capital
Ratioa of FHA^s Fund as of Septenber 30. 19 92. and 1993
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Table 2; Factors Contributing to the Increase in Economic Ket
Worth of FHA's Fund During riscal Year 1993

Beonomlo and program factors
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revised premium refund
schedule

$0.5 billion (10 percent)
less than our baseline
estimate of $4.9 billion

AlBO, GAO estimates that had the 2.25 percent premium, rather
than 3 percent, been in effect in fiscal year 1993 and the demand
for FHA mortgages was unchanged, the economic value of the Fund
would have declined by about $460 million, or 9 percent, from our
baseline estimate.
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Questions fran Congresswanan Marge RDukona to GAO (Jackie Williams-Bridgers)

1 . The bottom line in the discussions regarding the Actuarial Soundness of the MMIF is

whether the estimations are correct. The IG/Price Waterhouse study indicates that the capital

ratio is 1 .44%.

a. What were the assumptions that allowed the IG and Price Waterhouse to come to this

conclusion? I mean this in terms of economic climate, premium refund policy, and,

refinancing activity. How do these factors, and others that we may not be aware of play

into the determination of capital ratio standard of 1 .44%?

b. If there were slight changes in your assumptions, such as the economic trend, etc., how

would the capital ratio change?

2. There has been speculation by some experts that the Actuarial Study is highly speculative

and cautious. I interpret that to mean that although there was a 1 .44% determination,

there were many aspects of the audit and study that caused Price Waterhouse to "hedge"

its professional call. Could you comment on that concem?

a. As a follow-up, what were the effects of the substantial refinancing activity during FY 93?

Are those refinances less or more risky than previous years? Is it possible that the riskier

borowers remained with FHA, and if so, was that taken into account in determining a

1 .44% capital ratio?

b. What is the loan-to-value ratios on these refinanced FHA mortgages and what impact,

positively or negatively, did this activity have on the K/1MIF in FY 93?

3. It appears that this debate over FHA's involvement really comes down to whether FHA is

capable of at)Sorbing an expansion of its program. In other words, whether FHA has the capacity

to manage effectively its mortgage insurance business and the ancillary activities such as

assignment, foreclosure, property maintenance, and property disposition.

a. What is FHA's capacity to manage effectively its mortgage insurance business?

b. Given the proposed expansion of FHA through increases in the FHA mortgage loan limit

and the risk-sharing program, will FHA have the capacity to handle its expanded

business?

4. Given the increases in the FHA mortgage loan limits to $101 ,575 in its base floor and as

high as $172,678 in high-cost areas, what is the impact of the FHA expansion on the private

sector entities?

a. In other words, will this expansion "cut" into the private mortgage insurance business? or.

Will this expansion serve current underserved markets whose homeownership needs are

not being met by the private sector?
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If the FHA expansion will serve current underserved markets, then what are those

markets? (minorities, inner-cities, first-time homebuyers, high l-t-v loans, etc.)

5. The Committee Print for the Housing and Community Development Act of 1994 includes

a new program called the "FHA single family mortgage insurance risk-sharing program."

a. What is the impact of that new risk-sharing program on the tVIMlF? Will this program
affect the capital ratio?

6. The 1 990 housing bill (National Affordable Housing Act), among other things, required that

the payment of distributive shares by FHA be based on the actuarial soundness of the entire

MfvllF and not solely on the performance of loans endorsed during a particular year of business.

It also require other provisions intended to make the financial footing of the tVIMlF meet safety and

soundness requirements.

a. In light of the IG/Price Waterhouse audit, do you think it prudent for FHA to begin paying
distributive shares once again?

b. On a broader level, do you think that it would be prudent at this time to revisit the

provisions of NAHA and, if so, what changes would you make regarding the current

program's structure?

7. Price Watertiouse states that the entire MMI books of business from FY 75 through FY
93 are generating a negative cash value of -$6.5 billion. This means that future cash outflows

from the Fund to cover claims and other costs associated with loans on the MMIF books is $6.5

billion more than cash inflows these loans will generate through premiums, recoveries and other

Income.

a. Given PW's statement, is it premature to argue that future FHA loans will "bail-out" the

current loans?

b. In light of this large negative cash situation, is it premature to determine whether the

single family Is now on a solid financial (actuarial) foundation?
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RESPONSES OF MS. JACOUELYN L. WILLIAMS-BRIDGERS . GAP
TO QUESTIONS FROM CONGRESSWOMAN MARGE ROUKEMA

QUESTION

1. The bottom line in the discussions regarding the actuarial
soundness of the MMIF is whether the estimations are correct.
GAO's study indicates that the capital ratio is 1.83%.

a. What were the assumptions that allowed you to come to this
conclusion? I mean in terms of economic climate, premium refund
policy, and, refinancing activity. How do these factors, and
others that we may not be aware of play into the determination of
capital ratio standard of 1.83%.

GAO RESPONSE

Our forecast, like any other, depends on a variety of
assumptions. As a result, we prepared a base case forecast
incorporating those assumptions and conducted sensitivity
analyses to determine by how much this forecast would change if
we changed our assumptions. Our assumptions about economic
variables affected our forecasts of future loan foreclosures and
prepayments, while our assumptions about FHA operations
determined the cash flows that resulted from our estimated
foreclosures and prepayments. Our key assumptions for our base
case forecast are as follows:

Economic variables: We used forecasted values of three economic
variables: house price appreciation rate, mortgage interest
rate, and unemployment rate. For house price appreciation and
unemployment rates we used different estimated rates for each
state. Our house price appreciation rates were derived from
DRI/McGraw-Hill forecasts of the annual increase in the median
house price not adjusted for inflation. We adjusted the
estimated rate for each state in each year downward by 2 percent
to account for changes in housing quality and depreciation. To
ensure that our estimates were conservative, we subtracted an
additional 1 percent annually from DRI's forecast. While the
rates varied by state, the approximate average rates, weighted by
each state's 1993 FHA market share, were as follows: 1993— 2

percent; 1994— 4 percent; 1995— 3 percent; 1996— 3 percent; 1998-
-3.5 percent. Because DRI's forecasts did not extend beyond
1998, we used a constant 3.5 percent rate for 1999 and beyond.
For mortgage rates we used DRI's forecast for each year of the
average 3 0-year fixed rate mortgage interest rate on new houses.
These rates ranged between 7.67 percent and 8.63 percent during
the forecast period. For unemployment rates, we used DRI's state
forecasts. The national average of the DRI unemployment rate
forecasts is 6.6 percent for 1993, falling to 5.5 percent for
1998.



136

FHA operations: We made numerous assumptions about FHA
operations, generally assuming that the future would resemble the
past. For example, we assumed that FHA continues to use the
premium refund schedule it introduced for loans prepaying in
1994. We assumed that for each book of business, FHA's
acquisition cost ratio—the total amount paid by FHA to settle a
claim and acquire a property, divided by the outstanding
principal balance on the mortgage at the time of foreclosure—
would remain unchanged from what we calculated they have been to
date. These rates vary from a high of 1.39 percent for the 1975
book of business to a low of 1.08 percent for the 1992 book.
Because we had no experience to draw on, we assumed that the
ratio for the 1993 book would be the same as for 1992. Based on
information reported by Price Waterhouse, we assume the time lag
between the payment of a claim and the receipt of proceeds from
the disposition of the property to be 7.8 months in both the past
and the future. For FHA's loss rate—the dollar loss incurred on
a claim divided by the claim amount—during the forecast period,
we assumed a value of 38 percent, which is the average loss
reported by FHA's financial auditors for fiscal year 1993 and is
also comparable to the weighted average of losses over a longer
period. On the basis of data in recent years' financial
statements, we assumed that annual administrative expenses were
0.1 percent of the outstanding principal balance. Finally, we
made assumptions about the discount rate used to convert income
and expense streams, regardless of when they occur, into 1993
dollars. We applied discount rates that were intended to match
as closely as possible the rate of return FHA likely earned in
the past or would earn in the future from its investment in U.S.
Treasury securities. As an approximation of what FHA earned, for
each book of business we used a rate of return comparable to the
yield on 7-year U.S. Treasury securities prevailing when that
book was written to discount all cash flows occurring in the
first seven years of that book's existence. We assumed that
after seven years the Fund's investment was rolled over into new
Treasury securities at the interest rate prevailing at that time
and used that rate to discount cash flows to the rollover date.
For rollover dates occurring in 1994 and beyond, we used 7

percent as the new discount rate.

QUESTION

lb. If there were slight changes in your assumptions, such as
the economic trend, etc, how would the capital ratio change?

GAO RESPONSE

We conducted several sensitivity analyses to determine by how
much our estimate of the Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund's (Fund)
economic net worth and capital ratio would change if we made
different assumptions about key variables. In particular, we
changed some of our economic assumptions to develop high and low
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case estimates. In our high case, we added 1 percentage point
per year to our base case assumptions about the rate of house
price appreciation. In our low case, we subtracted 1 percentage
point per year from our base case and raised our estimated state
unemployment rates by assuming that the state's 1993 unemployment
rate would prevail from 1994 on as well. Under the high case, we
estimate an economic net worth of the Fund of $5.2 billion and a

capital ratio of 1.92 percent, while under the low case we
estimate an economic net worth of $4.0 billion and a capital
ratio of 1.47 percent. These estimates compare to our base case
estimates of $4.9 billion for the Fund's economic net worth and
1.83 percent for the capital ratio. We also tested the
sensitivity of our estimates to our assumed values of FHA's
future loss rate and the discount rate used to convert future
cash flows into 1993 dollars. We found that for our base case
economic scenario, a one percentage point change in the loss rate
(from 38 percent to either 37 or 39 percent) resulted in a $200
million change in the estimated economic net worth of the Fund
and a capital ratio change of less than 0.1 percentage points.
We found that applying a 1 percentage point higher or lower
discount rate for future cash flows resulted in even smaller
changes in the Fund's economic net worth and capital ratio.

QUESTION

2. There has been speculation by some experts that the actuarial
study is highly speculative and cautious. I interpret that to
mean that although there was a 1.83% determination, there were
many uncertainties surrounding certain aspects of the study.
Could you comment on that concern?

GAO RESPONSE

Any estimate of the future cash flows expected over the life of
up to 3 years of existing FHA mortgage loans is subject to many
uncertainties. Future cash flows on these loans depend on many
economic, program, and other factors that will prevail in the
future including interest rates, house price appreciation rates,
unemployment rates, and program policies such as premiums charged
FHA borrowers. For example, our baseline forecast of the
economic value of FHA's Fund and resulting capital ratio of 1.83
percent as of September 30, 1993, assumes that distributive share
payments will not be made from the Fund over the life of the
loans outstanding as of that date. Should distributive share
payments be resumed in the future, our estimate will need to be
adjusted to recognize this change in program policy.

While neither our actuarial study nor any other such study can
escape uncertainty, our study addresses uncertainty explicitly,
by incorporating economic scenarios which are more optimistic and
more pessimistic than our baseline scenarios.
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QUESTION

2a. As a follow-up, what were the effects of the substantial
refinancing activity during FY 93? Are those refinances less or
more risky than previous years? Is it possible that the riskier
borrowers remained with FHA, and if so, was that taken into
account in determining a 1.83% capital ratio?

GAO RESPONSE

The substantial refinancing activity that occurred on FHA loans
during fiscal year 1993 has created a class of FHA borrowers
whose future behavior is more difficult to predict than the
typical FHA borrower. About 8 percent of FHA's amortized
insurance-in-force as of the end of fiscal year 1993 consists of
streamlined refinanced mortgages for which there is little
experience about the tendency for these loans to foreclose and/or
prepay.

To understand the effect of the recent refinancing wave on the
riskiness of FHA's portfolio, it may help to think of FHA
borrowers as in three categories—low risk, moderate risk, and
high risk. When interest rates decline, borrowers in all three
categories are motivated to refinance their mortgages to lower
their monthly payments.

Low risk FHA borrowers, those borrowers who have accumulated
substantial equity in their properties and/or high income
relative to mortgage payments, may choose to refinance in the
private market, where fees are lower, but underwriting standards
are more stringent. When this occurs, FHA loans on average
become more risky because of the adverse selection effect of low
risk borrowers exiting the program, leaving only moderate and

high risk borrowers in the program.

On the other hand, moderate risk FHA borrowers may be willing to

pay FHA's higher fees and obtain an FHA streamlined refinanced
loan, thereby taking advantage of FHA's less stringent
underwriting standards to lower their monthly payments. Because
monthly payments for these borrowers are lowered following
refinancing, these moderate risk loans become less risky to FHA
than they were previously and FHA's portfolio of loans on average
becomes less risky.

High risk FHA borrowers might not refinance either privately or

through FHA and therefore are the riskiest of all FHA loans.
There are many reasons why a borrower might not take advantage of
a refinancing opportunity when interest rates decline. One is
that the borrower might have a difficult time qualifying for a

new mortgage because of some form of economic distress, such as

unemployment or late payments.
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While our model does not reliably estimate the effect of adverse
selection because there is very limited experience on which to
evaluate this effect, our model does estimate the magnitude of
the payment reduction effect resulting from streamline
refinancing. If the adverse selection effect of low risk loans
leaving the program is stronger than the risk reduction effect
resulting from the lower monthly payments on moderate risk loans
which obtained streamlined refinancing, then the refinancing wave
of 1993 made FHA's remaining portfolio more risky. If not, then
risk has declined.

Although the safest loans in FHA's portfolio have departed, these
loans still represented some risk that is no longer assumed by
FHA. On the other hand, these borrowers paid up front premiums
when their loans were originated, only part of which is refunded
upon departure. We do not know, however, whether the decrease in
risk to FHA's Fund from the loans that have been streamlined
refinanced is large enough to offset the partial premium refunds.

However, the overall impact on the Fund of these streamlined
refinance loans is probably positive, for reasons discussed in
our response to question 2b. In this regard, our model does
include in its forecasts of the Fund's economic value and capital
ratios the beneficial effect that lower interest rates, hence,
lower payment burdens, have on the risk assumed by FHA from
streamlined refinanced mortgages. Similarly, our model estimates
that those loans with no appraisals written after fiscal year
1983 (almost all of these are fiscal years 1992 and 1993 loans)
are slightly more risky than loans with 100 percent loan-to-value
(LTV) ,

but this estimate is based on extremely limited
information and should not be treated as firm until more
experience is available. Our model also estimates the negative
effect of high risk FHA loans which have not refinanced with FHA
or the private market.

QUESTION

2b. What is the loan-to-value ratios on these refinanced FHA
mortgages and what impact, positively or negatively, did this
activity have on the MMIF in FY 93?

GAO RESPONSE

Because properties that were FHA streamlined refinanced were not
required to be appraised, the LTV of these loans is unknown.
However, since they represent pre-existing FHA business, whose
risk has been reduced through lower interest rates and lower
monthly payments, their impact on the financial health of the
Fund is probably positive.
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QUESTION

3. It appears that the debate over FHA's involvement really
comes down to whether FHA is capable of absorbing an expansion of
its program. In other words, whether FHA has the capacity to
manage effectively its mortgage insurance business and the
ancillary activities such as assignment, foreclosure, property
maintenance, and property disposition.

a. What is FHA's capacity to manage effectively its mortgage
insurance business?

b. Given the proposed expansion of FHA through increases in the
FHA mortgage loan limit and the risk-sharing program, will FHA
have the capacity to handle its expanded business?

GAO RESPONSE

Recently, concerns have been raised by the Department of Housing
and Urban Development's Inspector General, Price Waterhouse, and
GAO, regarding the agency's current work load, the adequacy of
its current staffing level, and its ability to adequately monitor
and service its existing portfolio of loans. In addition, the
Department has been plagued for years by information systems that
do not satisfy management needs or provide the information needed
for adequate control over its programs. Many of these problems
persist today, making it highly questionable whether FHA has the
resources to adequately manage its current workload let alone
take on additional responsibilities. We believe that the
Congress should take these concerns into consideration when
debating any proposals that would lead to an expansion of FHA's
mortgage insurance program.

QUESTION

4. Given the increases in the FHA mortgage loan limits to
$101,575 in its base floor and as high as $172,678 in high-cost
areas, what is the impact of the FHA expansion on the private
sector entities?

a. In other words, will this expansion "cut" into the private
mortgage insurance business? or, Will this expansion serve
current underserved markets whose homeownership needs are not
being met by the private sector?

GAO RESPONSE

In our opinion, the proposed increase in the FHA mortgage loan
limits will result to some extent in both impacts occurring— it
will cut into the private mortgage insurance business and serve
currently underserved markets. However, we do not know how much
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additional business FHA would receive if the loan limits were
increased to $101,575 in its base floor and $172,678 in high cost
areas, nor do we know the extent to which the additional FHA
business generated represents business lost by private mortgage
insurers (PMI) or loans to underserved markets whose
homeownership needs are not being met by the private sector.

If the ceilings on FHA insured loans are increased, it should be
expected that some FHA business will consist of loans that exceed
the present ceilings. Most likely, some of this new FHA business
will be generated by home buyers who could have obtained private
mortgage insurance on their loans because FHA's insurance program
does not exclude home buyers who qualify for private mortgage
insurance from obtaining FHA insurance. However, this loss of
business by PMIs to FHA might be small because home buyers who
qualify for private insurance are likely to find it less
expensive than FHA insurance. It is also likely that some of
this new FHA business will be generated by home buyers who
qualify for FHA insurance, but would not have qualified for
private mortgage insurance because PMIs typically require higher
down payments or employ more stringent underwriting standards.

Another impact of increasing FHA's mortgage loan limits could be
that, some home buyers obtaining FHA insurance on loans that
exceed the previous ceilings might have obtained FHA insurance to
purchase a less expensive home if the old ceilings were still in
effect. Yet another impact is that in low cost areas where the
current ceiling is $67,500, raising the ceiling will set the loan
limit above 95 percent of the areas' median housing prices.

QUESTION

b. If the FHA expansion will serve current underserved markets,
then what are those markets? (minorities, inner-cities, first-
time homebuyers, high 1-t-v loans, etc.)

GAO RESPONSE

To the extent that FHA's expansion serves currently underserved
markets, such markets are likely to be in neighborhoods that
contain houses with market values that exceed the current
ceilings, but are below, or only slightly above, the proposed
ceilings. In some areas of the country, this may allow home
buyers to obtain FHA insurance on houses in many neighborhoods in
which they could not do so under the current ceilings (unless
they made a very large down payment, in which case they would be
unlikely to use FHA) . But in other market areas, most
neighborhoods may contain houses with market values that are
below the current ceilings. In these market areas, raising the
FHA ceiling might not open up new neighborhoods to FHA borrowers
but would increase the share of housing that could be financed
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with FHA insured loans.

We do not know the extent to which home buyers obtaining FHA
insurance in amounts exceeding the current ceilings would be
minorities, an inner-city resident, first-time home buyers, or
high LTV loans. During fiscal year 1993, about 16 percent of FHA
borrowers were minorities, 35 percent lived in urban areas, and
35 percent were first-time home buyers. However, these
percentages might be less for loans above the current ceiling
because a smaller share of houses sold in that price range may be
sold to home buyers with these characteristics.

While we do not know what the average LTV ratio would be for
loans that exceed the current loan ceilings, LTV ratios tend to
be about the same for loans of different sizes except for loans
very close to the ceiling. For those loans, LTVs tend to be a
little lower, on average. If this trend were to continue as the
ceilings were raised, then the average LTV of new business
resulting from raising the ceilings would be a little lower than
the average LTV for existing loans.

QUESTION

5. The Committee Print for the Housing and Community Development
Act of 1994 includes a new program called the "FHA single family
mortgage insurance risk-sharing program."

a. What is the impact of that new risk-sharing program on the
MMIF? Will this program affect the capital ratio?

GAO RESPONSE

Due to its more liberal underwriting standards, current FHA loans
have a higher foreclosure rate than loans underwritten by private
mortgage lenders. However, as long as the premiums charged are
high enough to cover expected losses, FHA's Fund will remain
actuarially sound. If a risk sharing program were initiated to
provide FHA insurance on higher priced houses, this business (if
underwritten using existing FHA standards) would also be more
risky than private loans underwritten at this level. To preserve
the soundness of the Fund, appropriate premiums would have to be
charged to cover this risk. In addition, arrangements between
FHA, Government National Mortgage Association, and State and
local agencies would have to be carefully crafted to ensure that
there was a genuine sharing of financial risk. Through a

combination of equitable risk sharing and adequate premiums, the
program could be designed to have little, if any, impact on the
actuarial soundness (capital ratio) of the Fund. However, to the
extent that the risk to FHA is substantially increased,
consideration should be given to including this new program in
FHA's Special Risk Fund.
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QUESTION

6. The 1990 housing bill (National Affordable Housing Act),
among other things, required that the payment of distributive
shares by FHA be based on the actuarial soundness of the entire
MMIF and not solely on the performance of loans endorsed during a

particular year of business. It also contained other provisions
intended to make the financial footing of the MMIF meet safety
and soundness requirements.

a. In light of your study, do you think it prudent for FHA to
begin paying distributive shares once again?

b. On a broader level, do you think that it would be prudent at
this time to revisit the provisions of NAHA and, if so, what
changes would you make regarding the current program's structure?

GAO RESPONSE

GAO strongly supported enactment of the Cranston-Gonzalez
National Affordable Housing Act of 1990 (NAHA) and continues to
support the provisions contained in that legislation, including
the suspension of the payment of distributive shares. It is
critical to the future financial health of the Fund that FHA only
underwrite loans that are actuarially sound. Our analysis shows
that in the first two years that the Cranston-Gonzalez provisions
have been in effect, the Fund has shown substantial improvement—
adding $1.2 billion and $1.5 billion to economic value in fiscal
years 1992 and 1993, respectively. While the Fund did not
achieve the November 1992 mandated capital ratio of 1.25, it
exceeded it by the end of fiscal year 1993 (1.83 percent).
However, it should be stressed that the Fund has not yet reached
the 2 percent needed for actuarial soundness under the law. In
addition, very little information is available on how well loans
underwritten by FHA in fiscal years 1991 through 1993—critical
years since enactment of NAHA in which the Fund's financial
position substantially improved and record refinancing took
place—will perform in the future.

Given the uncertainty surrounding any estimate of the Fund's
economic net worth, we believe it prudent for Congress to defer
making any major changes to the provisions enacted into law by
the 1990 Housing Act until at least one more year of information
is available on the foreclosure performance of the recent years
books-of-business .

QUESTION

7. Price Waterhouse states that the entire MMI books of business
from FY 75 through FY 93 are generating a negative cash value of
-$6.5 billion. This means that future cash outflows from the
Fund to cover claims and other costs associated with loans on the
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MMIF books is $6.5 billion more than cash inflows these loans
will generate through premiums, recoveries and other income.

7a. Given PW's statement, is it premature to argue that future
FHA loans will "bail-out" the current loans?

GAO RESPONSE

The actuarial soundness of the Fund depends on its economic net
worth, not its future cash flow. Future cash flows are only one
component of net worth. To determine soundness, one must
consider premium income the Fund has already received for its
existing loans as well as future cash outflows. Although there
will be substantial outflows from the Fund in future years due to
claims that will be made against the Fund following defaults on
loans in the 1975 through 1993 books of business, that does not
by itself imply that those books were unsound. In fact, the 1980
through 1991 books do show a negative economic value. However,
both the 1992 and 1993 books are projected to have large positive
economic values. That is, although future cash outflows for
loans in those books will exceed future cash inflows, the premium
income already collected will be more than sufficient to cover
the excess.

Despite the positive books of the last two years and the period
from 1975 through 1979, it is still true that the economic value
of the loans insured for the entire period 1975 through 1993 is

negative because of large losses associated with the 1981 through
1986 books. Nonetheless, because the Fund built up substantial
assets on its pre-1975 business, we estimate that the economic
value of the Fund as of the end of 1993 was about $4.9 billion.
Price Waterhouse made a similar estimate. These estimates are
based on loans insured through 1993; even if no future loans are
insured, the Fund will have a positive economic net worth.
Therefore, future loans are not necessary to "bail-out" current
loans.

QUESTION

In light of this large negative cash situation, is it premature
to determine whether the single family is now on a solid
financial (actuarial) foundation?

GAO RESPONSE

The negative future cash flow on existing loans is not the
appropriate measure to determine whether the Fund is actuarially
sound. We analyzed the economic value of the Fund as of the end
of fiscal year 1993 and estimated that its net worth at that time
was about $4.9 billion, which gave the Fund a capital ratio of
1.83 percent of its amortized insurance-in-force. Therefore,
although the Fund did not achieve the November 1992, mandated
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capital ratio of 1.25 percent, it exceeded this ratio by the end
of 1993. During the past two years the Fund made considerable
progress toward achieving the legislative target for actuarial
soundness of a 2 percent ratio by November 2 000. However,
whether the Fund will be able to achieve that ratio by that time
and maintain it thereafter will depend on a number of factors
including economic conditions, program changes, and the demand
for FHA loans. We did not attempt to project the economic net
worth and capital ratio of the Fund to the year 2000 because
these factors are likely to change. *
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Office of Govemmem Services Telephone 202 296 0800
1801 K Street, NW
Wasnmgton, DC 20006

Price V\hterhouse ^|(P

June 6. 1994

The Honorable Mcolas P. Retsinas
'

Assistant Secretary for Housing-Federal'Housing Commissioner

451 Seventh Street, Southwest, Room 9100

Washington, D.C. 20410

Dear Mr. Retsinas:

The Cranston-Gonzalez National Affordable Etousing Act (NAHA) requires an

independent actuarial analysis of the economic net wordi and soundness of the FHA's

Mutual Mortgage Insurance (MMI) Fund. We have completed die Fiscal Year 1993

Actuarial Review of the Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund, and stmimarize our findings

below.

The primary purpose of our review was to estimate:

• The economic value of the MMI Fund, defined as the sum of existing

capital plus the net present value of current books of business

• The ctirrent and projected capital ratio, defined as the economic value

divided by the total insurance-in-force.

We estimate that the MMI Fimd economic value was S4.SS4 billion at the end of fiscal

year (FY) 1993, and that the capital ratio was 1.44 percent We project that the Fimd
economic value at the end of FY 2000 will be $15,254 billion, and that the capital

ratio will be 3.40 percent.

The estimates presented here require projections of events thirty years into the future.

These projections are dependent upon a number of assumptions, including economic

forecasts by DRI and the assumption that FHA does not change its refund and

premium policies. To the extent these assumptions, or others, are not accurate, die

actual results will vaiy from our projections.

The full actuarial report explains these results and the reasons for the significant

improvement smce last year's actuarial review. If you have any questions, please feel

free to call Barry Dennis at (202) 861-6265.

Very truly yours.
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MMI Fund Analysis FY 1993 Executive Summary

Executive Summary

The Cranston-Gonzalez National Affordable Housing Act (NAHA) requires an independent

actuarial analysis of the economic net worth and soundness of the FHA's Mutual Mortgage

Insurance (MMI) Fund. This report presents our findings with respect to this required

analysis for Fiscal Year 1993.

The primary purpose of our review was to estimate:

• The economic value of the MMI Fund, defined as the sum of existing capital

plus the net present value of current books of business

• The current and projected capital ratio, defined as the economic value divided

by the total insurance-in-force

Status of the Fund

NAHA mandated that the MMI Fund achieve a capital ratio of at least 1 .25 percent by Fiscal

Year 1992 (FY 1992) and of at least 2.0 percent by FY 2000. While last year's Actuarial

Review estimated that the MMI Fund had not met the FY 1992 capital ratio requirement, we

estimate that the MMI Fimd's capital ratio has exceeded 1.25 percent as of the end of FY

1993. We project that the MMI Fund will exceed the 2.0 percent capital ratio mandated by

NAHA for FY 2000. Specifically, we estimate that the FY 1993 capital ratio of the MMI

Fund was 1.44 percent and project that the FY 2000 capital ratio will be 3.40 percent.

Price Waterhouse

Page i
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MMI Fund Analysis FY 1993 Execntive Summary

Exhibit ES-1: Projected MMI Fund Performance for FY 1993 to FY 2000

(S in Millions)

Fiscal

Year

1993

1994

1995

1996

1997

1998

1999

2000

Economic
Value of

the Fund*

$4,554

$6,127

$7,198

$8,687

$10,235

$11,845

$13,518

$15,254

CajMtal
Ratio

1.44%

1.92%

2.09%

2.39%

2.67%

2.92%

3.17%

3.40%

Volume
of New
Endorse-

ments

$65,165

$56,696

$47,182

$48,364

$47,688

$46,904

$46,363

$46,059

bisorantt

in Force

$316,527

$319,630

$344,318

$363,932

$383,966

$405,135

$426,643

$448,358

Economic
Vahie of

New Book
of

Business

$1,262

$1,414

$856

$1,238

$1,244

$1,252

$1,258

$1,263

Interest

on

Previous

Business

$0

$159

$214

$252

$304

$358

$415

$473

•The economic value for future years (FY 1994 through FY 2000) is equal to the economic value of the

Fund at the beginning of the year, plus the interest earned on previous business, plus the economic value

of the new book of business.

Sources of Improvement in Status of the Fund

The much improved current position of the Fimd reflects an increase in estimated current

economic value of $3,149 billion between the end of FY 1992 and the end of FY 1993. A

total of $953 million of this increase was anticipated in last year's Review. The remaining

$2,196 billion increase is the net effect of imanticipated developments during FY 1993 and

Price Waterhouse
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new economic forecasts ($2,654 billion), technical changes to the estimation models (-$0,932

billion), and changes in FHA refund and premiimi policies ($474 million).

The largest component of the improvement in the current status of the Fund is the effect of

unanticipated developments during FY 1993. The most important development was the

tremendous level of prepayments, increasing the estimated FY 1993 economic value by

$1,201 billion. These unexpectedly high prepayments, ^\ilich are due to lower interest rates,

dramatically increased the estimated economic value, becaiase the Fund avoids paying claims

in the future on the loans that prepaid, paying only a small refund of the upfront premiums.

Given that many of these mortgages were high-risk loans that entered the fund during the

mid-to-late 1 980s, the claims avoided were substantial. In addition, the forecast for the

economy is currently more favorable with regard to claims than last year's forecast, resulting

in an additional $869 million of estimated economic value.

The significant increase in the forecast FY 2000 capital ratio from the FY 1 992 Review

estimate of 2.44 percent to the current estimate of 3.40 percent is the net effect of an increase

of 1.79 percentage points due to the unanticipated 1993 events and a revised economic

forecast, a decrease of 1 .00 percentage points due to technical refmements to the estimation

models, and an increase of 0.17 percentage points due to the changes in FHA refund and

premium policies. The largest change (an increase of 1.55 percentage points) is due to the

more favorable new economic forecast. This new economic forecast affected the forecast FY

2000 capita] ratio primarily through revised projections of claims rather than prepayments.

The estimates presented here require projections of events thirty years into the future. These

projections are dependent upon a number of assimiptions, including economic forecasts by

Price Waterhouse
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DRI/McGraw-Hill and the assumption that FHA does not change its refund and premium

policies. To the extent these assumptions, or others, are not accurate, the actual results will

vary from our projections. j

Impact of Economic Forecasts

The economic value of the Fund and its pattern of capital accumulation to FY 2000 depends

on several factors. One of the most important factors is the nation's future economy during

the remaining lifetime of FHA's books of business. We c^ture the most significant factors

in the U.S. economy affecting the performance of the Fund's books of bxisiness through the

use of the following variables in our model:

FHA mortgage interest rate

Growth rate of constant quality house prices

• Growth rate of median household incomes

The performance of FHA's books of business, measured by their economic values, are

affected by changes in these variables. Interest rates affect initial and ongoing payment

burdens on household cash flows, and hence default risks. Interest rates also affect the

potential for prepayments due to refinancing as prevailing interest rates change during the

lifetime of each book. Faster average house price growth facilitates the accumulation of home

equity which tends to significantly reduce the likelihood of borrower default. It also

contributes to greater mobility and household asset portfolio rebalancing, leading to greater

turnover of housing and refmancings, thus increasing prepajTnent rates. Faster income growth

Price Wtuerhouse
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reduces the burden of mortgage payments on household cash flows over time, reducing risks

of default and claims as mortgages mature.

The base case results in this report are based on DRI's baseline forecasts as of May 1994 for

interest rates, constant quality house prices, and inflation rates. We considered two other

scenarios:- (1) DRI's pessimistic forecast utoch projects lower real GDP growth and higher

inflation and interest rales (referred to here as the "high inflation" scenario); and (2) DRI's

optimistic forecast which projects higher real GDP growth and lower inflation and interest

rates (referred to here as the "low inflation" scenario). We present our estimates of the Fund's

performance under each of these economic scenarios in Exhibit ES-2.

Exhibit ES-2

Summary of MMI Performance by Macroeconomic Scenario
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Estimated FY 1993 economic values under the different scenarios vary by approximately $1.5

billion, and the estimated FY 1993 capital ratio varies from 1.34 percent to 1.80 percent. We

project that under all three scenarios the Fund will significantly exceed the NAHA FY 2000

capital ratio target of 2.0 percent.

The Potential Effect of Adverse Selection

Adverse selection occurs when the conditions of insurance (such as price, convenience and

cash flow) results in the underwriting of higher-risk loans, while lower-risk loans select lower

premiums elsewhere. Because of the dramatic interest rate decline in FY 1992 and FY 1993,

FHA experienced an unusual number of prepayments, many of which left FHA. The MMI

premium structure is generally more competitive with PMIs for higher-LTV (generally higher-

risk) loans, and less competitive for lower-LTA' (generally lower-risk) loans, providing a

strong incentive for adverse selection. However, sufficient information is not yet available to

either prove or disprove the existence of adverse selection with regard to the

FY 1992 and FY 1993 prepayments.

We have examined the sensitivity of the FY 1 993 Actuarial Review results to two potential

effects of the large prepayments. First, we assessed the effect of the possibility that the

unusually large prepayments left a higher mix of riskier loans in the existing books of

business. Second, we assessed the effect of the possibility that the large refinancings

experienced in FY 1992 and FY 1993 substantially lowered the risk profile of the refinanced

loans. This lower-risk profile is likely since refinancing lowers the monthly payment burden,

while leaving other characteristics unaffected.

Price Waterhouse
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In assessing the sensitivity of the results of the FY 1 993 Actuarial Review to these effects, we

have adjusted the projected conditional claim rates by selected amounts. We have little

factual basis on which to select the magnitude of the adjustments. While we have selected

adjustments that we believe to be plausible, the adjustments are meant to be primarily

illustrative.

The results of our sensitivity analysis show that under all but the most extreme scenarios, the

effect on estimated economic value and capital ratios is moderate. Under all scenarios, we

project that the Fund will still comfortably exceed the FY 2000 NAHA-mandated capital ratio

of 2.00 percent. In the extreme negative scenarios, the Fund would reach the 1.25 percent

capital ratio in FY 1995 or 1996, and exceed the 2.00 percent capital ratio in FY 2000.

The Effect of Data Limitations in Projecting Terminations in the "No Appraisal" Loan

Category'

The "No Appriasal" category has grown in the last few years and is now the single largest

LTV categor>', with 31 percent of the origination volume in FY 1993. Unfortunately, we do

not have information on the LTV for these loans. Since our econometric models are designed

to capture the expected differences in claims between loans with different initial LTV ratios,

this growth in the "No Appraisal" category is problematic. If the current distribution of LTV

ratios within this category differs markedly from the historical distribution, our estimates of

loan performance may be biased. If, for example, the borrowers who pursue streamline

refinancings tend on average to have lower levels of home equity and household income than

borrowers who do not, the "No Appraisal" category would likely perform worse than

projected. Until more accurate data are available regarding the composition of loans within

Price Waterhouse
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the "No Appraisal" category, we will continue to assume that it will perform in the future as

it has in the past. However, to test the sensitivity of the estimated economic value and capital

ratio to potential biases in these estimates, we;again adjusted the claims rates by selected

amounts.

We find that, while affecting the estimated results, any potential bias of this type is unlikely

to significantly alter the conclusions of this analysis. In all scenarios, the Fund is still

projected to comfortably exceed the FY 2000 capital ratio target of 2.0 percent, and in all but

the most extreme negative scenario, the Fxmd is estimated to have exceeded a capital ratio of

1.25 percent in FY 1993.

Price Waterhouse
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Audit of the Federal Housing Administration's Fiscal Year 1993 Financial

Statements

This report presents the results of Price Waterbouse's audit of the Federal Housing
Administration's (FHA) financial statements for the year ended September 30, 1993. In Price

Waterhouse's opinion, with which we concur, the financial statements present fairly, in all

material respects, FHA's financial position and results of its operations and its cash flows in

conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. In addition to the opinion on the

fmancial statements, reports on FHA's internal controls and on its compliance with laws and

regulations are provided.

For Fiscal Year 1993, FHA operations resulted in an 'excess of revenue over expenses" of $1 .6

billion. This increase can be associated with a $1.6 billion decrease in the multifamily loss

reserves for Fiscal Year 1993, which was recorded as a credit in the statement of ofwrations.

This decrease is attributable to: 1) decreases in the expected claims for projects ranked in the

least risky categories because of the improving economy; 2) payment of claims; 3) increases in

the amounts expected to be recovered in the ultimate resolution of default claims from the

Coinsurance program; and 4) a general improvement in the risk ranking of insured projects as

a result of the 1993 portfolio assessment.

Audit Scope and

0MB Audit

Requirements

This audit was performed pursuant to the requirements of

the Chief Financial Officers (CFO) Act and Office of

Management and Budget (0MB) Bulletin 93-06, Audit

Requiranerus for Federal Financial Statanems. To

complete this audit, we contracted with the indq)endent

certified public accounting firm of Price Waterbouse. We

approved the scope of the audit work, monitored its

progress at key points, reviewed Price Waterhouse's

working papers, and performed odier procedures we

deemed necessary. The audit was conducted in accordance

with Government Auditing Standards and the s^licable

provisions of 0MB Bulletin 93-06.
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OMB act forth audit requirements in Bulletin 93-06 that

exceed CovemmefU Auditing Sumdards, primarily in two

areas. These relate to:

• expanding die review of FHA's internal control

ttructure and

» reviewing performance measures contained in FHA's

annual rqxyrt

To address the first requirement, we engaged Price

Waterhouse to expand their review of FHA's internal

coatrol structure to meet the additional OMB requirements.

The results of this work are incorporated in their icpon on

internal controls. To address the second additional

requirement, OIG is performing procedures required by
OMB Bulletin 93-06. Because FHA's annual report is not

yet complete, our review is ongoing and the results of our

review will be reported by us at a later date.

Results of Price

Waterhouse 's

Audit

In Price Waterhouse's opinion, with which we concur,

FHA's financial statements present fairly, in all material

respects, its financial position as of September 30, 1993,

and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the

fiscal year then ended, in conformity with generally

accepted accounting principles. In addition to the opinion

on FHA's Fiscal Year 1993 financial statements, Price

Waterhouse has also reported on FHA's system of internal

controls and on its compliance with laws and regulations.

FHA internal control

weaknesses are being
addressed but still exist

Price Waterhouse's report on internal controls included the

same five rqwrtable conditions disclosed in the prior year's

audit. The first four nportablt conditions are also

classified as material weaknesses. The weaknesses are

interrelated in that one weakness cannot be effectively

addressed without addressing the others. They are:

» HUD must implement its plan to mitigate resource

shortages and periodically assess the plan's

effectiveness.

• Insured mortgage servicing must place more emphasis

on early warning and loss prevention.
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Noncompliance with

credit reform reporting

requirements

• FHA must implement actions to promptly resolve

Secretary-held multifunilyand single £unily motgages.

» Continued emphasis must be placed on improving
accounting and financial management systems.

» FHA must perform a complete review of the security
and processing controls for all computer systems.

Price Waterbouse's iq>ort discusses each of these

weaknesses in detail and provides an assessment of actions

taken to mitigate the weaknesses.

Price Waterhouse's tepott on compliance with laws and

regulations disclosed noncompliance with financial

reporting requirements of the Credit Reform Act. In this

regard, FHA had commingled pre-fiscal year 1992 cash

flows with post fiscal year 1991 cash flows related to up-
front insurance premiums received for Single Family
mongages during 1993. This resulted in the credit reform

'Liquidating Account" being overstated and the "Financing
Account" being understated by $500 million. Price

Waterhouse's report discusses this issue in detail and

recommends system improvements to correct this

weakness.

Recommendations
and Follow-up on

Prior Audits

In audit reports on FHA's prior years' financial statements,

various recommendations had been presented to address

FHA's iniemal control weaknesses. While FHA has taken

certain actions to address these recommendations,
corrective actions are not complete. In accordance with the

Dcpanmcnt's Audits Management System, we will continue

to track the resolution of these prior years' audit

recommendations.

Price Waterhouse reported a new recommendation in the

report on compliance with laws and regulations. We are

restating and numbering this recommendation as follows to

facilitate its tracking in the Department's Automated Audits

Management System.

l.a. Make appropriate systems enhancements to track

cash flows relating to the MMI Fund Financing and

Liquidating accounts in accordance with the

requiremenu of the Credit Reform Act.
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Comments of FHA
Officials

On Febniuy 5, 1994 we i^ovided a draft of Price

Walertiouse't npon oo internal cxmtrols to FHA officials

for their review and comment. In nspoaat to their

comments, a reviaed draft was presented to FHA officials

00 May IS, 1994. Draft reports on FHA's financial

statements and on its compliance with laws and regulations

were provided to FHA officials on May 31, 1994. FHA
officials geoeially agreed with the findings and

recommendations and their comments were considered in

developing the final veraon of this rqiort.

During the course of the audit, Price Waterbouse also identified aeveial matters which, although

not material to the financial statements, are being communicated to us and FHA separately. We
appreciate the courtesies and cooperation extended to the Price Waterhouse and OIG audit staff

during the conduct of the audit.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

To the Inspector General.

U.S. Depanment of Housing and Urban Developntem

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position of the Federal

Housing Administration (FHA), an agency operated by the Departntent of Housing and Urban

Development (HUD), as of September 30. 1993 and 1992, and the related consolidated

sutements of operations, govenunent equity (deficiency), tnd of cash flows for the years then

ended. These fmancial sutements are the responsibility of FHA's management. Our

responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial sutentents based on our audits

Except as explained in the following paragraph, we conducted our audits in accordance with

generally accepted auditing standards, and Covtmment Auditing Standards, issued by the

Comptroller General of the United States. These standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fmancial statements are free of

material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supportmg the

amounts and disclosures in the fmancial sutements. An audit also includes assessing the

accountmg prmciples used and significant estimates made by management, as well as

evaluatms the overall fmancial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a

reasonable basis for our opinion In addition, except for portions of the Bulletin that relate

to the Federal Managers' Financial Integrit}' Act of 1982, and the review of performance
measures which was performed by HUD's Office of Inspector General, we conducted our

audits in accordance with Office of Management and Budget (0MB) Bulletin 93-06. Audit

Requirements for Federal Financial Statements.

In our report dated April 16, 1993, we did not express an opinion on FHA's statements of

operations, of government equity (deficiency), and of cash flows for the year ended September

30, 1992. This was because, prior to September 30. 1992. FHA was unable to determine

whether its multifamily loss reserves were sufficient to cover probable loan defaults, or to

determine the fiscal year in which events giving rise to the loss reserve first occurred. As a

result, when FHA completed its first multifamily loss reserve analysts as of September 30.

1992. the entire adjustment, amounting to $6.4 billion, was recorded in FHA's 1992 sutement

of operations, notwithstanding that some of these losses may have been ittributible to earlier

years FHA's inability to reasonably estimate the multifamily loss reserves resulted primarily

from its lack of complete and accurate financial and operational information about individual

multifamily loans, and the lack of a systemic, internal process in which loans are periodically

assessed according to their credit risk. For the two most recent fiscal yean, imnitement of



163

Rcpon of Independent Accountants

Page 2 #
FHA initiated special projects in which financial informaiion about certain loans was oouined.
loans were assessed and ranked according xo their risk, and a multifamily loss reserve was
calculated and recorded. While these special projects served as a basis for determining a loss

reserve on insured multifamily loans primarily for financial reporting purposes, they are

temporary in nature and have not corrected the material internal control weaknesses with

respect to multifamily loan information, risk assessment, and automated systems included in

our Report on Internal Controls.

As discussed in Note 6 to the financial statements, management's 1993 assessment of the

Multifamily insured loan portfolio resulted in a decrease to the loss reserve of SI.6 billion,

which was recorded as a credit in the statement of operations for the year ended September
30, 1993. This decrease is attributable to: (1) decreases in the expected claims for projects

ranked in the least risky categories in light of improvements in the economy; (2) payment of

claims: (3) increases in the amounts expected to be recovered in the ultimate resolution of

default claims from the Coinsurance program; and (4) a general improvement in the risk

ranking of insured projects as a result of the 1993 portfolio assessment. Management of FHA
believes the multifamily loss reserve of S10.3 billion recorded in the September 30. 1993

statement of financial position is sufficient to cover losses on the insured multifamily portfolio

Because of the matter discussed in the third paragraph, the scope of our work was not

surficient to enable us to express, and we do not express, an opinion on the consolidated

statements of operations, government equity (deficiency) and cash flows for the year ended

September 30. 1992.

In our opinion, the consolidated statements of financial position of the Federal Housing

Administration as of September 30. 1993 and 1992, and the related consolidated statements

of operations, government equirj- (deficiency), and cash flows for the year ended September

30. 1993. present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Federal Housing

Administration as of September 30, 1993 and 1992, and the results of its operations, its

government equit>- (deficiency), and its cash flows for the year ended September 30, 1993, in

conformity with generally accepted accounting principles

Our audit was made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial

sutemenis taken as a whole. The consolidating information is presented for purposes of

additional analysis of the consolidated financial statements rather than to present the financial

position, resula of operations, government equity (deficiency), and cash flows of the individual

budgetary funds through which FHA operates its activities. Accordingly, we do not express

an opinion on the financial position, results of operations, government equity (deficiency), and

cash flows of the individual funds. However, the consolidating information has been subjected

to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements. For

the reasons described above, we are unable to. and do not, express an opinion on whether the

consolidating statements of operations, government equity (deficiency), and cash flows for the

years «nded September 30, 1992 are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the
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consolidated financial statennents taken as a whole. In our opinion, the con^.^dating

statements of financial position as of September 30, 1993 and 1992 and the related statements

of operations, of govenunem equity (deficiency), and of cash flows for the year ended

September 30, 1993 are fairly stated, in all material rapects, in relation to the consolidated

financial statements taken as a whole.

n^'u Wft^*sito \aM-

Washingion. D.C.

May 31. 1994
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS ON INTERNAL CONTROLS

To the Inspector General,

U.S. Depanment of Housing and Urban Development

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the Federal Housing Administration

(FHA), in agency operated by the Depanment of Housing and Urban Development (HUD),
as of and for the year ended September 30, 1993. ind have issued our repon thereon dated

May 31, 1994. We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing

standards, and Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the

United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obuin reasonable

assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. In

addition, except for the ponions of the Bulletin that relate to the Federal Maxugers' Financial

Integrity Act of 1982. and the review of performance measures which was performed by
HUDs Office of Inspector General, we conducted our audit in accordance with Office of

Management and Budget (OMB) Bulletin 93-06, Audit Requirements of Federal Financial

Statements

In planning and performing our audit of FHA's fmancial statements for the year ended

September 30, 1993, we considered its internal control structure in order to determine our

auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the financial statements. With

respect to those controls that are material in relation to the consolidated financial statements

we determined whether FHA has an internal control structure that provides reasonable

assurance of achieving the internal control objectives described in the following paragraph in

accordance with OMB Bulletin 93-06

The management of FHA is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal control

structure. In fulfilling this responsibility, estimates and judgments are required to assess the

expected benefits and related costs of internal control policies and procedures. The objectives

of an internal control structure are to provide management with reasonable, but not absolute,

assurance that: (1) transactions are properly recorded and accounted for to permit the

preparation of reliable financial sutements and to maintain accountability over assets; (2)

funds, property, and other assets are safeguarded from loss from unauthorized use or

disposition; and (3) transactions, including those related to obligations and costs, are executed

in compliance with laws and regulations that could have a direct and material effect on the

financial statements. Because of inherent limitations in any internal control structure, errors

or irregularities may nevertheless occur and not be detected. Also, projection of any

evaluation of the structure to future periods is subject to the risk that procedures may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the effectiveness of the design and

operation of policies and procedures may deteriorate.
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For the purpose of this report, we have classified the sifnificant policies and procedures
relative to FHA's internal control structure in the following categories:

• General ledger and Treasury operations
• Financial Reporting
• Insurance in Force and Endorsement
• Premiums, Premium Refunds, and Distributive Shares
• Risk Monitoring
• Claims Processing
• Foreclosed Property Held for Sale

• Mongage Notes Receivable
• Field Office Operations
• Administration and Other

For all the relevant categories listed above, we obuined an understanding of the design of

relevant policies and procedures, determined whether they have been placed in operation,

assessed control risk, and tested those controls which have been properly designed and placed

in operation and are material to the consolidated fmancial sutements.

Our study and evaluation disclosed the following conditions in the internal control structure

of FHA in effect at September 30, 1993, which, in our opinion, result in more than a

relatively low risk that errors or irregularities in amounts that would be material in relation

to the consolidated financiai statements may occur and not be detected within a timely period

We noted cenain maners in the internal control structure and its operation that we consider

to be reponable conditions under standards established by the American Institute of Cenified

Public Accountants. Reponable conditions involve maners coming to our anention relating

to significant deficiencies in the design or operation of the internal control structure that, in

our judgment, could adversely affect the entity's ability to record, process, summarize, and

repon financial data consistent with the asscnions of management in the financial statements

Cenain of the reportable conditions were also considered to be material weaknesses

A material weakness is a reporuble condition in which the design or operation of specific

elements of the internal control structure do not reduce to a relatively low level the risk that

errors or irregularities, in amounts that would be material in relation to the financial siatemenu

being audited, may occur and not be detected within a tuoely period by employees in the

normal course of performing their assigned fiinctions.

To address the material weaknesses identified in our prior year audits of FHA. HUD
management developed a plan which analyzes FHA'« major problenois, identifies their root

causes, and sets correalve action steps. As part of this internal control report, we have

included, in summary fashion, the actions HUD plans to take and have provided our

assessment of them. We believe this plan is a comprehensive and serious effon on the pan
of HUD's management to address problems that have plagued FHA for many years
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Implementation of its action steps would, in our opinion, do much to correa lonj-itonding

problems, and more importantly, conserve scarce resources.

That said, it must be emphasized that HUD's prior inability to fiilly correct FHA's problems
was due mainly to incomplete or spotty follow-through of planned anions, rather than from
the lack of a good plan. Even when there was consensus about the problems and the solutions,

corrective action was often slow or non-existent. Accordingly, our internal control repon will

also endeavor to measure HUD's progress toward implementing its planned corrective actions.

It is equally important, however, to stress that the lack of follow-through has often not been

the fault of HUD's management or suff. For example, management has made efforu to re-

invest resources in HUD's people and computer systems
- areas where such an investment is

sorely needed ~ and to remove barriers to addressing and fixing troubled loans, only to be

frustrated by budgetary or legislative constraints. Similarly, efforts to re-align and/or

consolidate FHA's operating structure to make it more efTicient and accountable were often

unsuccessful because of lost momentum or organizational resistance. Continued attention to

difficult solutions by senior HUD management will be an essential ingredient to their ultimate

success An equally essential ingredient will be management's ability to become more

resourceful and innovative in formulating corrective actions if the initial action becomes

infeasible

We have in prior years expressed concern about the adequacy of FHA's staffing
-- both in

terms of numbers and depth of expenise. The recent build-up of defaulted single and

multitamily notes assigned to FHA. and the prospect that many insured multifamily notes will

also require significant staff anention to prevent further assignments, heighten this concern.

Funhermore. because it is apparent that hiring and training additional staff is simply noi an

option in today's tight budeetar>- environment. HUD's need to concentrate staff on dealing

with a sizable inventory of troubled loans may detract from its efforts to provide sound

housing credit, manage credit risk, and prevent unnecessary losses.

As will be discussed later in this repon, private institutions who provide credits of similar size

and complexity to those provided through FHA's multifamily programs, typically dedicate

considerably more resources to managing them, especially if the loans begin to show problems.

They do this not merely because financial regulators would question the soundness of doing

otherwise, but also because it makes good business sense. For if a loss from the default of

a large loan can be prevented with more staff aaention, the cost of more staff is immediately

offset. This being the case, it seems scarcely possible to justify staff reductions or shortages

at FHA on cost/benefit grounds. In any event, it is important to understand that the corrective

actions one might take in an ideal set of circumstances might not be feasible here and that

HUD's corrective actions for FHA must be evaluated bearing this in mind.
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We have classified weaknesses in the internal control structure into four major cu^r^ories to

faciliute a targeted approach to their eventual correaion. These four cittfories are inter-

related in that one weakness cannot be effeaively addressed without addressing the others.

Tliey can be sununarized as follows:

• The need to address weaknesses earned by lack o/st^ffand administrative resources .

The lack of resources, both personnel and funds for such itenu as systems maiaienance

and development, prevents HUD from placing adequate resources on loss mitigation

functions, properly managing troubled asseu, and quickly implementing new

automated systems for FHA.

• The need to place more emphasis on eariy warning and loss prevention . FHA needs

to focus more anention on reducing the frequency and loss severity of defaults of

insured mortgages by improving their efforts to identify and reaa to troubled

mortgages before they become defaults. For such a program to be effective, field and

headquaners staff must be adequately trained and available to execute it. and systems

need to be in place both to provide needed information and to monitor progress and

dollar savings.

• The need to resolve defaulted Secretary-held single family and multifamily loans.

The ponfolio of Secretary-held single and multifamily notes has increased dramatically

during the last 10 years Servicing and managing defaulted loans assigned to FHA

requires a considerable amount of staff resources. This suff intensive effort takes

away from the monitoring of insured mortgages, consequently resulting in additional

claim payments and therefore. Secretary-held mortgages.

• The need to improve automated systems. Some of FHAs systems either do not

provide needed management information or do not provide reliable information The

lack of modern systems and other tools make monitoring less productive and staff

usage less efficient.

The remainder of this report discusses each of these weaknesses in more deuil, summarizes

corrective actions the Department has taken, or plans to undertake in the future, to mitigate

the weaknesses to the maximum extent possible in the current restrictive budgetary

environment, and provides our assessment as to the ultimate effeaiveness of the planned

corrective actions in mitigating the weaknesses. We have excluded from our disctission any

planned correaive actions which we believe, in agreement with HUD thanagement, will not

effeaively or substantially address the underlying weakness.

Augmenting the narrative discussion of HUD's plans to correct each weakness, we have

presented a chart which exhibits our assessment as to HUD's progress toward ultimately

correcting the weakness. As discussed above, HUD's prior inability to fully correa FHA's

problems has been due mainly to incotnpleu or spotty follow-through of planned actions,

rather than from the lack of a good plan With these graphs, during the next few years, we

will chart HUD's progress toward effectively correcting the weaknesses. These graphs are
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intended to place more emphasis on implementing effeaive actions which correct c- ungate
the weakness than on plans to potentially correct the weakness.

In providing our assessment as to the current status of the corrective aaions, the 'Plan Only*
line on the graph will be met when HUD has developed a comprehensive aaion plan which

identifies specific aaion steps, and associated time-tables, for the ultimate completion of the

actions. A 'plan to develop a plan in the future* does not meet this definition. The 'Some

Implementation' line will be met when HUD has made substantial progress in implementing
aaions which result in acTual progress being made in correcting or nutigating the weaknesses.

HUD will meet the 'Well in Progress' goal when they are approximately 50% of the way to

correaing the weakness. A 'Substantially G>mplete* level will be reached when

approximately 90% of the planned aaions have been implemented. HUD will meet the

'Complete and Verified' level when virtually all aaions have been completed, and the

corrective actions have mitigated the weaknesses as much as possible.
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MATERIAL WEAKNESSES

HUD MUST IMPLEMENT ITS PLAN TO MITIGATE
RESOURCE SHORTAGES AND PERIODICALLY ASSESS
THE PLAN'S EFFECTIVENESS

For a number of years, we, along with HDD's Inspector General and HUD stiff itself, have

expressed concern about the adequacy of staffing and funds to effeaively perform fundamental

FHA activities, such as monitoring of the insured portfolio, servicing Secretary-held

mortgages, and managing foreclosed properties. Our audit work indicated that HUD personnel

in these areas were not performing many of these critical functions as diligently or as

expeditiously as they should, not as a result of complacency, but rather because they lacked

the resources to do so.

In addition, we noted that the manner in which FHA is organired is inefficient, and probably

exacerbates the staffmg and resource problems. In this regard, HUD is attempting to

consolidate some of its field operations into fewer locations and establish more direct

accountability between the Federal Housing Commissioner and the field operations

Ideally. FHA should ha\e the abilit\ to use a sufficient amount of its own resources if it can

justify that such a usage will be cost beneficial However, unlike private instirutions or

government-sponsored enterprises involved in housing credit, HUD management does not have

the authority to hire more staff or invest more resources in automated tools or staff training,

even if us business expands or its workload increases The Federal budget process limits the

amount of staff and resources HUD can use to execute FHA programs, generally without

resaj^d tc work load or risk factors HUD has been unable to obtain a substantial increase in

either the number or experience level of staff, nor an increase in the amount of funds

necessan to properly operate the FHA programs. Ceilings or other limitations imposed on

full-time equivalents or administrative expenses restrict FHA's ability to perform critical credit

and asset management functions V^'e believe resource restrictions that increase the risk of

borrower default or the cost of disposing of assets are fundamentally at odds with the concept

of acruarial soundness and sound credit management.

Currently, HUD's most critical staffing needs are in the multifamily insured and Secretary-held

notes servicing area, and in the single family Secretary-held note servicing area. It is useful

to assess the number of HUD staff assigned to these critical FHA areas in light of benchmarks

for other credit providers. The fact that Federal regulators review the adequacy of suff

resources as a factor in assessing a private credit institution's safety and soundness makes this

comparison even more relevant. When comparing HUD to other credit providers, one must

bear in mind that there are differences in the nature of their operations. One important

difference is that HUD generally takes on more credit risk than private or stite-run credit

institutions, and thus its portfolio will typically have a higher proportion of troubled crediu

at any given time Since troubled crediu require more frequent mention and generally must

be handled with more care, private credit institutions typically assign more staff to them

Thus, one would expect HUD to have more staff assigned to FHA's critical loan servicing
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functions. However, is can be seen in the following chart (Chin I), even though the

mongages in the FHA insured and Secretary-held portfolios are riskier than conventional

mortgages, the number of notes serviced by HUD field staff is considerably higher than

industry norms.

Chart I

Multifamily Loans Per Servicer

iiiiii

Hifb Avvigc Low

HUD
Sute Finance Agencies Pnvnt

InSDtUOODS

On average, a HUD employee involved in multifamily loan management «rvices over 50

loans; an employee at the HUD field office with the highest loan-to-serviftr ratio services

approximately 73 notes. This compares to the sute housing finance ageacies average of

approximately 20 loans per servicer and the private institutions average of IS loans per

servicer. Even the HUD field office with the lowest loan-to->ervicer ratio has a ratio which

is nearly twice that of the state agencies and private credit institutions.

During fiscal year 1993, HUD requested that 0MB temporarily increase the staffing ceiling

set for the Department by 400 staff for fiscal years 1994 and 1995. This increase was targeted

to assist in resolving the portfolio of multifamily Secretaiy-beld mortgages and properly

servicing those mortgages still insured, so as to mitigate any potential losses to the FHA Fund.

This request was denied. However, FHA has received approval from 0MB to temporarily

hire 100 suff, for fiscal year 1994 only, to assist in improving the aaivities in the multifamily

area.
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Because HUD has been unable to obtain the necessary levels of additional start and fund

resources to properly manage the FHA programs as currently designed, HUD has begun to

examine alternatives to restructure FHA's programs and operations so as to curtail or eliminate

suff-intensive aaivities and free-up staff to concentrate on the more critical functions. Many
of the corrective actions for resolving these weaknesses will span many years. HUD has

planned or executed the following aaions to reduce the present work-load of suff:

HUD Action Plan to Address the Resource ProUetn:

Multifatmly Actions:

During the last 12 months, the OfTice of Multifamily Housing has analyzed the problems
caused by resource shoruges and identified solutions available which would make a substantial

improvemeni in the effectiveness of their operations without an increase in staff resources

Based on this effort, the multifamily area has identified the following action plan:

• Reduce staff workloads
-

Currently, the field office suff are not able to perform the

level of ser\'icing required by their servicing handbooks. During the most recent 8

months, the Office of Multifamily Housing has spent significant time reviewing and

analyzing the activities performed by field office suff with the intent of reducing the

amount of non-critical work performed by the field suff. These efforts have focused

on:

identify ing critical functions that HUD field suff must perform.

identifying functions which are critical to be performed but do not need to be

performed by HUD staff HUD has already conuacted with a firm to provide

ser\ices to enter financiaJ statement data into the monitoring system for a

number of multifamily insured projects.

obtaining mongagee cooperation to perform various asset management duties

currently performed by HUD but which are not functions which HUD staff

need to perform

providing the field office suff with a more flexible servicing approach to

allow field office personnel to use their judgement while performing servicing

duties.

•
Improve the utilization of existing staff- Currently, the existing staff are not used in

the most efficient manner possible. Some field offices have larger more complicated

portfolios than others; the computer systems developed to manage the insured portfolio

have not provided a method for the targeting of resources to those projects which

require immediate attention; and, in some cases, the field offices have not been

provided with the necessary vehicles to improve the fiiiincial condition of the insured

portfolio. To improve the efficiency and usage of available staff, the Office of

Multifamily Housing intends to:
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equalize workloads among the field offices by analyzing curren: workload
levels and identifying those offices with abnormal loan to servicer ratios. This

analysis has already been performed and implementation is on hold pending
the Departmental reorganization of the field offices,

reuin experienced suff by increasing the pay levels for the more experienced
staff, and by increasing the loss mitigation training for all servicers. Steps are

underway to implement both of these actions, with completion of uaining for

all field office suff estimated by the end of 1994.

- provide data systems which assist the field office suff in performing their

duties by developing a system which will be used as a tracking, targeting,

monitoring, and analytical tool.

~
provide tools to assure financially and physically sound properties by

improving the establishment of Section 8 rents and modifying the Seaion 8

and Regulatory Agreements to develop practical and workable enforcement

tools; streamlining or eliminating existing requirements; and. improving

supervisory monitoring of the qualit>' of the Loan Servicers monitoring
reviews.

The Office of Multitamily Housing expects that a more definitive "strategic plan" will be

delivered within the coming months »hich will precisely address the specific steps which the

multitamily housing group will implement to address this weakness.

Single Family Actions:

The single family Secretar>'-held mongage note servicing area exhibits the same weaknesses

as the multifamily area -- too much uork to perform with too few staff. However, the long

term solutions to the staffing shonages in the single family area will rely on an analysis

currently being performed on the success/failure of the note assignment program itself This

repon is expected to be completed in early calendar year 1995. These analyses are discussed

in more detail in the following materia) weakness. In the interim, the single family area plans

to improve servicing of the ponfoiio by consolidating servicing activities into fewer locations

to obtain an economy of scale, and ultimately assessing whether contraaing out all or pans
of the servicing activities would be a viable alternative.

Price WaJerhouse Asstssmtnt of FUivted and Completed Actions:

In light of the fact that HUD was unsuccessful in obtaining a significant number of additional

staff, we consider this action plan a reasonable one. This itotwithstanding, we are skeptical

of HUD's ability to manage its present workload in a well<ontrolled manner given its present

high workload-to-staff ratios. In our prior year repon, we recommended that, if additional

staff resources were not forthcoming. HUD consider structural changes to FHA to reduce or

eliminate suff intensive functions. These structural changes could include: (I) consolidating

certain field office fiinaions into fewer l«cations to obtain an ecooomies of scale, thus reducing

the overall burden on staff; or (2) modifying the single ^mily claim payment structure to

discontinue the current mongage assignment program which has become a labor-intensive and

difficult program to operate effertively. and replacing it with a program which will be more
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effective in keeping home-owners in their homes, while also reducing the labor intensive

efforts required by the current program. We understand that HUD does not consider these

changes to be feasible in all cases. Nevertheless, if after significant implementation of the

aaion plan it is found that problems in loan servicing and risk management penist, then HUD
may have to re-consider structural changes.

The chart below (Chart 2) is a depiction, by major aaion areas, of our assessment of HUD's

progress toward implementation of actions to mitigate resource shortages:

Chan 3

HUD Progress to Date
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INSURED MORTGAGE SERVICING MUST PLACE MORE
EMPHASIS ON EARLY WARNING AND LOSS PREVENTION

In prior years, we recommended chat HUD make its monitoring of insured mongages more

proactive and preventive in nature, with the ultimate goal of reducing mortgage defaults and

consequently claims and losses to the FHA Fund. Monitoring can essentially be thought of

as actions to monitor those who endorse FHA mortgage insurance (mortgagees) and monitoring
of the borrowers (mortgagors) themselves. Preventing note assignments and property

conveyances would also ease FHA's stiff burden when excessive numbers of mortgages and

properties must be managed, serviced and sold. We recommended that both the multifamiiy
and single family areas: (I) improve their ability to identify and classify potentially problem
insured loans and mortgagees; (2) place more emphasis on working with mortgagees to cure

defaults and delinquencies before they become claims; and (3) develop accountability tools that

will allow management throughout FHA. but most particularly senior management officials,

to monitor the success of default and loss prevention efforts. In making these

recommendations, we emphasized that the problems were more critical and the potential losses

were greater in the multifamiiy area Our most recent audit indicates that this continues to be

the case.

MuJrifamily:

In previous years, we reported the need for HUD to improve its ability- to identifj- problem

muliitamily mortgages through the development of an effective early warning system, and to

subsequently develop written action plans for loans classified in troubled categories that define

actions FHA would take to prevent claim payments. The process currently relies heavily on

the field staff to identify problem mortgages, and because of the workload, resource, and

training problems discussed above, the field staff are not always able to identify problem loans

Consequently, the staff do not always identify weaknesses or take steps to mitigate losses to

the FHA Fund. We recommended that HUD: (1) implement an automated system to gather

loan-by-loan financial and operational data; (2) make the loan risk assessment a permanent,

on-going process which is used by the field office to target servicing efforts to the more risky

mongages; (3) develop a reporting mechanism for senior management wherein the loan

assessments are periodically summarized and action steps for troubled loans are developed for

the field offices to execute; and (4) develop a training program for field staff so they can

effeaively execute these anion steps. Developing the means to 'continual ly risk-rank the

insured portfolio would allow HUD to target its limited resources to those projects that pose

the greatest risk to the FHA Fund. In addition, having detailed and accurate financial and

operational information about each loan would improve decisions on what methods should be

used (e.g. obtain additional suppon through other HUD programs, restructure the loan, or

initiate foreclosure) to assist the project in becoming current and ultimately minimize the losses

to FHA.

For the second year, FHA completed a process which re-constructed financial data for

approximately 12% of its insured multifamiiy loans, including many of iu large and troubled

loans, and which established loss reserves for loans in troubled categories. Importantly, this

critical process was performed by HUD staff, and as a result, the beginnings of an ongoing
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risk-evaluation funaion have been established. The next steps will be to refine ana expand
this process such that risk evaluation can take place more timely and more frequently.

Single Family:

The single family area has experienced some of the same problems as the multifamily area

although to a much lesser degree. Unlike the multifamily area. Single Family has a quality

control mechanism independent of the field ofTices - the Mortgagee Monitoring Division

(MMD). Also, although insured single-family loaiu are more numerous, their structure is

simpler and more standardized, making computerized monitoring via statistics and trends more

viable In previous years, we reported the need for management to improve the monitoring

of its mortgagees by: (I) addressing the possibility of implementing a program that would

allow FHA to advance payments in lieu of taking a note assignment and making a full claim

payment; (2) continuing to improve the accuracy in its single family default monitoring system

which is panially used to target reviews of poor performing mortgagees; and, (3) increasing

the MMD staff to a level sufficient to allow the MMD to expand its reviews to include

mortgagees with poor cure rates.

HUD Action Plan to Improve Monitoring tnA Early Warning:

.Mulrifamily:

• Implemenr a Mulrifamily Early Warning Sysiem
-- HUD is beginning to address the

automated system needs for the Multifamily area. A project manager has been

assigned the task of completing an Information Systems Plan for the Multifamily

program area. This plan will include all aspects of Multifamily operations and will

include the insured project servicing needs which includes early warning for use by

the field office staff. HUD is currently developing the Multifamily National Sysiem

(MNS) as an. interim system which will be used to monitor and service insured

multifamily projects. A module is being developed which will risk-rank ail projects

based on ceruin fmanciaJ and operational aspects. Using this MNS ranking, the field

offices will then target problem projects for review. Implemenution of the MNS
module which will automatically risk-rank each insured project is scheduled for late-

calendar year 1994. The development of senior-level management reports is to be

develo)>ed once the risk-ranking module is implemented.

• Improve the use of tools to limit losses - In addition to having the hardware and

software to identify troubled and potentially troubled projects, HUD management has

identified the following changes in legislative or regulatory areas which will assist

HUD in limiting losses to the FHA Fund:

-
Modify regulasions which currently serve as a deterrent to refinancing

- A

number of current regulations serve as a deterrent to refiiuncing many insured

multifamily mortgages thereby not allowing mortgagors to take advanuge of

the current low interest rates and reduce their debt service payments

Reducing the debt service payments of multifamily projects will then decrease
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the risk of default of the mortgage HUD has already waived a numoer of

regulatory impediments for un-subsidized mongagors to use refinancings.
HUD has established working groups to identify improvemems to also allow
subsidized projects and bond refunders to take advantage of the current low
interest rates. Completion of these aaions are slated for mid-calendar year
1994.

- Revise the partial payment of daim policy
- HUD intends to enhance the

usefijlness of panial payments of claims in a number of cases to allow for a

payment of a claim without the assignment of an etnire mortgage to HUD.
In these cases, a panial claim payment will be made for the delinquency ef an

insured mortgage which HUD would then hold as a second mortgage which
would be re-paid by the mortgagor as the projea's cash flows allow. This

procedure would dinaie that the mortgagee retain and service the mongage:
thus enabling HUD to avoid servicing the entire mortgage. Completion of

these actions are slated for mid-caiendar year 1994.

Propose legislation
-• HUD has identified a number of areas for which

legislation has been proposed which will: allow HUD to fund project needs

(Flexible Subsidy and Loan Management Set Aside) based on Comprehensive
Needs Assessments, remove the mandatory requirement for owner contribution

under the Flexible Subsidy program; and allow the Commissioner to

automatically process partial payments of claims on new loans. The

legislation has been submined to Congress. Completion of these actions are

slated for mid-calendar year 1995 assuming Congress passes the legislation.

Single Family:

• Assess the success and cost of the current note assignment program - One of the

major impediments HUD has had in developing alternatives to the present note

assignment program has been the lack of a complete success/failure and cost^ene^lt

analysis of the note assignment program as it is currently designed and operated

Ideally, as an insurance company, FHA should have the capability to pay claims which

do not result in an assignment of a mortgage note or the conveyance of a property.

Once a note or property enters the Secretary-held inventory it requires a large amount

of suff intensive servicing and selling aaions which HUD has not been able to

properly provide for a number of years. However, we understand that current legal

and legislative requirements have limited the ability of HUD to develop modifications

to the current program which would reduce the staff intensive, and often unsuccessful,

activities which are now performed. HUD has contracted to have a complete analysis

of the success of the program as it has been designed and operated during the last 10

years. Only when this study is complete, will HUD be able to assess the long-term

outlook for the operations of the single family program. This study is not expected

to be completed until early 1995.
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Identify alternatives to foreclosure

- HUD has already performed a study of the

current industry-wide prosrams that assist troubled borrowers avoid property

foreclosure, and the options available for the Ocpanment to adopt some of these

programs as an addition to. or a substitute for. the current assignment and conveyance

programs. Once the true historical success me for the assignment program is

determined by the analysis summarized above, the Office of Single Family Housing
will be able to develop an effective assistance program which will allow delinquent

mortgagors to cure their delinquency as soon as possible and remain in their homes

Implement the pre-foreclosure sale program on a nation-wide basis - As discussed

above, ideally, when it is not feasible for the roongagor to remain in the properry
FHA should have the capability to pay claims which do not result in an assignment of

the mortgage note or the conveyance of the property. During the past two years. FHA
has been performing a demonstration projea in five field offices whereby a delinquent

insured mortgagor sells his/her home and the mortgagee submits a claim for the

difference between the unpaid principal balance plus accrued delinquencies and the

amount received from the property sale. Under this program. FHA does not receive

a property or an assigned note HUD is currently performing an evaluation of the

success of this demonstration project and intends to implement the program on a

nation-wide basis if the program is determined to have been a success

Improve the data quality of the delinquency information in the Single Family Default

Monitoring System (SFDMSi • A key monitoring device in the single family area is

the SFDMS This system tracks and monitors delinquency information at a

mongagee/servicer level and allows FHA to identify' those moneagees/servicers viho

have excessive default rates HUD then performs on-site reviews of their serMcmg

procedures to ensure that they are meeting HUD standards. During fiscal yea: 1993.

HUD implemented a self-cunailment of interest program whereby mortgagees'

servicers limit the amount of interest they receive on claim payment if they do not

repon the delinquency to HUD through the SFDMS. Compliance with the self-

curtailment initiative is being monitored by HUD through its posKlaim review

process Automated curuilment of interest by HUD during the claim process is

planned for late calendar year 1996.

During fiscal year 1993. HUD also impletnented an expanded reponing process

whereby mortgagees/servicers also repon dau to the SFDMS for those cases where

the mortgagor has become current, or 'cured' the delinquency. HUD now also has

the ability to target monitoring reviews to those mortgagees which have below-average

"cure" rates for the mongages they service The desire is to improve mortgagee

servicing through these reviews, and consequently reduce the number of claim

payments made by FHA.

Supplement the Mortgagee Monitoring Division (MMD) staff in performing on-site

reviews of insuring /servicing mortgagees
-

During our previous audits we noted that

the number of on-site servicer reviews performed by the MMD had decreased due to

a decline in the number of staff m the Division Consequently the deterrent effect of
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performing the reviews could be limited. During fiKtl year 1993, MMU nired a

contractor to supplement HUD staff in performing on-site nnniioring, almost doubling

the number of reviews that would have been performed. This increased monitoring

should improve mongagee/servicer compliance with HUD regulations and improve the

servicing of the insured portfolio, consequently reducing the number of claim

payments made by FHA.

Priet Waterhouse Assessment of Planned und Completed Actions:

HUD's planned efforts to mitigate this weakness as described above will improve their ability

to mitigate losses to the FHA Fund Improving the early warning capabilities and the loss

mitigation actions of FHA are essential to ensuring that the FHA programs are operated in the

most proficient manner possible.

Senior management should ensure that the corrective actions are executed completely and

expeditiously in all areas, in the multifamily area, special attention should be given to;

• ensuring that the risk-rankmg module of a national system is developed as quickly as

possible to provide the field office staff with a vehicle which allows them to target

their limited resources to those projects which require increased loss mitigation efforts

• developing senior-level reports for use in monitoring the effectiveness of the field

offices' execution of the loss mitigation efforts. These reporu should be compared to

goals provided for each field office

In the single family area, special attention should be given to:

•
ensuring that the analysis of the success/failure rate of the current assignment program

meets its goal of providing a base-line from which future decisions can be made for

the development of an effective single family assistance program

•
ensuring that the SFDMS, MMD. and the Mortgagee Review Board cominue to be

visible and effective tools for monitoring the originating and servicing lenders who

participate in the FHA single family programs.
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The Chan below (Chan 3) is i depiction, b^ major aaion area, of our assessment o( HUD's

progress toward implemenution of actions to improve their mitigation activities:

Chart 3

HUD Progress to Date
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Addiiional Recommendations:

We continue to believe that assigning responsibility for periodic on-site monitoring of the

senicers of insured multifamily mongages to MMD is needed and we recommend it be

adopted Reviews of multifamily servicers are not currently performed unless referrals are

made by the field office suff to MMD or the Office of inspeaor General (OIG). During our

review, we noted a number of servicers who bad a large number of projects currently in

default; however, there is no HUD suff member responsible for the overall nronitoring of

these servicers. The MMD suff are knowledgeable and experienced in performing these types

of servicer reviews, targeting servicers for review, and referring exception cases to the

Mortgagee Review Board. MMD should be assigned the responsibility to review the servicing

of the larger, national servicers who cross<ut a number of field offices. An increase in staff

or contract fees would also be necessao when increasing the level of reviews performed by

MMD.
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FHA MUST IMPLEMENT ACTIONS TO PROMPTLY
RESOLVE SECRETARY-HELD MULTIFAMILY AND
SLNGLE FAMILY MORTGAGES

Last year we reported that FHA needed to quickly resolve, either through sale, restructuring .

workout, or foreclosure, its growing portfolio of single and multifamily Secretary-held notes.

This issue grew in prominence over the years because, coupled with a squeexe on resources.

the growth in defaulted loans poses the danger of detracting resources from other critical areas,

thus weakening FHA's overall internal cootrol structure. During our 1993 audit, we noted

thai: (I) the number of assigned multifamily and single hmily assigned notes continued to

increase; (2) the servicing of these portfolios has been defkient due in pan to tlieir size and

growth; and, (3) the effon required to service assigned notes, even though it has been

deficient, has drawn resources away from servicing insured mortgages. This latter problem
increases the risk that still more insured mongages may default and be assigned to HUD. The

following chan (Chan 4) depicts the large growth in multifamily and single family performing
and non-performing mongages during the last S years.

Chan i

Growth in Secretary-held Mortgages
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perfonning notes is particularly significant because they require even more servicing jiiention

and present a significant finaiKial risk to FHA. Making this build-up of defaulted assets even

more serious is that HUD has had statutory and budgetary impediments that have prevented

it from foreclosing on the mortgaged property even in those cases where the economics

underlying the note make other plans impraaical or infeasible. For example, if HUD decides

to foreclose on a mortgaged multifamily property it is required by statute to provide additional

rental subsidies. However, since insufficient funds are appropriated to HUD to actually pay

this subsidy, foreclosure is indefinitely delayed and poor loans languish in the FHA portfolio.

Restrictions such as these not only tie HUD's bands in dealing with troubled or flawed

mortgages and contribute to the overall deterioration of the portfolio of assigned mortgages,

but they also send an extremely poor message industry-wide that HUD will not foreclose even

when it is appropriate and justifiable to do so.

There has also been a considerable build-up in single family assigned mortgages We
understand that the build-up of these mortgages is primarily due to difficult economic

ccr.-.iions which substantially increased the number of "temporary hardship cases" and thus

the number of single family loans assigned to FHA. Further, the number of loans assigned,

as a percentage of total claims, has increased from approximately 1 1 percent in 1988 to 20

percent in 1993. Managing and servicing FHA"s ponfolio of single famiU loans is panicularly

difficult because the vast majority of loans are either in default or under a forbearance

agreement which requires a high level of servicing effort. Furthermore, we also noted a

number of instances where servicing was not being properly performed.

In last years repon. we recommended that HUD; (I) develop strategies and time-frames for

returning delinquent notes to current status; (2) anempt to sell, or otherwise place current or

delinquent notes back into the private sector, (3) consolidate note servicing into fewer locations

and dedicate staff solely to loan servicing and reducing the ponfolio; and, (4) periodically

summarize, in writing, success against planned actions

HLD Action Plan to Reduce Assigned Mortca^es:

Mulrifamily:

In order to limit the number of notes assigned to FHA, during the past few years HUD has

been conducting auctions of notes that otherwise would have been assigned to it under the

221(g)(4) program. Under the 221(g)(4) program, performing loans can automatically be

assigned to HUD if during the 20ih year of the mortgage term the mongage was current.

Since Oaober 1991, HUD has held three auaions whereby the beneficial interest in the

mongage is sold in lieu of accepting assignment. FHA then makes subsidy payments when

the market interest rates obtained from the auction exceed the mortgage note imerest rate.

Through note auaions, to date HUD has avoided the assigiunent of approximately 230

mortgages with an unpaid principal balance of over $200 million. HUD intends to continue

to hold multifamily 221(g)(4) mongage auctions until the 221(g)(4) option expires for all

mortgages currently insured pursuant to that section.
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To reduce the number of assigned notes already in the Secretary-held portfolio. HUD is

planning to sell a large portion of the multifamily note portfolio during the next few years and

has obtained the services of a financial advisor to assist with the sale of the assigned notes.

HUD intends to reduce the portfolio by:

•
Selling performing Secretary-held 221(g)(4) notes in regularly scheduled auaions.

These notes entered the assigned inventory prior to HUD initiating the auctions

discussed above. HUD has received approval from 0MB to sell performing

mortgages without mortgage insurance.

•
Selling performing mortgages, and also those non-performing mortgages which HUD
believes will be able to be worked out by the ntortgagee. HUD has received approval

from 0MB to sell unsubsidized mongages without insurance, and a limited number

of subsidized mortgages with insurance in a demonstration program.

Single Family:

The Office of Single Family Housing has determined that they will perform the following steps

to resolve the single family assigned ponfolio:

• Develop goals for returning seriously delinquent notes to current status or have them

foreclosed
•- HUD has established a goal for each field office to return delinquent

mongagors to performing status or foreclose on the mortgage.

• Conduct a sale of performing 221(g)(4) mongages -- As with multifamily 221(g)(4)

Secretary-held mongages. HUD is also assessing the possibility of selling a number

of (approximately 15 percent of the current portfolio) performing 22 1(g)(4) mortgages

A sale is expected to occur in late fiscal year 1994.

• Conduct a sale of other current Secretan-held mortgages and delinquent notes after

conclusion of the assistance period
-- Based on the success of the sale of the

performing 221(g)(4) mongages summarized above. HUD intends to assess whether

it is beneficial, and legal, to sell a number of the remaining performing and non-

performing mortgages

• Consolidate the Single Famih, servicing function iniofewer locations and contraa out

in whole, or portions of, the servicing function

Price Waterhouse Assessment of Planned and Completed Actions:

We believe that HUD's aaion plan effectively addresses our recommendations and we

encourage its rapid implemenution In panicular, seJIing a considerable portioD of the

Secretary-held mortgage note ponfolios would be a positive step in reducing the workload for

field office suff. The reduction in the amount of Secretary-held mortgages will also allow the

field office staff to concentrate their limited resources on monitoring the financial and
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operational health of the insured portfolio, and consequently reduce the amount ot losses

incurred by the FHA Fund.

The Chan below (Chart 5) is a depiaion, by major anion area, of our assessment of HUD's

progress toward implementation of a resolution plan for Secretary-Held Multifamily and Single

Family mortgages:

Chans

HUD Progress to Date
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CONn^fUED EMPHASIS MUST BE PLACED ON IMPROVING
ACCOUNTING AND HNANCIAL MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS

In our previous reports on internal controls, we disclosed weaknesses involving FHA's
tmanciai management systems. While FHA has taken steps toward solving some of these

weaknesses, we believe that additional effon is still necessary to: (1) enhance the general

ledger and subsidiary systems to allow for the production of financial reports for each major
FHA program, by geographical region, and to fecilitate Credit Reform budget and credit

reporting; (2) develop a multifamily system which will allow for the cffeaive monitoring of

the insured portfolio and aa as an early warning system; and (3) over the long term,

implement the systems improvement and integration strategy developed by HUD management
as it applies to FHA operations.

We noted that HUD has developed a number of high level management reports to monitor the

activities of the programs in the FHA Fund which provide information and financial indicators

about regional and program activity: however, financial information categorized by FHA's

programs is still limited Since program-specific general ledger-based financial reports cannot

currently be produced. FHA's losses can only be anributed to major activities, such as the

Mutual Mongage Insurance (MMl) or General Insurance (GI) Funds, and in some cases to

single family versus multifamily. but cannot be pinpointed with precision to individual

programs, many of which possess unique purposes and unique financial characteristics.

Management believes that periodic actuarial reviews performed by actuarial and statistical staff

are adequate to keep management abreast of the activities in each of the major programs We
continue to believe that in order to allow managers to operate on a completely informed basis,

and to facilitate full accountabilit\' throughout the agency, FHA must systematically produce

accurate, accrual-based financial information for its major programs on a regional basis. This

is paniculariy imponani as HUD takes steps to reorganize and consolidate FHA's field

structure.

Another imponant reason to improve financial systems is to ensure that FHA continues to

comply with the budgetary requirements of the Federal Credit Reform Act (Credit Reform)

and the implementing guidance in 0MB Circulars A- 1 1 and A-34. Credit Reform, which

became effective for fiscal year 1992, requires among other things, that FHA segregate and

separately account for the activities and credit subsidies for eacb of the FHA Funds. To date

FHA has not modified its systems to facilitate Credit Reform budgetary accounting and

reporting, nor has FHA developed a plan for ultimately complying with these reporting

requirements. While Credit Reform reporting is not a major issue at the present time, it will

become more significant as FHA adds more and more credit cohoru in subsequent years

Given Credit Reform's deuiled budgetary requirements, it will become essential for HUD to

develop or modify automated systems to assure continued compliance. In addition, it will also

become critical if the Federal Financial Accounting Stindinls Advisory Board (FASAB),
which is developing accounting standards for Federal government entities, concludes that the

activities of FHA will be required to comply with its accounting standards. FASAB is

currently developing accounting standards which, for financial accounting, embrace the

budgetary accounting concepts of Credit Reform. HUD management has indicated that due
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to the lack of funds, ihey are not able to completely modify existing systems to perionn the

reporting as currently required by 0MB.

With respect to the development of a database of information for each of the insured

multifamily projens, HUD began the process of colleaing financial and operational dau on

multifamily loans insured under the FHA programs. Detailed information on approximately
12% of this portfolio was obtained for loss reserve calculation purposes. However. HUD
continues to lack a central daubase for all insured multifamily loans and a system thai provides

reporu on the financial and operational status of individual loans at the field office, regional

office, and headquarters levels. As discussed above, the Multifamily National System (MNS)
is being developed as an imerim system to assist the HUD staff in moaitoring insured

mortgages and to allow senior management to properly oversee these efforts. During fiscal

year 1994, HUD contracted with a firm to assist them in entering financial statement dau for

all insured projects into the daubase. Until improvements to the multifamily insurance system

are completed, and the above weaknesses fully addressed. HUD does not have complete and

reliable financiaJ information concerning multifamily insured loans, and management does not

have the proper tools to facilitate and monitor programmatic and regional accouniabilit>'.

H\SD Action Plan to Address Systems Weaknesses:

\\e understand that HUD has developed an overall integration strateg>' which encompasses

FH.A and which management belicses can be implemented within the current budgetary

restrictions. This strategy is based on systems integration on a program-line basis (Single

Family. Multifamily, and Title I) and contains elements to replace many of the ineffective

systems currently being operated. ^hWt saving much of the current computer coding from

those systems which have performed well. This umbrella system is to be called FHAMIS
Where feasible, FHAMIS will use state-of-the-an technology (such as electronic data

interchange) to improve the operations of the systems

Under this new umbrella system, the following is planned over the long term;

• Eliminate dau redundancies in the single family insurance systems where possible and

maintain common daubases where possible.
• Create a new unified single family insurance premium billing and reconciliation

module which will replace a number of old and disjointed premium systems.
• Create a new single family property system real estate-owned (R£0) management

system.
•

Bring a previously contractor-run single family notes system in-faouse to tun as a

module of FHAMIS.
• Create a new assigned multifamily notes system.
• Create a new multifamily foreclosed property management system if the level of

Secretary -held properties continues to be significant.

Short term improvements include:
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• Completion of daubase and near term enhancements for the Multifamil> National

System.
• Upgrade SFDMS.

Price Waterhouie Assessment ofHUD Action Plan:

We cominue to believe that financial statement information on a program by program and

regional basis will greatly improve the ability of management to identify those programs which

are performing outside expected norms. HUD should consider incorporating this feature in

FHAMIS. The development of the FHAMIS system as it is currently envisioned will, in our

view, improve the general operations and management of FHA. Management should ensure

that the system is developed in such a manner as to allow reporting on a program by program

basis and also to repon activity in accordance with the Credit Reform Aa.

The chart below (Chan 6) is a depiction, by major anion areas, of our assessment of HUD's

progress toward implementation of new or improved accounting and financial management

systems:

Chan 6
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REPORTABLE CONDITION

FHA MUST PERFORM A COMPLETE REVIEW OF THE
SECURITY AND PROCESSING CONTROLS FOR ALL
COMPUTER SYSTEMS

HUD inust rely heavily on computerized information systems to process the large volume of

data required for such a diverse insurance operation. These systems not only process

accounting dau for a number of functions, such as insurance processing, servicing, and asset

disposition, but they also process a large amount of cash raceipa and disbunements. In our

prior internal control repon, we recommended that HUD perform complete application

controls reviews for all of the FHA systems and that these reviews include all aspects of

systems access and security controls as well as input and processing controls. During our

review of the significant FHA systems, we noted that the internal controls surrounding access

to these systems, and key input a:id processing controls surrounding them were noi adequate

to provide reasonable assurance that (1) funds, property, and assets are safeguarded against

waste, loss, and unauthorized use or misappropriation: and (2) assets, liabilities, revenues, and

expenses applicable to operations are properly recorded and accounted for to permit the

preparation of reliable financial reports and to maintain accountabilit)- over FHA's assets

These weaknesses indicate that there is a systemic breakdown in the management and review

of internal controls in these systems

For example, we noted that:

• Some systems do not ha\e \aried levels of access authority to limit the capabilities

individuals possess within the systems.

• Periodic reviews of lists of individuals authorized to access the systems are not always

performed, or are not aJwa>s effective, to ensure that access privileges are terminated

for individuals who no longer require access to the system to perform their duties

•
Segregation of duties is not always maintained.

• Key edit checks are not always in place to ensure that the integrity of the data is

mainuined

• Controls over the manual entry/modification of information in the systems are not

always maintained.

• Normal security features of a properly designed system do not always exist. For

example, we noted that reporu are not always available which provide detailed listings

of invalid anempis to access the system, or anempts to access portions of the system

for which employees are not approved for



189

Repon on Internal G>ntrol$

Page 25

m
As discussed above, as part of iu system integration strategy, during the next S ye^s HUD
is planning to replace a number of its critical financial and management systems where we
have noted weaknesses. The systems being replaced include the single funily premiums
systems and property system, and the multifamiiy insurance, mortgage notes, and REO
management systems.

Price Waterhouse Assessment ofPianned and Completed Actions:

During the development of new systems it is critical that HUD staff build into the applications

proper internal controls. These controls should include key input and processing, and security
and access controls to provide reasonable assurance that the assets ofFHA are safi^arded and

properly recorded and accounted for. For those systems which are not being replaced, and

those that will not be replaced within the next 2 years, we continue to recommend that

complete application controls reviews be performed for these systems and that these reviews

include all aspects of systems access and security conuols as well as input and processing
controls.

The Chan below (Chan 7) is a depiction, by major action area, of our assessment of HUD's

progress toward implemenution of a complete review of the security and processing controls

for all computer systems:

Chan 7

HUD Progress to Date
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These conditions were considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests

to be applied in our examination of the 1993 financial statements, and this report does not

affeci our repon on these financial sutements dated May 31. 1994.

In addition to the matters discussed above, we noted others involving the internal control

structure and its operation that we are reporting to FHA's management in a separate lener.

This report is intended for the information of the Inspector General, managrmm t of the

Department of Housing and Urban Developroent and Confieu. Howevtr. this raport is a

maner of public record and its distribution is not limited.

rMU. VsjCJ^t/SiOUAx.

Washington, D.C.

May 31. 1994
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Price Waterhouse H
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

ON COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

To the Inspector General,

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of (he Federal Housing Administration

(FHA), an agency operated by the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD),
as of and for the year ended September 30, 1993, and have issued our report thereon dated

May 31. 1994.

Except as explained in the third paragraph of our report on FHA's consolidated fmancial

statements, we conducted our audit in accordance with getierally accepted auditing standards,

and Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United Sutes,

and the Office of Management and Budget (0MB) Bulletin 93-06, Audit Requirements for

Federal Financial Statements. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fmancial statements are free of material

misstatement

Compliance wi'Ji laws and regulations applicable to FHA is the responsibility' of FHA's

management. As pan of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the fmancial statements

are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of FHA's compliance with cenain

provisions of laws and regulations However, the objective of our audit of the financial

statements was not to provide an opinion on overall compliance with such provisions

Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

Material instances of noncompliance are failures to follow requirements, or violations of

prohibitions, conuined in law or regulations that cause us lo conclude that the aggregation of

the misstatements resulting from those failures or violations is material to the consolidated or

consolidating financial statements or the sensitivity of the maner would cause it to be

perceived as significant by others. The resulu of our tests of coinpliiDce disclosed the

following instance of noncompliance.
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HUD Must CUrify and Substuiliate How FHA's MMI
Fund Will Cwnply with Credit Reform Act Reporting

#
The Federal Credit Reform Aa of 1990 (Public Law 101-508) (Credit Reform) and the

implementing 0MB guidance broadly require that the cash flows associated with FHA's pre-

fiscal year 1992 credits be accounted for separately from the cash flows for the post fiscal year

1991 credits. Pre-fiscal year 1992 cash isio be accounted for in a "liquidating account," while

post-fiscal year 1991 cash is to be accounted for in a "financing account.' However, during

fiscal year 1993, HUD did not transfer approximately SSOO million in premium collections,

related to refinancings, to the 1993 MMI Fund Financing Account from die MMI -Fund

Liquidating Account. We believe that a strict interpretation of Credit Reform would require

such a transfer. This amount represents approximately 2S% of the premiums due on the new

mongages.

During fiscal year 1993, nearly 40 percent of FHA's insurance endorsements were for

refinancing of previously existing FHA-insured mongages. When an FHA-insured mortgage

is refinanced with another FHA-insured mortgage, the uneanKd portion of the premium, which

would normally be refunded to the mortgagor, is instead credited against the premium due on

the newly refinanced mortgage. Insured mortgagors pay any amount not covered by the

credited premium. However, for those mongages refinanced in 1993. the premiums recorded

m the 1993 MMI Fund Financing Account included only the new premium payment, and

excluded the refunded portion that was credited against the new premium. This resulted in the

MMI Fund Liquidating Account being overstated by 5500 million, and the MMI Fund

Financing Account being understated by SSOO million.

HUD management believes there are extenuating circumstances involving the applicability of

Credit Reform to the MMI Fund that make this issue less significant. Foremost among them

are the MMI Fund's siatutorily-mandated capital ratio requirement, and its standing as a

mutual insurance fund Thus, resources generated by MMI are either held to meet capital

requirements or distributed to borrowers once capital requirements are met. In these

circumstances, HUD contends that the budgetary account breakdown has little meaning or

impact on the MMI Fund.

We agree with HUD management that Credit Reform's impact on MMI is unclear, and we are

inclined to view this as largely a technical issue. Moreover, it has no impaa on our report

on FHA's financial sutements. Nevertheless, it is imperative that this issue be resolved as

quickly as possible. If it is determined that the MMI Fund must comply with Credit Reform,

FHA should ensure its systems are enhanced so that the cash flows for each category of loans

are tracked in accordance with the requirements of Credit Reform.
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We considered this instance of noncompliance in forming out opinion on whether FHA's 1993

Tinancial sutements are presented fairly, in all material respects, in conformity with generally

accepted accounting principles, and this report does not affea our report dated May 31, 1994

on those financial statements.

Except as described above, the results of our tesu iodicue that, with respect to the hems

tested. FHA complied, in all material respects, with the provisions referred to in the third

paragraph of this report. With respect to items not tested, nothing came to our aaention that

caused us to believe that FHA had not complied, in all material respecu, with those provisions

referred to in the third paragraph of this report.

This repon is intended for the information of the Office of Inspector General, the management

of the Depanmem of Housing and Urban Development, and Congress. However, this repon

is a maner of public record and its distribution is not limited.

Hue*. W^'fcJrouJu.

Washington. DC.

May 31. 1994
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FEDERAL HOUSING ADMINISTRATION

(AN AGENCY OF THE DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT)
CONSOUDATED STATEMENT OF FINANOAL POSITION

SEPTEMBER 30, 1993 AND 1992

(Dollars in Millions)

September 30.

1993 1992

ASSETS:

Fund Balances at the U.S. Treasury:

Non - interest -bearing

Interest -bearing

834
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FEDERAL HOUSING ADMINISTRATION

(AN AGENCY OF THE DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 1993 AND 1992

(Dollars in Millions)

1993 1992

REVENUES:

Premiums:

Annual Premiums

Earned Ponion of Up-front Premiums
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FEDERAL HOUSING ADMINISTRATION
(AN AGENCY OF THE DEPARTMENT OF HOUSINGAND URBAN DEVELOPMENT)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF GOVERNMENT EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 1993 AND 1992

(EtoUan in Millions)

Oimulitivt Raulu of ODcrmtiom

Mutuil Fundi Sabndizcd FuodJ

Equity CuaniUuvt Lflwe*

AppToeriMc^ gailll

Pre-FUcal Rsea]

1992 1992/93 Total

Balance a( September X, 1991 872 (17.140) S 12,921 SOS (3.347)

(DeCdency) Execu of Revenue over Expcnici

Distributive Shares Declared

Credit Appropriauons Received and Obligated

to Finance

Credit Subsidies on insured 1992 moniafcs

Admjnjstraiive Expenses

Losses on Loans insured Prior to Sept 30. 1991

29.'?
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FEDERAL HOUSING ADMINISTRATION
(AN AGENCY OF THE DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30. 1993 AND 1992

(DoUan in Millions)

1993 1992

S 1.626 S(6.82S)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues over Expenses (Losses)

Adjustments to Reconcile Losses to Net Cash Used

by Operating Activities:

(Decrease) Increase in Loss Reserves

Up- front Premiums Collected

Up- front Premiums Refunded

Up-froni Premiums Earned

Claims Settlement Payments

Collections of Principal on Notes Acquired in Gainu Settlement

Proceeds from Disposition of Assets Acquired in Claims Settlement

Increase in Loss Allow'ances on Properties and Mortgages

(Increase) in Other Assets

(Decrease) in Claims Payable and Other Liabilities

Other, net

(1.784)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEME?«n"S

SEPTEMBER 30. 1993 ASD 1992

Note I. Description of Entity and Stgnifkaat

Accounting Policie

Entity and Mission

The Fedenl Housing Administimtioa (FHA) wis

esublished in 1934 snd became wiwlly owned

government corpormtioo in 1948 sut>|cct to Ifae

Government Corpormtioo Control Act. as amended.

FHA administers some 40 active mongage insursnce

programs, thereby making mortgage financing more

readily accessible to the bome-buying public. Its

programs are designed primarily to serve first-ame

home buyers and to provide affordable multihmily

housing.

T>ie FHA programs arc organized into four major

activities: (I) the Mutual Mortgage Insurance Fund

(MMI). FHA's largest activity, provides basic

(principally 30 year) single family mortgage

insurance and is i murual insurance fund whereby

mortgagors, upon non-claim termination of their

mortgages, share surplus premiums paid into the

Fund that are not required for operating expenses

and losses or to build equity; (2) the Cooperative

Management Housing Insurance Fund (CMH1). also

a mutual fund, provides mortgage insurance for

managemeoi-type cooperatives: (3) the General

Insurance Fund (Gl), provides for a large number of

specialized mongage insurance prognms, including

insurance of loans for property improvements,

cooperatives, condominiums, bousing for the

elderly, land developtneot, group practice medical

facilities and nonprofit hospitals: and (4) the Special

Risk Insurance Fund (SRI), provides mortgage

insurance on behalf of mortgagors eligible for

interest reduction payments who otherwise would

not be eligible for mortgage insurance. The MM1
and CMHI Funds were designed to be operated to

accord with 'sound acniarial and accounting

practice*, and thus borrowers are to be charged a

premium that will cover dehult losses and

administrative expenses, and provide equity. These

Funds are not to be dependent upoo appropriations

to sustain operations. The GI and SR] Funds,

however, were not designed to be self-sustaining,

and as a result, are dependent on appropriations

from Congress to sustain their operations.

While FHA was cdablitbed u a Mpvate faderal

entity, it was subsequently merged into the

Department of Housing and Urban Development

(HUD) when that department was created. FHA no

longer has separau staff or bcilities. Instead, FHA

epantioos are cooductod, along wiib other Housing

activities, by HUD organizations. FHA is htaded

by HUD's Assistant Sacratary for Housing - Federal

Housing Commissiooer, who icports to the

Sacretary of HUD. FHA's activities arc included in

the Housing section of the HUD budget.

Basis of Accountinf

The Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

Statement of Operaiioiu. Statement of Government

Equity (Deficiency), and Statement of Cash Rows,

have been prepared in acconlance with generally

accepted accounting principles. All material

interfuod balances and transactions have beeo

eliminated.

Fund Balances at the U.S. Treasury

Substantially all of FHA's receipts and

disbursements are processed by the U.S. Treasurv

through either an interest or noo-interest-bearing

account. Ail cash generated from insurance

endorsed on or after October 1. 1991 is deposited in

an interest-bearing account in accordance with the

Federal Credit Reform Act of 1990 (Credit Reform)

- see Note 10. The account eanu interest at a rate

based on a maturity interval of 10 years and longer.

as determii>ed by the U.S. Treasury. The non-

inteicst-bearing account comptiaes iminvested cash

emanating from in*""*"^ cadoraed prior to October

I. 1991 (prc-fiacal yaar 1992 cradits). Prior to

Credit Reform, cash gaeerated from insurance

endoraeotents not needed for sfaoit tenn operating

purposes was invested in non-marketable U.S

Government Securities with lams similar to

securities which are publicly aarlrwtwl.

For purposes of the SwtaHisni of Cttt Flows. Don-

interest-bearing ftads at Ttaasury are considered

cash equivalenu. Interest-bearing funds at the U.S.

Treasury are considered an investing activity, since

Credit Reform did not. in substance, change the

liquidity of the Autds.
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Invotments in U.S. Government Securities

Prior to the enictment of Credit Refonn. the

Nuio&al Housing Act. u vDesded. limited FHA't

investmeats to Don-inarfcetable Treasury iaterest-

bearing obligttioiu (i.e., investments not sold in

public marieu). The market value and interest rates

established for such investntents were the same as

those for similar publicly marketed Treasury issues.

Investments in U.S. Government securities are

reported at the lower of cost, net of unamortized

premiums or discounts, or market (see Note 3).

Management's intent is to hold investments to

maturity unleu they are needed to rmaoce utortgage

insurance claims or otherwise sustain the operations

of the Fund.

In May 1993. the Financial Accounting Standards

Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 115. Accounting for Certain

Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. This

Statement requires FHA to categorize its investment

portfolio according to its ability and intent to hold

the investments to marurity. Investments which

FHA does not hive the abilic\ or intent to hold to

maturity are considered to be available for sale and

must be recorded ai market, and the unrealized

gains/losses recognized as an increase/decrease to

Covemmeni Equity. FHA has nol yet detemuoed

what impact this sutement will have to the financial

statements

Momgage Notes Receivable

Mortgage notes receivable consist of mortgage notes

received in claims settlemeoi. Under certain

conditions prescribed by regulalioo. FHA will take

assigmneoi of insured mortgages which are in

default rather than acquire the properties through
foreclosure. Single family mortgages can be

assigned to FHA when the mortgagor has defaulted

due to certain 'temporary haitiship* conditions

beyond the control of the mortgagor, in

maaagement's judgment, it is likely that the

mortgage can be brought current in the future

However, the majority of FHA single family claims

do not result in the assigmnent of notes. Leaders

holding defaulted multifamily mortgages may make

mortgage iiksunace claims by assigniog the

mongages to FHA. In addition, performing notes

insured pursuant to Section 22 1 (g)(4) of the National

Housing Act may be auigned to FHA at a pre-

determined point in time (see Note 12).

For fuianeial statement purposes, mortgage notes

received in claim settlement are recorded at the

lower of cast or hir value. Fair value is based on

prevailing market interest rates ai the date of

mortgage aasigmneat. When fait value is less than

cost, diacaunu are recorded tad amortized to

iaterc^ income over the reaainiag Icnns of the

mortgages. laterest is recognized as income when
earned. When full collection of priacipal is

considered doubtful, an allowance for losses is

recorded, the aecnial of interest income is

suspended, aitd receipu (both interest aad principal)

re recorded as collections of principal. Mortgage
notes receivable are reported net of the allowance

for Iocs and any naaortizad diaeouni.

Foredosed Property Held for Snle

Foreclosed property held for sale is reported net of

an allowance for loss, which is established to reduce

the property carrying value to the esiiaiated net

realizable value — the amount FHA expects to

receive in cash upon sale of the property.

Loss Reserves

Loss reserves in the MM1 Fund comprise claims

loss reserves .and loss adjustment expense reserves,

and are provided for estimated losses incurred b>

FHA to pay claims on insured mortgages vkhen

defaults have taken place, but where claims have oot

yet been filed. Claims loss reserves in the CI and

SRJ Funds are recorded when defaults are

considered probable but have not yet been reported

as such to FHA.

Premiimis and Unearned Revenue

Prior to July 1991. FHAs largest activity, the

inwtwnrt of tingle funily mortgages by the MMI
Fund, charged a one-time premium upon initiation

of iniunnce. On JtUy I. 1991. the premiuias

charged by FHA for this iasuruce were

restructured to include both an up-front and a risk-

based aimual ptemium. TV one-time and up-front

premiums are reconled as unearned revenue upon

collection and arc recognized as revenue over the

period in which losses are expected to occur. The

risk-based annual ptctniuma are earned on a stnigbt-

line basis Ifarou^out the year. FHA'i other

activities, including most of those conducted through

the GI and SRJ Funds, charge periodic premiums

over the mortgage insurance term. Prenuums oo

annua] tasiaJlment policies are earned on a straight-

line basis throughout the year.
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Appropriations and Funds Received rrani Other

HUD Proxrams

The CI and SRi Fund* were oot deeigned to be self-

tustainin|. As a rewlt. the National Houiing Act.

as amended, provides for appropriations from

Congress to cover the losses in these Funds.

Ttte Credit Reform Act of 1990 changed the method

by which FHA receives appropriations from

Congress. Beginning in fiscal year 1992.

appropriations to the G I and SRI Funds are made at

the beginning of each fiscal year to cover estimated

losses on loans to be insured during that year. The

revised appropriation structure also authorizes

permanent indefinite appropriation authority to

finance the cash requirements of operations resulting

from endorsements in years prior to fiscal year

1992. •

Distributive Shares

As nntual ftads. the MMI and CMHI Funds

distribute excess revenues to nortgagors at the

discretion of the Secretaiy of HUD. Such

distributions arc determined based oo the MMI and

CMHI Funds' Aaaitcial poaitioos and their prcjacted

revenues and coau. In November 1990. Congress

passed the Natioaal Affordable Housing Act which

effectively wispended payment of distributive shares

fitom Ibe MMI Find, other than ihoee already

declared by the Secretary, until the Fund meets

c«nain atiuity requirements (See Note 9). The

declaration of distributive shares was suspended in

NoveiDber 1990. The National Affordable Housing

Act does not affect the distributions from the CMHI
Fund.

Funds received from other HUD programs, such as

for interest subsidies and rent supplements, arc

recorded as revenue when services are rendered

Note 2. Intragovemmental rinandal Activities

FHA is not a separate federal entity. It is an

inteiral part of the operations of HUD. and is thus

subject to financial decisions and management
controls of the Secretary of HUD. Similarly, FH.\

is also subject to fmancial decisions and

management controls of the Office of Management
and Budget (O.MB). Because FHA is not a separate

or unrelated emity. its operations might not be

conducted, nor iu financial position reported as

they uould if FHA were autonomotu.

Rent Supplements and Interest Subsidies

HUD provides rent supplements and inteicai

subsidies to leaders on behalf of certain eligiWc

mortgagors and/or occupants of single iDd

ffiultifamily properties which FHA iniures. or for

which it holds the mortgage.

In those cases where FHA holds the laortgage. it

receives any beoefil payments from HUD oo behalf

of those individuals who are repaying the loan or

occupying the property.

During fiscal years 1993 and 1992. FHA received

directly the following interest subsidy and rent

supplement payments from HUD (dollars in

millions):

DescripDon 199] 1992

Multifamily No(et-lnlere« Subsidy S 42 S 4]

Rental Supplements for Low and

Very Low Income Families 20 18

Total S 62 S 61

Amounts receivable from HUD as of September 30,

1993. aitd 1992 for Ibe above assistaace programs

arc not material.

To the exteat FHA-insured mortgagors receive tent

supplement payments and/or interact subaidy. FHA
beoefits indirectly since these attistsnrr paynteats

will reduce the risk of the mortfagors Cuiing to

repay the FHA-inaurcd loans. With respect to rest

subsidy payments, it is estimated that approximately

SOS of the prpjactt with FHA-iDanrad loans

(accounting for 40% of the insured unpaid principal

balance) during fiscal year 1993 received rent

suppleoKst paymenu from HUD; and. that these

paymats accounted for approximately 60 ft of the

iggiegui iiBt revenue received by theae projecu

With rHpact to interest subsidy paymenu. lenders
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for approximately 20% of the insured mortgages

(accounting for 10% of the insured unpaid principal

balance) receive sucb subsidies under tbe Seaion

236 program. During fiscal year 1993. interest

subsidy payments amounted to approximately 60%
of tbe aggregate mortgage payments on these

insured mortgages.

Administrative Expenses Reimbtireed to HUD

HUD is reimbursed by FHA for peraoonel, property

and equipment, and administrative services costs

since virtually all FHA operations are performed by

HUD personnel. Thtse annual reimbursements are

budgeted amounts approved by Congress each fiscal

year. They are based on the estimated staff levels

used to carry out FHA activities, not the time

actually vkorked by HUD personnel on those

activities.

Allocated personnel cosu for which FHA reimburses

HUD include matching cooiributioos to the Civil

Service Retirement System (CSRS) tad tbe Federal

Employees Retireaeat System (FERS). FERSweat
into effect for all HUD employees on January I,

1987. pursuant to Public Law 99-33S. Although
FHA effactivdy funds a pottioo of peatioa benefits

under CSRS or FERS relating to its employees and

makes the aecessao' payroll withboldinp from

them, it has no liability for hiture payments to

employees under these programs nor dhoes it report

its portion of the actuarial preaent value of

afnifTMilitrri benefits or of tbe vn^i"**** pension

liability, since these amounts are reported in total by
the Office of Peraonnel Management.

Note 3. InTcstments in U.S. Government Securities and Intercit*benring Funds

FHA'f normal policy is to hold investments in L' S

Covemmeni Stcurities to maturity. However, as <

result of Credit Reform, cash collected on insurance

endorsed on or after October 1. 1991 is oo longer

available to mvesi in US Govenunent secunlies.

and nuy only be used to finance claims emanating

from insurance endorsed subsequent to thai date

Therefore. FHA may have to liquidate its US
Govenunent securities before matunty to finance

c'aim payments from pre-fiscal year 1992 bsurance

endorsements Accordingly. FHA invesimeot m
US Goveminem securities is reported at the lo>ker

of amortized cost or market.

The amortized cost and the market value of

investments in U.S. Government securities were a*

follows ai September 30. 1993 and 1992 (dollars ta

millions):

Sep«einber 30. 1993 19*:

Amonized Cost

UnreaUzed Cains

Unreakted Losxs

S5.15J

665

$ 5.719

656

Mtrkei Value S5,S20 J 6,44S

Investments in U.S. Govemmeoi securities are

backed by tbe full faith and credit of the U.S

CovenmieDt. lovestmeot income on the investments

in U.S. Government securities was $463 million for

the year ended September 30. 1993, and S536

million for tbe year ended September 30. 1992. and

is included in interest income on the Statement of

Operations. Expenses relating to these investaeots

are not significaat.

The amortized cost and the market value of

investments at September 30. 1993 by maturity

period, were as follows (dollars in millions)
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Proceeds from the redemptions uid tales of

investments in U.S. Government lecurities for the

year ended September 30. 1993. were S2.933

million ai a grots gain of $51 millioo. No loues

were realized. For the year «idad Saptember 30.

1992. proceeds from talei and redemptioot were

Si. 191 million at a grots gain of $23 millioo.

FHA't interest-bearing account a! the U.S. Treasury

earns interest at rates established by Treasury for

Credit Reform accounts. The rates are based on the

maturity of the loans FHA insures. Accordingly,

FHA earns interest based on a maturity interval of

10 years and longer.

However, there are no penalties if FHA must use

the cash in this account over a iborter period to

finance credit looes fron poat-fiieaJ ymt 1991

insurance cadonetoents. This account earned

interest at a wdgfated average rate of 6.5S% for

fiteai year 1993 and 7.5ft for fixal year 1992.

Interest income on credit reform related hods was

S70 miilioo for the year aaded September 30. 1993.

•nd S2I millioo for the year ended Septetnber 30.

1992. and is included in interest income on the

Statement of Opentioos.

NoU 4. Foreclosed Property Hdd for Sale

Foreclosed property held for sale was composed of

the follovking classes of property at September 30.

1993 and 1992 (dollars in millions):

Changes in the allowance for losses on property for

the years ended September 30. 1993. were (dollars

in milliofu):

D«»;npoon
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Note 5. Mortface Note Rccavable

Monsafc notes receivable comprised the following

ai September 30. 1993 and 1992 (dollars in

millions):

Dochpbon 1993 1992

Perfomunt;
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Note 6. Loss Reserves

Lou reserves for claims and lou adjustment

expenses (LAE). were as follows as of September

30. 1993 and 1992 (dollars in millions):

CUuns
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Note 7. Unearned Premiums

The followini shows the activiq^ in uoearaed premiums duria( 1993 (doUan ia millioos):

MMI CMHI CI

Befinning Balance

Premiums Collected

Premiums Earned

Premium Refunds

S 6. 125

2.2S8

(820)

(1.211)

SRJ Total

1
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Note 9. Govenunent Equity

The equity of the MM] Fuad u maiotaioed in the

general surplus account, aad the equity of the CMHI
Fund is maintained in the fenerai surplus account

and the participating reserve account. The geoeral

surplus account is available for opcntini purposes.

and the participating reserve account is used to pay
distributive shares to policyholders, although it could

also be used for operating purposes if required. The

passage of the National Affordable Housing Act in

November 1990 effectively suspended the issuance

of dislnbuiive shares from the MMI Fund until the

Fund meets certain equity requirements.

Note 10. Credit Appropriations

FHA's activities are cubject to the Federal Credit

Reform Act of 1990 ('Credit Refona'). which

became effective on October I. 1991. A primary

purpose of Credit Reform is to more accurately

naaiure Ibc 'subsidy* eo«t of Fadenl credit

programs.

Subsidy cosu generally comprise the prcseat value

of fstimatfd cosu associated with loan deCuilts and

interest rate subsidies, net of the present value of

aitimiiKl collectioos for insurance premiums and

claim recoveries.

Under (he National Affordable Housing Act. the

M.MI Fund must attain a capital ratio of 2.0%

within 10 yean of eiuctment. The Act defines the

capital ratio as the ratio of the economic net uonh
of the Fund lo unamortized insurance in force

Unamortized insurance in force is defmed by the

Act 10 be the remaining obligation on outstanding

mortgages Thus, 'unamortized insurance in force*

as defined bv the Act is the same as the .MStI

Fund's insurance in force disclosed in Note 1 1 The

economic nei uorth. as defined by the Act. is the

current cash aMilable to the Fund, plus the present

value of all future cash inflows and outflows

expected to result from the outstanding montates
insured by the Fund Since fiscal year 1989. FH.^

has performed ongoing studies of the acruarial

soundness of ihe NtMI Fund These studies iiu> be

used, in pan to estimate the economic net worth of

the MMI Fund The results of the most recent

study indicate that the MM] Fund has an economjc

value of approumalely S4.5S4 million and a capital

ratio of I 44?t as of September 30. 1993. The

MMI Fund's economic net worth differs from the

Fund's equity determined in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP)
because GAAP-determined equity is not based oa

the net present value of future cash flows.

Capital has not yet been appropriated to cover all

cumulative losses for the GI and SRI Funds

determined in accordance with GAAP even though
the National Housing Act and the Federal Credit

Reform Act authorize appropriations to finance these

losses. As discussed in Note 10, credit reform-

related appropriations will become available to

finance these losses lo the extent financing from

other sources is insufficieot to do so.

For loans insured on or after October 1, 1991. up-
front appropriations are required to finance credit

subsidy cosu. This requiretneot has had a

significant effect en FHA. particularly the CI Fund,

and to a lesser degree the SRJ Fund

Appropriations to finance stibsidy costs in Ihe

CI/SRl Funds were SI 24 million and S86 million in

fiscal year 1993 and fiscal year 1992. respectively.

FHA's MM] Fund has not required a subsidy

appropriation for insurance endorsed post October I .

1991 because premiums charged for these books of

business are estimated lo exceed associated costs

The FHA MM! Fund also must achieve a sututon.

capital ratio that, in effect, requires capiul reserses

as a cushion against future defaults.

For loans insured prior to October I. 1991, the

effective date of Credit Reform, pennanem
indefinite appropriations are available to finance

costs associated with such loans to the extent

premiums, recoveries and financing are insufficient

to do so. Appropriations for pre-Credit Reform

loans amounted to S500 million is 1993 and S 1 ,207

million in 1992.

At the end of fiscal year 1993, FHA reduced iu

credit appropriation balance by S34 million as a

result of its annual budget re-cstimalioo process.

Such re-estimates are required by Credit Reform to

update and adjust for new information as the loan

matures.

FHA also receives appropriations to fiaaoce credit-

related admiaistrative expenses. These

appropriations cover expenses for ail loans

regardkas of the year in which the credits were

origiBaiad (i.e., both pre- and post-Credit Reform

s) Theae annual appropriations are separate
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frotn subsidy appropriatiou. and are not detennined

on a present value basis.

For the GI/SR] Funds, appropriations for

administrative costs were S187 million and S189

million in 1993 and 1992. ictpeetively. For the

MMl Fund, administrative costs of S2S6 million in

both 1993 and 1992 were covered by premiums
received by the program.

Through September 30, 1993, appropriations

received for the cost of both pre- and post-Credit

Reform insured loans have been accounted for in

accordance with Gcoerally Accepted Accounting

Principles (GAAP). Under GAAP, appropriated

capital icoetved pumiaat to Cndit Rcfem is the

balance available lo fiind ftmtre «^pmt^
However, the accounting treatment for loans insured

oe or after October I. 1991. my change in fiscal

year 1994 pursuant to an accounting standard

published by the Office of Management and Budget
after racomacodatioo by the Fadctal Accounting
Standards Advisory Board, and approval by 0MB.
Traasury. and the Ceaoa] Aecounting Office. The
effect this change loay have on FHA's financial

aiemeats has yet to be determined.

Note II. Insurance in Force/Off Balance Sheet Risk

Insurance in force, which constitutes off balance sheet risk, is the original insured balance of all cases still in

force, less principal payments made on the mortgages to date. Insurance in force outstanding as of September
30. 1993. was as follows (dollars in millions):

Fund Single Family Multifamilv Title I Total

MMl

CMHI

CI

SRJ

285.487

23.402

3.653

363

J6.617

6.912

S.360

S 285 .487

363

65.379

10.565

Toul $ 312.542 $ 43.892 $ 3.360

Insurance in force ouisuuiding as of September 30. 1992. <*as as follows (dollars in millioos):

Fund Single Family Muliifamily Title 1

$361,794

Total

MMl

CMHI

CI

SR]

S 301.730
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FHA's MMI Fund provide* wongtge insunnce

principally for 30-year fixed rate bmne BK>rtfa|es.

By law the MMI Fund must be operated in

accordaace with 'touitd actuarial and accountinf

practice.' and thus borrowers should be charged a

preniuin that will cover de^lt lasses and

adaunistrative expenses, and provide equity. Like

all FHA activities, the MMI Fund suffers losses

when premium income is insufficient to cover

default losses and administrative costs. The

macniiude of these losses is greater when there is

either an increase in the number of mortgage
defiults or « decrease in amounts recovered from

the sale of foreclosed properties. The fact that the

MMI Fund primarily insures low downpaymeni

mortgages makes it more susceptible to losses

resulting from economic downturns. Such

downturns can both increase the number of defaults

and cause lower claim recoveries when foreclosed

properties are sold. Either situation could result in

the .MMI Fund experiencing greater losses.

The CI Fund provides tnortgage insurance for loans

involving cooperatives, condominiums, nursing

homes, hospitals, and for low and moderate income

muliifamily loans involving construction.

rehabililaiioQ and rermancing. While the CI Fund's

insurance in force is much less than that of the M.MI

Fund, its exposure to loss may be much greater.

Unlike the MVU Fund, the CI Fund has no surutorv

requirement to be sound In carrying out its

tiussioa. FHA's 01 Fund assumes levels of default

nsk not generally borne by commercial insurers or

lenders Funhermore. tbe CI Fund is susceptible lo

losses resuliLcg from weaknesses io commercial and

resideoiiaJ real estate markets at both the regional

and national levels. Aggregate premiums charged

by the CI Fund have not been sufficient to cover

default (ones and administrative eotts or to build

equity. As a ratult. tbe GI Fond is depeadeai on

appropriatioos lo sustain its operatioos.

Activity for FHA's other two Aads. SRI and

CMHI. has baca suharantially eartaiUd in raccsi

years. Most of the programs in the SRJ and CMHI
Funds have very little activity. As a reult. FHA's

exposure lo additional loaa from these two (iiads is

comparatively small.

The significaat cooecatntiaBS of FHA's MutiiCamily

insurance risk by insurance program, and the

percent that the program is to the total Multihmily
insurance in force, arc as fellows (dollars in

billiotu):

Program IIF Percent

Section 22l(dX'*) - Market Riu

Section 207 - Rcattl Hauais|

Scction 236 - laaercai S*ib«dy

Section 242 •
Hoipiial

S 16.2 36.9«

6.9 13.7%

iJ I2J1I

4.4 |0.0«

Except for the Hospital Program, the cooceotraiioo

of risk is geographically disbursed. The insurance

in force for the hospital program is located primarily

in the Northeast, with 93% of the S4.4 billion

unpaid principal balance of the insurance in force

attributed to this region. New York state constitutes

over 80% of the insurance in force for hospitals.

Tbe highest geographic concentration of risk for the

other multifamily programs is in New York (12%)

and California (10%) -- no other stale or region

comprises more than S% of the unpaid principal

balance.
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Note 12. Commitments and ContinKeneics

Section 22l(t)(4) Prognm Contingent Liability

Prior to the pasuge of the Nttiooal Affordable

Housing Act (the Act), tingle bmily and

multihmily mortgages insured under Section 221 of

the National Housing Act that were neither

delinquent nor in default could have bees assigned

to FHA pursuant to Section 22l(gK4) by leaders in

exchange for FHA debentures bearing current

interest rates. Eligible mortgagees could elect to

assign their current mortgages to FHA during the

year following the 20th annjversaiy after final

cadoraemeni of the mortgage. The aasignment of

these mortgages resulted in an additional cost to

FHA to the extent that Treasury-established

debenture rales exceeded the mortgage interest rales.

However, under the National Affordable Housing
Act. FHA must now arrange for the sale of the

benencial interest in the muliifamily mortgage in

lieu of accepting assignment after the 20lh

anniversary. The sales price to be paid to the lender

must be at par (in effect, the outstanding principal

balance at the lime of the sale under the original

mortgage terms) plus accrued interest. To ensure a

par value price is realized, the Act authorizes FHA
to mal^e subsidy payments Subsidy payments to be

made from the CI Fund will result when market

interest rates exceed the interest rate on the affected

mortgages While FHA's Gl Fund may still be»r

additional costs to the extent market interest rates

exceed the interest rates on the mortgages, Ihe Act's

provisions will curtail Ihe number of muliifamily

mongages that will be assigned lo FHA. In effect,

ihjs will reduce some of FHA's future administrative

burden since F^A will nol have lo service loans that

otherwise would have been assigned lo it.

Provisions for single family mortgages insured

pursuant to Section 221 remain unchanged.

The Act provides for continued auctions of the

221(g)(4) muliifamily mortgages through 1993.

MaoagemeDi has estimated that, depending on future

interest rates, approximately 800 mortgages with an

unpaid principal balance of S940 million could elect

assigmnent through 1995. The present value of

future subsidy paymenu to be made by FHA could

be S80 million depending on the number of

mortgages assigned and the future interest rates. In

addition, while the Act only provides for the sale of

mongages assigned through 199S, additional

muliifamily mortgages could be eligible for sale if

Congress extends the requirement for the tale of

22i(gX4)mottfages beyond 1995. Management has

cMimited that up to 3JOO mongages with an uaf«id

pcineip*] balance of S7,800 Billion could be

aasigned after 199S, depending on future uueresi

ntcs. The present value of future subsidy payments
on Ibeae Bortgages could approximaic S420 million.

Tbe catiaatm above arc dependent upon predictions

of ftuiTC iaierett ntes. Tbe difRculiy of pradicting
fuairc interest rates creates a potential for large

Goetiagest liability tor wbaequeai subsidy payments,
if aay, nwitiag from tbe Saebea 22l(gK4)

assignment tale program has not yet been recorded

in tbe Consolidated Statement of RnaiKial Position.

Lawsuits and Other

FHA is party in various legal actions and claims

brought by or against it. In tbe opinion of

management and general counsel, the ultimate

resolution of these legal actions and claims will nol

materially affeci FHA's financial position or results

of operationi as of and for the fiscal year ended

September 30. 1993
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Note 13. Reconciliation of BudgeUry Rcsourtcs and Actual Expenses

The followiog schedule reconciles totil expeases is the eoosolidaied statemeat of operatioos to accrued

cxpeadiiures as reported under budgeury requirements to the U.S. Treasury at SeptembeT 30 (dollars ia millioos):

^TOffTSfTt pitfTW
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